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Company Profile 2 B &7

A property developer providing mid-high end products
in southern China, Shenzhen Investment Limited is
43.09%-owned by Shenzhen's city government. It has been
listed in Hong Kong as a red chip (604.HK) since 1997.

Our land reserves are about 11.12 million square meters
(GFA), of which 2.05 million square meters are under
construction. We also hold approximately 600,000 square
meters (GFA) of investment properties at prime locations
in Shenzhen. In addition to providing stable rental income,
these investment properties also have potential for
redevelopment.
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Shareholding Structure
BRRERE

REER)BRAF RHEMEREERABRAL
Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited Strategic Investors and the Public

EIYNZER AR Q]
Shenzhen Investment Limited
B2 141X 5% Stock Code: 604

43.09% 56.91%

BRYEEERAR
Road King Infrastructure Limited
13 185% Stock Code: 1098

HEEERBEERAT
Coastal Greenland Limited
BR31%%% Stock Code: 1124

B EHEAT

Principal Subsidiaries

TEBENT

Principal Associates
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Financial Highlights
MEBRE

Results

Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Share of profits and losses of associates
Profit before tax

Profit for the year attributable to
shareholders

Basic earnings per share (HK cents)

Dividend per share (HK cents)

Financial Position

Net assets after non-controlling interests
Cash and deposits

Net borrowings

Net assets per share after
non-controlling interests (HK$)

Major Ratios
Gross profit margin (%)

Net debts to net assets after
non-controlling interests (%)
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2010
HK$ million
BE#AR

6,584.60
4,158.77
2,425.83

392.52

2,460.91

1,324.78
37.47

14.00

13,474.90
6,245.46

6,543.55

3.81

36.84

48.56

2009
HK$ million
BEBT

5,386.94
3,590.46
1,796.48

348.11

1,685.61

987.66
29.59

12.00

12,390.01
6,434.24

4,532.46

3.51

33.35

36.58

Change in
Percentage

29I

22%
16%
35%
13%

46%

34%
27 %

17%

9%
-3%

44%

9%

10%

33%



Turnover

Property development
Property investment
Property management
Manufacturing
Transportation services
Others

Total

Segment Results

Property development
Property investment (Note)
Property management
Manufacturing
Transportation services
Others

Total

Note:  Segment results after increase in fair value of investment properties of
approximately HK$595.37 million (2009: HK$213.8 million).

EE

MERR
MEKRE
MEEE
B
B R
HAit

i

DEEE

LE
MERE (Hia)
MEER

Bl

B R

HAth

M

Analysis of Turnover and Profit

2010
HK$ million
BEAT

4,660.71
390.85
732.28
280.54
238.91
281.31

6,584.60

1,196.74
1,044.25

(7.25)
10.55
35.16
115.42

2,394.87

EXRBLaND M

2009
HK$ million
BEBTL

3,684.22
365.83
629.27
230.58
231.46
245.58

5,386.94

980.53
532.95
(12.20)
14.98
38.99
179.19

1,734.44
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Chairman’s Statement
FERS

In 2010, despite experiencing a series of macroeconomic measures

in real estate industry launched by the central government, the Group
was able to stand on its steady operating principles with clear business
development objectives, actively reserved our prime resources, focused
on improving professional skills, deepened its internal management
reform and succeeded in achieving fabulous results.

—§r§

%%—fm%1&“
IR BEREN

Operating results maintained a stable growth

During the year, the Group maintained its active property
sales and business expansion strategies with operating results
maintaining a stable growth, and had obtained a batch of prime
land resources. A regional layout with Shenzhen and Pearl River
Delta as its centre and extension to the Yangtze River Delta and
Central China was initially established.

Continue to maintain sufficient cash flow

During the year, the Group developed various channels in
financing and by leveraging on the strengths of capital financing
in Hong Kong, we continued to obtain banking facilities at
low costs. At the same time, both property sales and rentals
from investment properties had provided stable cash flow to
the Group, assuring a stable and on-going development for the
Group.
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Continue to deepen internal management

The Group further defined its development strategy for its
property segment, repositioned its real estate development
regions and industry development trend, integrated its internal
advantageous resources, optimized its model in organization
management and control, regulated the flow of its various
business operations and consummated the assessment and
incentive mechanism, in order to lay a solid foundation for the
future rapid development of Group.

Prospects and outlook

In 2011, while maintaining its active and steady sales strategy,
the Group will also consistently adopt its development strategy
for its property segment, appropriately acquire prime land,
enhance and accelerate the development and construction,
continue to strengthen the internal management and control,
speed up the establishment of market-oriented human resource
management mechanism, improve management execution
capabilities and continue to strengthen the corporate core
competitiveness.
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In future, under the strong support of the major shareholder,
the Group will stand on its steady operating principles, firmly
maintain its foothold in Shenzhen, intensify its development
in the Pearl River Delta and establish its development strategy
in other main regions, increase the prime land resources in
Shenzhen’s core districts, increase the scale and pace in property
development, enhance the commercial property projects in
product portfolio, and improve its profitability and operation
capabilities, strive to become the leading regional property
developer.

The Group is confident to achieve satisfactory results for its
shareholders in 2011, achieve its continuous and stable growth
in the coming years and create steady and flourishing returns to
its shareholders.

Acknowledgement

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all shareholders, stakeholders and organizations for
their full support and trust on Shenzhen Investment during the
past year.

GUO Limin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2011
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE DN

Business Review

In 2010, the PRC real estate market was regulated with austerity
measures by the government. Facing the complicated market
environment, the Group focused its efforts in accelerating
property sales, optimizing its inventory assets and strengthening
internal control, thereby being able to maintain a sound
development momentum.

During the year, the Group achieved a turnover of HK$6,584.6
million, representing an increase of 22% over the same period of
last year. Gross profit margin was 37%, representing an increase
of 3.5 percentage points over the same period of last year. Net
profit attributable to shareholders was HK$1,324.8 million,
representing an increase of 34% over the same period of last
year. Basic earnings per share was HK37.47 cents, representing
an increase of 27% over the same period of last year.

Property development

During the year, the Group recorded 471,000 square meters in
property sales (excluding the interests attributable to the Group
in its three principal associated companies) and achieved a net
revenue in property sales of HK$4,660.7 million (net of business
tax), representing an increase of 25% and 27% respectively over
the same period of last year. Sales income was mainly derived
from selling the entire Times Industrial Park project, Purple Kylin
Hill, Red Pine Mansion, New Coast Phase Ill, Wanlin Lake,
Nanhu Rose Bay, Royal Spring Villas, Shum Yip City and other
projects.

Annual contracted sales income for the Group amounted to
approximately RMB4.3 billion (approximately HK$5.1 billion).
By the end of 2010, the amount of sales income contracted but
not booked was approximately RMB1.5 billion (approximately
HK$1.8 billion).
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LR

FR AEBAEYEHEME47.18
FRKR(TREAERE-REEHE
NAEIFTIERER)  BERMEHESFHRA
4,660.7A8ETT (BEHIREERKE) -
DRI EF R H ERR25%F27% © §4
ERAFTEREERBTENRFRAIZE
B AREEL AR -HEgE=8
BN mRERE BRI RE
WEEE -

AEBEE2FHNERHEERAL43MET
AR (WRSEABT) - BILE—F—
TEE DEHNERARNEGRHEES
BORBIERARE (HR18EET) -

SHENZHEN INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010

15



16

Property under construction and land reserves

As of 31 December 2010, the Group had 21 property projects
under construction, with a total gross floor area of approximately
2.05 million square meters. These projects were progressing
smoothly.

During the year, the Group purchased certain parcels of land in
Guangzhou, Changzhou, Chengdu and Huizhou respectively. The
total site area of newly added parcels of land was approximately
443,000 square meters, planned gross floor area of 1,280,000
square meters, land acquisition costs of approximately RMB3.17
billion and average floor area land premium of approximately
RMB2,500 per square meter.

As of the end of December 2010, the Group had a total gross
land reserve of 11.12 million square meters (in gross floor area)
with attributable gross floor area of 10.24 million square meters
(excluding the interests attributable to the Group in its three
principal associated companies). Our current land reserves are
sufficient to meet the development needs in the next five to six
years.

Disposal of project

In April 2010, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement through its wholly-owned subsidiary to dispose of
the 100% equity interest of Huizhou Zhongkai Venture Plaza
Development Company Limited (EMNMIEBIXESERERA
7)) (“Zhongkai Plaza Company”) to an independent third party at
a consideration of RMB198 million. “Zhongkai Plaza Company”
primarily holds a parcel of land in Huizhou, Guangdong
Province for commercial development purposes with a land area
of 40,000 square meters. The gain before tax of approximately
HK$107 million of such disposal had already been accounted for
as profit for the year.
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Table of land reserves by location (including projects in progress)

EHEs Bzt ER (SERER)

Percentage of

Gross Attributable Attributable
Province City floor area floor area floor area
EEER
a5 W MEEER EEEEEE bt E
sqm F 5K sqm F 77K
Guangdong [E® Shenzhen &I 1,408,684 1,323,163 12.93%
Huizhou 2/ 1,494,895 1,494,895 14.60%
Foshan {3 LI 1,743,938 1,743,938 17.04%
Dongguan & 52 248,429 248,429 2.43%
Heyuan JiJ& 1,064,856 1,064,856 10.40%
Guangzhou &M 264,653 264,653 2.59%
Hubei 83k Wuhan B Z 430,627 226,079 2.21%
Hunan J# & Changsha &% 1,103,643 998,817 9.76%
Anhui Z# Maanshan 55 %11 1,210,000 1,210,000 11.81%
Chaohu & # 136,300 109,040 1.07%
Jiangsu T &k Jiangyan Z=1& 735,928 735,928 7.19%
Changzhou & /! 129,432 129,432 1.26%
Sichuan F3)I| Chengdu FX #P 971,700 514,405 5.03%
Xinjiang ¥ 58 Kashi #& 172,000 172,000 1.68%
Total &5 11,115,085 10,235,635 100.00%
Land Reserve t ith s
Land reserves sorted by Provinces Land reserves sorted by Usage
REG D B2 LS RAZRD Bz L HREE

B 92.05% Residential &
Commercial

FEREE
[ 6.00% Logistics ¥
B 163% Industrial T3
0.32% Hotel JBJE

B 59.99% Guangdong &5
I 2.219% Hubei #t
B 9.76% Hunan 31/
12.88% Anhui 2%
B 8.45% Jiangsu ST#
. 5.03% Sichuan £9)I|
1.68% Xinjiang #7158
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Management Discussion and Analysis & &5 & 2 47

Property investment

During the year, the Group’s investment property continued
to maintain a steady growth. The total area of our investment
properties was approximately 600,000 square meters, with an
achieved rental income of HK$390.8 million, representing an
increase of 7% over the same period of last year. During the year,
the Group recorded a revaluation gain of HK$595.4 million in its
investment property portfolio and had already been accounted
for as profit for the year.

Performance by associated companies

During the year, results performance of the Group’s investments
in associated companies was within our expectation. Of
which, Shenzhen Tianan Cyberpark Co., Ltd. made a net profit
contribution of HK$233.7 million to the Group, representing an
increase of 54% over the same period of last year. Road King
Infrastructure Limited, a listed company in Hong Kong, made
a net profit contribution of HK$170.4 million to the Group,
representing a decrease of 15% over the same period of last year.
Coastal Greenland Limited, another listed company in Hong
Kong, made a loss of HK$69.7 million to the Group, represent
a decrease of 19% over the same period of last year. The Group
had made an impairment provision of HK$307 million for
the investment in Coastal Greenland in accordance with the
accounting standards.
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Business Outlook

Since 2010, the PRC real estate market has experienced
an unprecedented stringent control. The government has
continuously issued a series of policies in purchase restriction,
tightening credit and pilot property tax, etc. At the same time, the
government has enhanced the construction of subsidized housing
with the objectives of dampening investment speculative demand
and increasing housing supply to curb the rising property
prices. In 2011, the international economic environment is
expected to resume its growth, and the PRC’s macro economy is
facing such uncertainties like inflation and economic structure
adjustment while keeping a stable growth. We believe that
the government is definitely clear about its determination and
direction of controlling the real estate market. At the beginning
of the new year, the government has promulgated the“Eight New
Measures of the State Council”(¥1B /\1&) , further expanded
the implementation scope of purchase restriction on the basis
of reiterating various previous policies, and placed emphasis on
the accountability system of local governments. In addition, to
impede inflation, the monetary policy shifted from a moderately
loose monetary policy to a prudent approach with interest rates
begin to rise in PRC to tighten up the liquidity. Hence, the real
estate industry situation is not promising.

As a first-tier city with the highest market-oriented real estate
market in the PRC, Shenzhen is definitely exposed to the
controlling effects. With severe shrinkage in transaction volume
in 2010, the annual transaction volume of newly constructed
housing was only 3.13 million square meters, much lower than
the 5-6 million square meters size in a normal year, and the
property prices remains at high level. Looking forward to 2011,
Shenzhen is still facing a stringent policy environment. However,
as Shenzhen still has strong underlying demand and affordability
without obvious growth in housing supply, we expect the
transaction volume in Shenzhen during the year will experience
a slight recovery and prices may fluctuate at high level.

Facing with difficult market environment, the Company will
adopt the flexible pricing strategies, continue to enhance
property projects sales. The major projects under sale during the
year comprising of Shenzhen Purple Kylin Hill, Shenzhen Noble
Times ORYIER EH ), Foshan Yundonghai, Wuhan Nanhu
Rose Bay, Huizhou Garden Hill, Dongguan Euro-view Garden
and Jiangsu Taizhou Splendid City. From January to February, the
Group completed the contracted sales of 86,306 square meters
with realized sales amount of RMB605 million. We are confident
to achieve the annual sales target of RMB4.7 billion.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & & 51 i & 247

The Group will focus on the acceleration of property
development and improvement in turnover during the year. The
Group’s newly planned construction area in 2011 will reach 2.4
million square meters, almost double than that of last year, and
exceeding the scale of the current projects under construction.
The increase in development volume will lay a solid foundation
for the growth after 2012.

The Group will still focus our land reserve strategies in Shenzhen
this year and will acquire land in Shenzhen through various
methods like acquisition, application of urban upgrading
projects, tender invitation, auction and listing, and co-operation
with major shareholders. We will perform under the prudent
principles to moderately acquire quality projects under the
conditions of securing sufficient cash flow and prices are
appropriate.

Shum Yip Group Limited, our parent company, owns
considerable quality land and properties in Shenzhen city center
districts. As the Group is the real estate flagship company under
Shum Yip Group Limited, therefore, the direction of selecting
suitable opportunities and methods to gradually integrate the
land and properties held by Shum Yip Group Limited into the
Group will remain unchanged. We will continue strengthening
the relationship with our parent company and pro-actively
prepare ourselves for this integration.

The Group will keep on maintaining a healthy financial
position and fund security, actively optimizing inefficient assets,
continuously optimizing internal management procedures,
improving the examination and incentive mechanism, promoting
product quality and brand image, thereby endeavoring to offer
the best return for our shareholders.
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Financial position

As of 31 December 2010, the Group’s cash balance was
HK$6,245.5 million (31 December 2009: HK$6,434.2 million),
of which approximately 82% and 18% was denominated
in Renminbi and other currencies (mainly in US$ and HK$)
respectively. While Renminbi is not a freely convertible currency,
however, under the Foreign Exchange Control Regulations of
the PRC and the Regulations on the Administration of Foreign
Exchange Settlement, Sale and Payment of the PRC, the Group
had been authorized to convert Renminbi into other currencies
via authorized banks that can conduct foreign exchange
businesses.

On 28 September 2010, the Group successfully entered into
a 4-year term commercial bank loan of US$400,000,000 with
eight financial institutions (including Bank of China (Hong Kong)
Limited) at preferential interest rate lower than market average
level.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group's total bank loans amounted
to HK$12,789.0 million (31 December 2009: HK$10,966.7
million), of which HK$11,398.6 million were floating-rate loans
(31 December 2009: HK$9,735.7 million), and the rest were
fixed-rate loans. Of all the loans, long-term loans amounted to
HK$3,173.5 million (31 December 2009: HK$7,704.4 million)
and short-term loans were HK$9,615.5 million (31 December
2009: HK$3,262.3 million).

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had net assets (after
non-controlling interests) of HK$13,474.9 million and the ratio of
net debts to net assets (after non-controlling interests) was 48.6%
(31 December 2009: 36.6%).

As the Group’s main operating cash flow is in Renminbi, while
its assets and debts committed are mainly stated in Renminbi
and US Dollar respectively. In the short run, exchange rate
movements will have positive financial impact to the Group.
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Capital structure

As at 31 December 2010, Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited,
the parent company of the Group is interested in approximately
43.09% of the Group, and is the largest shareholder of the
Group.

On 28 June, a total of 93,862,000 share options were granted
by the Group to the executive directors, senior management and
employees of the Group at an exercise price of HK$2.39 per
share.

On 19 November, 4,016,000 share options were also granted by
the Group to a senior management of the Group at an exercise
price of HK$2.814 per share.

During the year, a total of 8,733,000 share options granted were
exercised. Also during the year, the Group did not repurchase
any share of the Group.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had 3,536,568,090 shares
in issue (31 December 2009: 3,527,835,090 shares).

Staff headcount and remuneration

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had a total staff number
of 17,802, of which 33 were stationed in Hong Kong (mainly
managerial and finance-related personnel), and the rest were in
China.

The Group’s staff remuneration is based on individual
performance, professional qualifications, industry experience and
relevant market trends. The management of the Group reviews
regularly its compensation policies as well as the performance of
its employees.

Employee benefits include salaries, allowances, medical
insurance and mandatory retirement contributions. We also issue
bonuses and grant share options, under the share option scheme
of the Group, to employees based on individual performance and
the results of the Group.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERSRITHRAE

Executive Directors #1TEE

GUO Limin
BIR

FIERERAT 2010FFR

Mr. GUO Limin, aged 48, is Chairman of the Board of Directors of Shum Yip
Group Limited, Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited and Shenzhen Investment
Limited. He holds a master’s degree in International Business from Hunan
University of China and a bachelor’s degree in Chemical Engineering from Beijing
Institute of Chemical Industry. Prior to joining Shum Yip in August 2009 and being
appointed Chairman of the Board of Shenzhen Investment Limited on 9 September
2009, he was chief of State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of Shenzhen Municipality, chairman of Shenzhen Airport (Group)
Company, deputy director of Development Planning Commission of Shenzhen
Municipality, secretary of administration office of Shenzhen Municipal People’s
Government, secretary of administration office of Ministry of Chemical Industry
of P.R.C. At present, he is a non-executive director of Ping An Insurance (Group)
Company of China, Ltd., Road King Infrastructure Limited and Coastal Greenland
Limited, all being listed public companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Guo has over twenty
years of experience in administrative management.
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XU Ruxin
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MOU Yong
&3

Directors and Senior Management EERSRITHAES

Mr. XU Ruxin, aged 57, is President of Shum Yip Group Limited, Shum Yip
Holdings Company Limited and Shenzhen Investment Limited. He is also
a director of various members of the group. He holds a master’s degree in
Economics from Guangdong Academy of Social Sciences. Presently, he is a Senior
Engineer. Mr. Xu joined Shum Yip in April 1999 and held positions as chairman
and general manager of Shum Yip Pengji Holdings Company Limited, deputy
general manager of Shenzhen No.2 Architecture Engineering Company Limited
ORI Z@EETFE A A]) . At present, he is a non-executive director of Road
King Infrastructure Limited and Coastal Greenland Limited, both being listed
public companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Xu has over twenty years of experience in
architectural technology, property development as well as corporate management.

wrLEE Attm REEBARAR RE (FE)ARARLRIZERER
NERE - BRNRAREEBZFZNERFRZEFT REFEREAL SN BRLER
B2 - RASRIREM —AANFHAMAREEE -EEREEE (£E)
BRAFREFER AKE FNME_REIRARBLE-RE FAFEL
TARAAEYEEZARABALABHREREERARZIFRTES - REEE
BRiT-BHERE CXERSTEAR _TF2&R-

Mr. MOU Yong, aged 48, is a director of Shum Yip Group Limited and Shum Yip
Holdings Company Limited, he is an executive director of Shenzhen Investment
Limited. He is also a director of various members of the group. He obtained a
bachelor’s degree in Chinese Language and Literature from Shanxi University
of Technology. Presently, he is a lawyer of People’s Republic of China and
Arbitrator of Shenzhen Arbitration Commission. He joined Shum Yip in November
2009. Prior to this, he held positions in State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of Shenzhen Municipality as chief of Management
Office of Enterprise Leaders and chief of General Office. Mr. Mou has extensive
experience in corporate governance and administrative management.
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Executive Directors #1TEE

LIU Chong

EES

FIERERAT 2010FFR

Mr. LIU Chong, aged 51, is currently the Vice President of Shum Yip Group
Limited, Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited and Shenzhen Investment Limited,
and an executive director of Shenzhen Investment Limited. He holds a bachelor’s
degree and postgraduate qualification from Jiangxi Institute of Finance and
Economics, majoring in Accounting. Presently, he is a Senior Accountant. Prior
to joining Shum Yip in April 2010, He served successively as deputy general
manager and financial controller of Shenzhen SDG Company Limited (&Il 71 %
HEBEABMPRAA), director and financial controller of Shenzhen Petrochemical
(Holdings) Co., Ltd., director and financial controller of Shenzhen Health
Mineral Water Co., Ltd., director of Shenzhen Tellus Holdings Company Limited,
independent director of Shenzhen Shenxin Taifeng Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Liu owns
28 years of experience in finance and administrative management.
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Non-Executive Directors F#HITESE

WU Jiesi
RER

Dr. WU Jiesi, aged 59, is a non-executive director of Shenzhen Investment
Limited. Mr. Wu holds a doctorate degree in Economics. He conducted post-
doctorate research work in theoretical economics at the Nankai University in
the PRC and was conferred a professorship qualification by Nankai University in
2007. Mr. Wu served in various capacities with the Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China from 1984 to 1995 and was the president of the Shenzhen Branch.
Later, he was appointed deputy mayor of the Shenzhen Municipal Government
from 1995 to 1998. And from 1998 to 2000, he was appointed assistant to the
Governor of Guangdong Province. Mr. Wu had been the chairman and honorary
president of Guangdong Investment Limited, a director and honorary president of
Guangdong Tannery Limited and an executive director of Hopson Development
Holdings Limited, all being listed public company in Hong Kong. He was also an
independent non-executive director of a listed public company on New York Stock
Exchange, namely Yingli Green Energy Holding Company Limited. At present, Mr.
Wu is a non-executive director and deputy chairman of a listed public company
in Hong Kong, namely China Aoyuan Property Group Limited; He is also an
independent non-executive director of China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company
Limited, Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited and China Merchants Bank Company
Limited, and a non-executive director of China Water Affairs Group Limited and
Silver Base Group Holdings Limited, all of which are listed public companies in
Hong Kong. Mr. Wu has rich experience in finance and corporate management.
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Non-Executive Directors EH{TEE

LIU Biao
2=

Mr. LIU Biao, aged 37, is a director and Financial Controller of Shum Yip Group
Limited, Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited, he is also a non-executive director
of Shenzhen Investment Limited. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in International
Accounting from Xiamen University and a master’s degree in Business
Administration (MBA) from Tongji University in Shanghai. Presently, he is a Senior
Accountant and Certified Public Accountant of People’s Republic of China.
He joined Shum Yip in April 2008 and was appointed as director and financial
controller. Prior to this appointment, he held positions in Shenzhen Cereals Group
Company Limited as director and financial controller, Shenzhen Fiyta Holdings
Limited as manager of Finance Department and Audit Department. Mr. Liu has
more than 10-year working experience in corporate financial management,
finance and audit.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors B Y F# {TEE

WONG Po Yan
BERM

FIERERAT 2010FFR

Mr. WONG Po Yan, G.B.M, C.B.E., J.P., aged 88, was appointed as independent
non-executive director on 16 December 1996. Mr. Wong holds an honorary
doctorate degree in Business Administration from the City University of Hong
Kong and an honorary doctorate degree in Social Science from Hong Kong
Baptist University. He is the founder of United Oversea Enterprises, Ltd, the
honorary president of Chinese Manufacturers Association of Hong Kong. Mr.
Wong is formerly the vice chairman of the Basic Law Committee of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region under the Standing Committee of the National
People’s Congress of the PRC, a member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council
and chairman of the Airport Authority of Hong Kong. At present, Mr. Wong is an
independent non-executive director of the following listed public companies in
Hong Kong: namely, Allied Group Limited, Fintronics Holdings Company Limited,
China Electronics Corporation Holdings Company Limited, Sinopec Kantons
Holdings Limited, Alco Holdings Limited and Mingfa Group (International)
Company Limited.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors B Ik #ITES

LI Wai Keung
FRA

WU Wai Chung
REH

Mr. LI Wai Keung, aged 54, was appointed as independent non-executive director
on 27 September 2004. Mr. Li was graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and holds a master’s degree in Business Administration from The
University of East Asia, currently known as the University of Macau. He is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has held a number of
positions in listed public companies in Hong Kong, including the subsidiaries of
Henderson Land Development Company Limited and Sino Land Company Limited.
He was a member of the Election Committee for 2007 HKSAR Chief Executive
Election. Mr. Li has been a non-executive director of Guangdong Investment
Limited, a listed public company in Hong Kong, since May 2000. He is currently
an executive director and financial controller of GDH Limited and financial
controller of Guangdong Holdings Limited ( BRZ/EZER AR AE ) . Mr. Li is also
an independent non-executive director of Hans Energy Company Limited, China
South City Holdings Limited and Hong Long Holdings Limited, all being listed
public companies in Hong Kong, a director of Shenzhen Airport (Group) Company,
a member on the Council of the Hong Kong Chinese Orchestra Limited, and vice

chairman of the Financial and Accounting Affairs Steering Committee of the Hong
Kong Chinese Enterprises Association (BEEPBECE RGN @EXEZEST) .
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Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael, aged 61, was appointed as independent non-
executive director on 9 October 2002. He was formerly the deputy chairman of
the Shanghai Stock Exchange and a Commissioner in the Strategy & Development
Committee of the China Securities Regulatory Commission. Prior to that, he was
deputy chairman, chief operating officer and executive director responsible for the
Intermediaries Division, comprising the Licensing and Intermediaries Supervision
Departments until his departure from the Securities and Futures Commission on
31 December 1997. At present, Mr. Wu is an independent non-executive director
of SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited and an executive director of Tradelink
Electronic Commerce Ltd, all being listed public companies in Hong Kong.
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Senior Management S R THA B

Mr. LIANG Kaiping, aged 52, is currently Vice President of
Shum Yip Group Limited, Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited
and Shenzhen Investment Limited. At present, he is chairman
of Shum Yip Pengji Holdings Company Limited. He graduated
from Wuhan University, holding a master’s degree in history. He
joined Shum Yip in 2000 and held position as deputy managing
director of Shenzhen Shum Yip Investment Company Ltd. and
director and deputy general manager of Shenzhen Shum Yip
Logistics Group Holdings Co., Ltd. Prior to the appointments,
he was director and president of Shenzhen Futian Investment
and Development Company, general manager of Shenzhen
Futian Real Estate Development Company Ltd. (RIITIEEE
HEFMEIZE AT, and deputy director of Office of Futian District
Committee of Shenzhen. Mr. Liang has over twenty years of
experience in corporate management.

Mr. LV Hua, aged 47, is currently Vice President of Shum Yip
Group Limited, Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited and
Shenzhen Investment Limited. He obtained a doctorate degree,
majoring in Political Economics from Institute of Economics of
Nankai University. He had served successively as chairman of
Shahe Industrial Co., Ltd, authorized representative and secretary
of the party committee of Shenzhen Shahe Industry (Group) Co.,
Ltd., general manager of Shenzhen Dinglong Co., Ltd. (&I
m&EEARZAT), deputy general manager and acting general
manager of Property Development Company (#)% T2 R
7)) of Shenzhen Properties and Resources Development (Group)
Ltd. He has extensive experience in property development and
capital market operation.
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Senior Management S R THA B

Mr. MA Xinjian, aged 58, is a graduate of Henan Xinyang Normal
University and a Senior Economist. Mr. Ma joined Shum Yip
in 1994. He is currently chairman and secretary of the Party
Committee of Shum Yip Terra Holdings Co., Ltd. Prior to this
appointment, he was secretary of the Party Committee and
deputy general manager of Shenye Pengji Holdings Company
Limited, chairman and secretary of the Party Committee of Shum
Yip Southern Land (Holdings) Co., Ltd. He also served in the
organizations, namely Hubei Provincial Military Region DPA,
Hubei Provincial Economic Commission. Mr. Ma has more than
twenty years of corporate management experience.

Mr. ZHANG Baowu, aged 55, is the President of Shum Yip
Southern Land (Holdings) Co., Ltd.. He holds a Bachelor
of Engineering Degree at Hefei University of Technology, a
senior economist and joined Shum Yip in July 1999. He once
worked as general manager of Hengli International Company
Limited, special duty supervisor of Shum Yip Holdings Company
Limited, assistant to president of the Group, general manager
of investment department, and general manager of Shum Yip
Southern Land (Holdings) Co., Ltd.. Prior to this, he once
worked in various positions like section chief level/staff member
of Development and Reform Commission of Anhui Province,
secretary of deputy division chief level of The General Office
of the People’s Government of Anhui Province, manager of
Anhui Chemical and Material Company Limited and manager of
Shenzhen Nanyou Chemical and Material Company Limited. He
has rich experience in administration management, corporate
management, real estate development and operation.

Mr. TAM Ping Lung, aged 59, is Deputy General Manger and
Secretary of the Board of Shenzhen Investment Limited. He
holds an MBA degree. Prior to joining the Company in February
1997, Mr. Tam held senior positions in various multinational
corporations and had 9 years of experience in an international
accounting firm in Hong Kong.
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Senior Management S R THA B

Mr. ZHANG Xuebin, aged 49, is currently the General Manager
of Financial Planning Department of Shenzhen Investment
Limited. He obtained a master’s degree of Management
Engineering from Huazhong University of Science and
Technology. He joined Shum Yip in 1996. He has successively
held positions as general manager of Financial Planning
Department of Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited and
Shenzhen Investment Limited, assistant to general manager and
manager of General Administration Department of Shum Yip
(Shenzhen) Industry & Trade Development Co. He has more than
17 years of experience at finance department.

Mr. ZHU Guogqiang, aged 38, is currently the general manager
of Strategic Management Department of Shenzhen Investment
Limited. Mr. Zhu obtained a master’s degree in Business
Administration (MBA) from Hong Kong University of Science &
Technology. He joined Shum Yip Group Limited and Shenzhen
Investment Limited in 2004, and held positions as general
manager of Assets Management Department and Investment
Department in Shenzhen Investment Limited. Prior to this, he
worked in Shenzhen Construction Investment Holdings. Mr.
Zhu has been familiar with the real estate market and property
development process and has maintained good communication
with investors and capital markets.
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Overview

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining the
highest standard of corporate governance. The Directors strongly
believe that good corporate governance is an essential element in
steering the development of the business of the Group.

The Board and its management understand that it is their
responsibility to establish a good corporate management
system and practice and strictly comply with the principles of
independence, accountability, responsibility and impartiality so
as to improve the operation transparency of the Company, protect
the interest of shareholders and create values for shareholders.

The following is a summary of our improvement in corporate
management in accordance with the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices:

Code on Corporate Governance Practices

Throughout the year of 2010, the Company had complied with
the code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “Listing
Rules”).

Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Structure
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Corporate Governance Report 3

Board of Directors

Responsibilities

Under the leadership of the Chairman, the Board is responsible
for formulating the overall strategy and policy of the Company,
to supervise and evaluate the business and financial performance
of the Company. Through the setting up of appropriate risk
control policies and procedures, the Board ensures the operation
of the Company is running effectively and by setting up a
comprehensive corporate governance structure, it is able to
facilitate the communication with its shareholders.

Nomination of Directors

The Board is responsible for selecting and nominating suitable
candidates eligible to join the Board of Directors of the
Company. The executive directors are responsible to review and
assess the conduct, qualifications of the candidates and whether
they possess the respective business experience applicable to the
Company. Thereafter, they will present their recommendations to
the Board for consideration and approval.

During 2010, the Board nominated and appointed Mr. LIU Chong
as executive director.

Composition

Composition of the Board

EEE4AX

Exg

BE

EXEeHEFSIENELET AR
HIE AR B ) B R SRS S ROR - BEE
AMAEARRMNEERTHERR-BF
CRBHITEEES MR RE S BRER
A BRARARET WRBTED
XERRE REEBRRZENER-

=

SRR RERRERABAENA
ARREFG WITEZTREEFRNF
MEEEFEZRE BE RERLH
BHERANARRER 2 LR R
AREHBEZTSEENMRM-

R-T-—ZTFERN EFGRENEESR
REERRTES-
A K

253
B /A

(As at 31 December 2010)
(BE—F—FF+_-_HA=+—Hi)

4 Executive Directors + 3 Independent Non-executive Directors + 2 Non-executive Directors
MAAITES + —UBUFATES + MUFRTES

After their appointments, all directors shall offer themselves
for re-election at annual general meetings. The term of each
director shall not be more than three years and shall retire once
every three years. The retiring directors can offer themselves for
reappointment and re-election. In the event of a vacancy, the
proposed candidate for the position shall be submitted to the
Board for review and approval, with the objective of appointing
persons with leadership capabilities for maintaining and
enhancing the management standards of the Company.
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Chairman and President of the Board

The Chairman and the President of the Board are two clearly
defined independent positions and are held by Mr. GUO Limin
and Mr. XU Ruxin respectively.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for leading the
Board, to formulate good corporate governance practices and
procedures together with the directors, decide the strategic plans,
business plans and investment proposals of the Company, assess
the performance of the Company and supervise the business
affairs of the management in ensuring an effective operation of
the Board.

The President of the Board shall lead the management to run the
daily operation of the Company and to formulate and implement
policies of the Company in ensuring the approved policies are
executed effectively. He is also accountable to the Board in
respect of the overall operation of the Company.

Executive Directors

The executive directors segregate their duties and are responsible
for managing different business segments of the Company, guide
the management team of the Company in accordance with the
formulated strategies and measures, execute the daily operation
of the Company effectively and responsible for ensuring
the businesses are in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations.

Non-executive Directors And Independent Non-executive
Directors

The primary functions of non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors are to provide advices
and recommendations regarding the decision and business
development of the Company based on their own professional
qualifications and experience, with the objective of assisting the
Company to enhance the management standard of its operation
and financial aspects for protecting the interest of shareholders.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules, each of the
independent non-executive directors shall issue a confirmation
letter confirming his/her independence with the Company.

All non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) shall have a fixed tenure and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company.
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Relationship among directors

There is no financial, business, family or other material/related

relationship existing among the Directors.

Board Meeting Records

The board meetings of the Company are held on a regular basis.
Four regular board meetings were held for the year ended 31

December 2010 and the attendance were as follows:

Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. GUO Limin (Chairman)
Mr. XU Ruxin (President)
Mr. MOU Yong

Mr. LIU Weijin
(Resigned on 30 December 2010)

Mr. LIU Chong
(Appointed on 30 December 2010)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Po Yan
Mr. LI Wai Keung
Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael

Non-Executive Directors

Dr. WU Jiesi (whose term is from
11 May 2009 to 10 May 2012)

Mr. LIU Biao (whose term is from
1 December 2009 to 30 November 2012)

Corporate Governance Report ¥EaHE
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Model Code

The Board adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers of the Listing Rules (hereinafter
referred to as the “Model Code”) in January 2005 as the code
of conduct of the Company regarding securities transactions by
directors. Having made specific enquiry to all the directors, all
directors confirmed that throughout the year, they had complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code regarding
directors’ securities transactions. In addition, the Board has
adopted provisions of the Model Code as written guidelines for
relevant employees (as defined in provision A.5.4 in Appendix
14) in respect of their dealings in the securities of the Company.
Such relevant employees shall abide by the provisions of the
Model Code.

The Board established two committees, namely Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee respectively, with primary
functions of monitoring the relevant matters of the Company.

Audit Committee

The Board has adopted new terms of reference for the Audit
Committee pursuant to the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
posted on the website of the Company.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors, who are all equipped with commercial and financial
skills and experiences required for understanding financial
statements. Mr. LI Wai Keung is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and other members are Mr. WONG Po Yan and Mr.
WU Wai Chung, Michael.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee include the
proposal of appointing external auditors or its replacement,
supervise the internal auditing system of the Company and
oversee the financial information of the Company and its
disclosure, examine the internal control system of the Company
and responsible for the communication functions between
internal audit and external audits.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings in 2010, and the BERZEE@R_ZT—TFHBITT2X
attendance of the members of the Audit Committee is as EH BZEZEMNH BB LN
follows:— e
Attendance
Members K& HE =
Mr. LI Wai Keung (Chairman) FREBEE (FF) 2/2
Mr. WONG Po Yan =R A 2/2
Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael REERELE 1/2
During 2010, the Audit Committee reviewed the audited RZ-ZT—TFR FZEZEFEHARQ

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009, the
internal control system of the Group for the year 2010 and the
interim report of the Company for the year 2010.

Director’s Responsibilities on Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities of supervising
the preparation of financial statements of each financial period
which shall consistently adopt suitable accounting policies and
to comply with the accounting standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and to reflect the
financial position, the results during the period and cash flow of
the Company in a true and fair manner.

The responsibility statement issued by the auditors of the
Company is set out on page 57 of the annual report.

Auditors Remuneration
The external auditor engaged by the Company is Ernst & Young.

This accounting firm shall not take up any non-auditing
assignment to ensure its independence. The disclosure regarding
the auditors’ remuneration is set out in note 6 of the annual

report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established its Remuneration Committee on
1 January 2005 with specific written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Committee include the study of all
the remuneration policies and the structure of the directors
and senior management; and to set up decent and transparent
procedures to determine the remuneration policies and to make
recommendations to the Board.

The Remuneration Committee comprised three independent non-
executive directors and chaired by Mr. WONG Po Yan, Mr. LI
Wai Keung and Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael are members of the
Committee.

No member or any of his associates is allowed to determine
their respective remuneration. The Remuneration Committee
makes recommendation to the Board regarding the general
remuneration policy and structure of all directors and senior
management. In determining the remuneration of directors and
senior management, the Remuneration Committee shall consider
factors such as time commitment and responsibilities of directors,
employment conditions of other positions within the Group and
whether the remuneration should be performance-based. The
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted on
the website of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings in 2010
with full attendance from its members. During 2010, the
Remuneration Committee reviewed the director fees of all
current non-executive directors, determined the remuneration of
all current executive directors and determined and proposed to
determine the number of share options and the terms of share
options to be granted to executive directors and non-executive
directors.
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Investors Relationship and Shareholders’ Interests

The Group treasures the communication with its shareholders
and investors. The Company meets with the investors regularly
to enhance corporate transparency. During the year, the Group
met a number of investors, held two press conferences and many
presentation seminars, telephone conferences, and participated
in investors conferences organized by institutional investors.

The Company encourages its shareholders to attend annual
general meetings. The Chairman and members of the Board shall
attend the general meetings and be available to answer questions
regarding the business of the Company.

To foster effective communications, the Company shall provide
extensive information in its annual report, interim report and
newspaper announcements and also disseminates information
relating to the Group and its business to the public in time
through its website.

Internal Control

The Board shall be overall responsible for supervising the
operations of all business units under the Group. Suitable
candidates will be appointed by the Board to join the boards of
all subsidiaries and associates operating in key business areas,
attend the board meetings and oversee the operations of those
companies. The management of each business is accountable for
the operation and performance of the business under its area of
responsibility.

The Board has conducted a review of the internal control system
of the Group, including the consideration on the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget, pursuant to the Code and it considers
that all the material aspects of internal control of the Group are
adequate and effective during the year.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

The directors present their annual report and audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
December 2010.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
and associates are set out in note 20 and note 22 to the financial
statements, respectively. There were no changes in the nature of
the Group's principal activities during the year.

Results and Dividends

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2010 and the
financial position of the Company and the Group at that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 59 to 179.

An interim dividend of HK7.00 cents (2009: HK5.00 cents) per
share was paid on 24 September 2010. The directors recommend
the payment of a final dividend of HK7.00 cents (2009: final
dividend of HK7.00 cents) per ordinary share in respect of the
year to shareholders on the register of members on 3 June 2011.

Summary of Financial Information

A summary of the published results of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interest of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited financial statements and
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 180. This summary
is not part of the audited financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Properties
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in note 14 and note 19 to the financial
statements.
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Principal Subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 20 to the financial statements.

Principal Associates

Particulars of the Company’s and the Group’s interests in its
principal associates are set out in note 22 to the financial
statements.

Bank Loans
Details of the bank loans of the Company and of the Group are
set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

Share Capital and Share Options

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year, together with the reasons thereof, are set
out in note 35 and note 36 to the financial statements.

Purchases, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Securities
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of its listed securities during the year.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 37 to the financial
statements.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2010, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
Section 79B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted
to HK$495,274,000 of which HK$247,560,000 has been
proposed as final dividend for the year.

In addition, the Company’s share premium account, in the
amount of HK$5,398,197,000 may be distributed in the form of
fully paid bonus shares.

Major Customers and Suppliers

In the year under review, both the aggregate sales attributable to
the Group's five largest customers and the aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers were less than
30% of the Group’s sales and purchases respectively.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest of the Group’s five largest
customers or five largest suppliers.
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Directors
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. GUO Limin

Mr. XU Ruxin

Mr. MOU Yong

Mr. LIU Chong (appointed on 30 December 2010)

Mr. LIU Weijin (resigned on 30 December 2010)

Non-executive directors:
Dr. WU Jiesi
Mr. LIU Biao

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. WONG Po Yan

Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael

Mr. LI Wai Keung

In accordance with Article 92 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. LIU Chong will retire at the annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 101 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. WONG Po Yan, Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael
and Mr. LIU Biao will retire by rotation at the annual general
meeting and being eligible offer themselves for re-election.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies
Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 24 to 32 of
the annual report.

Emoluments of Directors and the Five Highest Paid
Individuals

Details of the directors’ emoluments and of the five highest
paid individuals in the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
financial statements respectively.

Interest Capitalised

Interest of approximately HK$277,702,000 was capitalised
during the year in respect of the Group’s property development
projects.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No directors had a material interest in any contracts of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

Pension Schemes
Details of the pension schemes are set out in note 2.4 to the
financial statements.

Directors’ Interests in Shares

As at 31 December 2010, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies
were as follows:
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Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the ARQAIRM LABBKRG 217 :

Company:
Underlying
shares Percentage of
Nature of Number of  pursuant to Aggregate issued share
Name of director Capacity interests shares  share options interests capital
REBRE HE#T
ZHH RAEz
EEnsg 54 BEME RO#E B & B BER BA
(Note)
(i)
GUO Limin Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 500,000 6,300,000 6,800,000 0.19
BIRE EnEAA EnEn
XU Ruxin Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 1,000,000 5,986,000 6,986,000 0.20
Bz ERBAA - §at 3
MOU Yong Beneficial owner Beneficial interest - 4,016,000 4,016,000 0.1
] EaAA EnEsn
LIU Chong Beneficial owner Beneficial interest = 4,016,000 4,016,000 0.11
ElES ERBAA EnkR
WU Jiesi Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 6,600,000 3,400,000 10,000,000 0.28
RiER EnAA EnEsn
WONG Po Yan Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 3,400,000 - 3,400,000 0.10
RN ERBAA - §at Fi
LI Wai Keung Beneficial owner Beneficial interest 1,000,790 - 1,000,790 0.03
FR®E EnEAA EnEsn
Note:  The underlying shares represent interests of options granted to the  [MizE: ARG HisESRIZE R 2ER
Directors under the Share Option Scheme to acquire for shares of the ZARBARRBRMD 2 WREREE B
Company, further details of which are set out in note to the financial B — SR BRR MR [ER
statements under the heading “Share Option Scheme”. HEErE I ne
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Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
associated corporation — Road King Infrastructure Limited:

Report of the Directors EE&{E

RAAHEE Z B R ARR ) < &F
R-RYEZBRAAF:

Underlying
shares Underlying Percentage of
Number of  pursuant to Shares of Aggregate issued share
Name of director ~ Capacity shares  share options debentures interests capital
REBRE e R
2 KB B52 kA2
BEpg &t RHBA gl 4! RER 5 Y § Bl
GUO Limin Beneficial owner - 150,000 - 150,000 0.02
HBUR EREAA
XU Ruxin Beneficial owner - 150,000 - 150,000 0.02
b BB A
WONG Po Yan Beneficial owner 50,000 - - 50,000 0.01
BRI EREAA
LI Wai Keung Beneficial owner - - 200,000 200,000 0.03
FRE i

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors and chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
any shares and underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies.

Share Options

Details of the share option scheme adopted by the Company on
5 June 2002 and the 10 per cent. limit under the share option
scheme refreshed on 12 June 2006 are set out in note 36 to the
financial statements.

B EXFIIEEIN RIFARAIERE
7R EIGPIE352FFE 2 B M
H OIRBELTRARESTETERRD
BRETRASITAEARA MM
ZERAR MEARAEERRST
BA BHA AR A AT REEE
ZAEA By MR D RESF 2 s

Pk

B
AAFR-_EZ-_FXARBEMHZ
BREA S RRER T RENHA
T HEEHZBRETE 210%L
Rz FHIBHIIN B AR FE36
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The following share options were outstanding under the share

AT ARFARE BB ER SR

option scheme during the year: 1Tl 2 B A
Number of share options
BREHA
Other Date of Exercise
At Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled changes At grant of price of
1 January during during during during during 31 December share  Exercise period of share
2010 the year the year the year the year the year 2010 options share options options
R-E-%§
R-B-%% EREf = R BRE
-A-B  REARE  RERGR REREHM REREH 28 =t-A  BRERE (RERESE TR
HKS
per share
BHET
Directors
Ez
GUO Limin - 6,300,000 - - - - 6,300,000 19/7/2010  19/7/2012-18/7/2015% 239
FUR
XU Ruxin - 5,986,000 - - - - 5,986,000 19/7/2010  19/7/2012-18/7/2015% 2.39
[i3:0
MOU Yong - 4,016,000 - - - - 4,016,000 19/712010  19/7/2012-18/7/2015* 239
& B
LIU Chong (appointed - - - - - 4,016,000 4,016,000 19/7/2010  19/7/2012-18/7/2015* 2.39
on 30/12/2010) Note 1
i
8 2(R-Z-2F
TZR=THEZE)
LIU Weijin (resigned - 4,016,000 - - - - 4,016,000 19/7/2010  19/7/2012-18/7/2015** 2.39
on 30/12/2010)
HEE(R-2-2%
TZR=TRRE)
WU Jiesi 3,400,000 - - - - - 3,400,000 29/5/2006  29/5/2006-28/5/2011* 2.165
HER
3,400,000 20,318,000 - - - 4,016,000 27,734,000
Other employees
LtER
In aggregate 3,233,000 - (3,233,000) - - - - 18/5/2005  18/5/2005-17/5/2010 1.088
Ak
[SIPAY
5,500,000 - (5,500,000) - - - - 9/3/2006  9/3/2006-8/3/2011 1.330
58,580,000 - - (3,400,000)  (54,280,000) - 900,000 41712007 4/7/2007-3/7/2012 4.768
- 73,544,000 - - - (4,016,000 69,528,000 19/7/2010  19/7/2012-18/7/2015% 2.39
Note 1
il
- 4,016,000 - - - - 4,016,000 9122010~ 19/7/2012-18/7/2015** 2.814
67,313,000 77,560,000 (8,733,000) (3,400,000)  (54,280,000) (4,016,000) 74,444,000
Note 1
i3l
70,713,000 97,878,000 (8,733,000) (3,400,000)  (54,280,000) - 102,178,000
Note 1
il
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Options will be exercisable in the following manner:

Maximum proportion of option
exercisable including proportion of
option previously exercised

Report of the Directors EE®HE

¥ BB RE R IR T 55 AT (E

Exercisable Period

ATREERES S

(BERACTRBRELS) AT

1/3 1st year from the date of grant of option
BRHBREBMESE—F

2/3 2nd year from the date of grant of option
BERHBREBSBESGE-F

3/3 3rd year to 5th year from the date of grant of option

Options will be exercisable in the following manner:-

Maximum percentage of Share Option exercisable

ERHBREASREAE=ZEFRF

o R T iR T A5 AT

Period for exercise of the relevant
percentage of the Share Option

HH A L G BB B A 2
AT 652 5 IR 48 % 5 L 5 TR
40% at any time after the expiry of 2 years from the Date of Grant up to
3 years from the Date of Grant
RHASRAMEEREREZR G ARRA ZF 2 EMHHE
70% at any time after the expiry of 3 years from the Date of Grant up to
4 years from the Date of Grant
EHHESEF =FEnREZER G AR NFE 2 EmERE
100% at any time after the expiry of 4 years from the Date of Grant up to

Options will be exercisable in the following manner:-

Maximum percentage of Share Options exercisable

AT 62 5 IR 48 % 5 L

5 years from the Date of Grant

EHASEOFERREESRE AR RF 2 EMERHE

e EEIRRERTIR TR AT

Period for exercise of the relevant
percentage of the Share Options
AEBALL BIRE IR HE 2

TEEH

40%

70%

100%

at any time after the expiry of 1 year and 222 days from the Date
of Grant up to 2 years and 222 days from the Date of Grant

RHBEMEF —FRAE/MREERE A HRAMFET222A
Z AEf] 5

at any time after the expiry of 2 years and 222 days from the Date
of Grant up to 3 years and 222 days from the Date of Grant

REABMEFTMET22AEMREERE A HEF =FF2220
Z AR B ]

at any time after the expiry of 3 years and 222 days from the Date
of Grant up to 4 years and 222 days from the Date of Grant

RERHEF=FT22022REREEERE A PRFNET2220R
ZAE (A 5 ]
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Notes:

1. Mr. LIU Chong was formerly an employee of the Group and was appointed
as director of the Company on 30 December 2010.

2. During the year, 97,878,000 options were granted and 8,733,000 options
were exercised under the Share Option Scheme.

3. During the year, 3,400,000 options were lapsed and 54,280,000 options

were cancelled under the Share Option Scheme.

4. The closing share price immediately before the date (19 July 2010) on which
93,862,000 share options were granted was HK$2.36 per share.

5. The closing share price immediately before the date (9 December 2010) on
which 4,016,000 share options were granted was HK$2.72 per share.

6. The weighted average closing share price immediately before the dates on
which the share options were exercised during the year was HK$3.16 per
share (2009: HK$2.06 per share).

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors and chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
any shares and underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies.

Directors’ Right to Acquire Shares

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “DIRECTORS’
INTERESTS IN SHARES” and “SHARE OPTIONS”, at no time
during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debts securities (including debentures) of, the Company or its
associated corporations and none of the directors, or their spouse
or children under the age of 18, had any rights to subscribe
for equity or debt securities of the Company or its associated
corporations, or had exercised any such rights.

FIERERAE 2010FFR

1. BREEGRASEREREIN - —ZF
T-A=TREZERKRRFTESE-

2. RF R - AR R BB AR RT #1911 97,878,000
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o

3. RE R AR 1R BB IR 51 £03,400,00015 BB
B HE 2 25 R - T54,280,00017 B B #E 4% 5%
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Report of the Directors EE&{E

Substantial Shareholders FERR

As at 31 December 2010, the interests and short positions of RZTE—FTF+-_H=+—H KX
the shareholders, other than a director or chief executive of the (ARAFREEFHHZEITEHAERIN) D
Company in the shares and underlying shares of the Company AR A% KRR D (542 A %
representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the fTRRZAR5%sk LA &) A #E A 8 50 8RR AN
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the A RIRIEEFH & EAEKGIE3361& T LA

Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:— FEZECMzEZRARAT : —
Interest in shares of the Company: RERRBIRGD 2w -
Number of Percentage of
shares shares of
Long Short  the Company
Name Capacity Nature of interest Position Position in issue
EXRAT
ROEE ERITRHZ
% 5% BatE #E RE Bl
AEEEBRRA Interest of controlled Corporate interest  1,523,731,489 - 43.09
corporation (Note 1)
REEBEFRRA SR LN 2 NEER
(B&ET)
Shum Yip Holdings Beneficial owner Beneficial interest ~ 1,523,731,489 - 43.09
Company Limited (Note 1)
RE(RE)BERAR  ERBEBA (M) EnEsn
Alliance Bernstein L.P.  (Note 2) - 249,571,200 - 7.06
Alliance Bernstein L.P. ~ (PfiE2)

Notes: B 5 -

1. Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited is wholly-owned by R & B HR AR, 1. RE(EB)ERAFBREEERAR
RELBEAMR QA is deemed to be interested in the 1,523,731,489 shares NEIZERB - FEERBRAAER
beneficially held by Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited. RRAE(EB)ERAAIERIFEZ

1,523,731,4890x IR fn P E B 25 -

2. The 249,571,200 shares are held by AllianceBernstein L.P. in the following 2. 249,571,200/% f% £5 B3 AllianceBernstein
capacities: LPLATINF DA
Capacity No. of shares
5% ROEE
Investment manager 248,217,200
REKR
Interest of controlled corporation 1,354,000
REEE 2w
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Save as disclosed above, the register which was required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO showed that the Company
had not been notified of any interests or underlying shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2010.

Saved as disclosed above, no person, other than the directors of
the Company, whose interest are set out in the section “Directors
interest in shares” above, had registered an interest in the share
capital of the Company that were required to be recorded.

Connected Transactions
Details of the connected transactions for the year are set out in
note 42 to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions, which
need to be disclosed as, connected transactions in accordance
with the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive directors as regards to their
independence to the Company pursuant to rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and considers that each of the independent non-
executive directors is independent to the Company.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the
date of this annual report, there is sufficient public float, as not
less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares are held by the
public.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee since
September 2004 for the purposes of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group’s financial reporting process and
internal controls. The audit committee currently comprises
Mr. WONG Po Yan, Mr. WU Wai Chung, Michael and Mr. LI
Wai Keung, independent non-executive directors. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the Group's results for the year in a
meeting held on 30 March 2011.
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Continuing Disclosure Requirements Under Rule 13.21 of
The Listing Rules

Banking facilities with covenants relation to specific performance
of the controlling shareholder:

By an agreement (“1st Facility Agreement”) dated 29 September
2006 entered into between, among others, the Company as
borrower and a syndicate of lenders (“Lenders”), a transferable
term loan facility of up to USD$465 million (“1st Facility”) is
made available by the Lenders to the Company on the terms
and conditions as stated therein. The 1st Facility will be made
available to the Company within 6 months from the date of
the 1st Facility Agreement and the Company shall repay to
the Lenders in full any outstanding advances made thereunder
on the date falling 60 months from the date of the Tst Facility
Agreement. The Company intends to use the Tst Facility to first
refinance in full all outstanding loan amounts under certain
existing bank loans to the Company, and thereafter finance the
general corporate funding requirements of the Company and its
subsidiaries.

By an agreement (“2nd Facility Agreement”) dated 6 February
2008 entered into between the Company as borrower and
the Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited as lender (“BOC”") a
transferable term loan facility of up to HK$1,000 million (“2nd
Facility”) is made available by BOC to the Company on the
terms and conditions as stated therein. The 2nd Facility will be
made available to the Company within 6 months from the date
of the 2nd Facility Agreement and the Company shall repay to
BOC in full any outstanding advances made thereunder by way
of three instalments namely, (i) HK$200 million be repaid in full
on the date falling 12 months from the date of the first advance
of the 2nd Facility (“First Advance”) (“1st Repayment Date”); (ii)
HK$300 million be repaid in full on the date falling 24 months
from the First Advance (“2nd Repayment Date”); and (iii) HK$500
million be repaid in full on the date falling 36 months from
the First Advance. The Company intends to use the 2nd Facility
to finance the general corporate funding requirements of the
Company and its subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2010, HK$500
million remained outstanding.

Report of the Directors EE®{E
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By an agreement (“3rd Facility Agreement”) dated 18 March
2008 entered into between the Company as borrower and DBS
Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch as lender (“DBS”) a term loan
facility of up to HK$300 million (“3rd Facility”) is made available
by DBS to the Company on the terms and conditions as stated
therein. The 3rd Facility will be made available to the Company
within 6 months from the date of the 3rd Facility Agreement and
the Company shall repay to DBS in full any outstanding advances
made thereunder on the date falling 36 months from the date of
the first advance of the 3rd Facility. The Company intends to use
the 3rd Facility to finance the acquisition by the Company and its
subsidiaries of interests in property development projects and/or
shareholding interest in property development company(ies).

By an agreement (“4th Facility Agreement”, together with the
1st Facility Agreement, 2nd Facility Agreement and 3rd Facility
Agreement, collectively known as the “Facility Agreements”)
dated 3 April 2008 entered into between the Company as
borrower and China Construction Bank Corporation, Hong Kong
Branch as lender (“CCB”) a transferable term loan facility of up
to HK$300 million (“4th Facility”) is made available by CCB
to the Company on the terms and conditions as stated therein.
The 4th Facility shall be made available to the Company within
6 months from the date of the 4th Facility Agreement and the
Company shall repay to CCB in full any outstanding advances
made thereunder on the date falling 60 months from the date of
the 4th Facility Agreement. The Company intends to use the 4th
Facility to finance the general corporate funding requirements of
the Company and its subsidiaries.

FIERERAE 2010FFR
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By an agreement (“5th Facility Agreement”) dated 28 September
2010 entered into between, among others, the Company as
borrower and a syndicate of lenders (“Lenders”), a transferable
term loan facility of up to US$400 million (“5th Facility”) is
made available by the Lenders to the Company on the terms
and conditions as stated therein. The 5th Facility will be made
available to the Company within 6 months from the date of
the 5th Facility Agreement and the Company shall repay to
the Lenders in full any outstanding advances made thereunder
on the date falling 48 months from the date of the 5th Facility
Agreement. The Company intends to use the 5th Facility to
finance the general corporate funding requirements of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Under the Facility Agreements, it will be an event of default if
Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited (“Shum Yip Holdings”),
ceases to own beneficially at least 35% of the issued share
capital of the Company, ceases to be the single largest
shareholder of the Company, ceases to have management
control of the Borrower, or Shum Yip Holdings ceases to remain
beneficially owned as to at least 51% by the Shenzhen Municipal
People’s Government of The People’s Republic of China and in
which event all amounts due under the Facility may be declared
to be immediately due and payable.

Auditors

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

GUO Limin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2011
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To the shareholders of Shenzhen Investment Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shenzhen
Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) set out on pages 59 to 179, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2010,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Independent Auditors’ Report
B AR

BURYIE R B R D R ST R R
(RBBZMERILZBRAA)
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(F%QTJ)&ﬁW% //ﬁﬁrﬁm Eﬁﬁ%
Hx ﬁtﬁﬂ%#&ﬁ”@j‘%ﬂ_? f¢+ H + B
WiEE RARMBRARERZZA ILFENLEGS K
R FAEHNGR GEEaZBRNESHEEN
BXR ARFESHBRMEREAMITTER -

ESRGAMBRRARBNEL
ERREEARAERBEEARIDAGROENE LY
BREEAREEDAGHRULSTHEN A T
RBERNEEHHRR EEMRBOZTRHE
BARRRUGAMBRRTFERRFRBRTY
BB A R -

BB B
BESNECRREESNERYRSRANBERE
RE R BEREESAAIE O EORE B
BRBRES RIS TEOME TAMEL A
o EFRARAREOAT  HETRHEALARS

EEEERE

SHENZHEN INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010

57



58

Independent Auditors’ Report
VR s o

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
December 2010, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

18/F, Two International Finance Centre,
8 Finance Street,

Central, Hong Kong

30 March 2011
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Consolidated Income Statement

= Sz
maE W s R

Year ended 31 December 2010
HE_ZT—ZF+-_A=1T—HILHFE

2010 2009
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ff FER FHT
REVENUE W = 5 6,584,598 5,386,940
Cost of sales 5 & A AR (4,158,770) (3,590,463)
Gross profit E 2,425,828 1,796,477
Other income and gains H U A K Wz 5 336,260 245,069
Fair value gains/(losses), net: ARERE (EE)FE:
Financial assets at fair value through FRBHBANEFEZ
profit or loss EREE (954) 4,150
Financial liabilities at fair value BRBEREAARBFEZ
through profit or loss THRAE 103,019 46,832
Increase in fair value of investment
properties BEWMERREE N 19 595,372 213,773
Selling and distribution costs HE KD KK (155,677) (169,779)
Administrative expenses THRAX (661,879) (485,755)
Other expenses HimZ (367,576) (96,819)
Finance costs & B 7 (206,000) (216,449)
Share of profits and losses of associates B E & 2 B Al % 518 392,521 348,108
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BR Bt Al 2 F 6 2,460,914 1,685,607
Income tax expense AT T X 10 (884,047) (551,116)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 1,576,867 1,134,491
Attributable to: T e
Owners of the parent B RRIEEAR A 11 1,324,780 987,656
Non-controlling interests FE 2 AR 4 2 252,087 146,835
1,576,867 1,134,491
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF B AFZEREZEEA
THE PARENT B ERER 13
Basic 2R
— For profit for the year — F A A HK37.47 centsi#{ll HK29.59 centsi
Diluted g
— For profit for the year —F N HK37.34 centsi&fli HK29.52 cents 1l

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are disclosed

in note 12 to the financial statements.

BRAREERIREERRE 2515 808 15 8K

12 °
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEREWEER

Year ended 31 December 2010
HE_ZT—ZF+-_A=1T—HILHFE

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 1,576,867 1,134,491
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hp 2 mE &
Available-for-sale investment: A EHERE
Changes in fair value NAEEF (17,520) 29,031
Income tax effect i & 3,229 (9,257)
(14,291) 19,774
Gain on property revaluation Y% & s - 1,867
Share of other comprehensive income of
associates FEAG B & A B E b 2 W s 62,588 1,643
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations HMEGINETS Z (BN =50 500,438 (8,849)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX FREMZEKE  BRE#E 548,735 14,435
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR FREEWELE 2,125,602 1,148,926
Attributable to: T 51 AL -
Owners of the parent ISTNEIE7F =N 1,830,693 1,007,481
Non-controlling interests FEVE A 2 294,909 141,445
2,125,602 1,148,926
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

iR B SR R
31 December 2010
—E-TE+=-A=+—H

2010 2009
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B FHET FHBT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment LE T E 14 630,115 587,414
Intangible assets EEE 15 84,305 88,092
Prepaid land lease payments TR £ b A & FRIE 16 30,738 4,118
Goodwill (GRS 17 322,625 322,600
Investment properties "EYE 19 4,902,151 4,105,782
Investments in associates RN B 22 5,010,384 4,970,160
Held-to-maturity investment BEEIHEKEE 23 385,938 383,518
Available-for-sale investments AHEEHERE 24 34,014 46,744
Other long term assets EmEHEEE 25 156,876 1,166,319
Deferred tax assets EETIRE &= 34 332,348 262,642
Total non-current assets JEMBNE ERTE 11,889,494 11,937,389
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories EE 26 60,289 63,204
Completed properties held for sale FIEREZEBZKRKME 2,441,670 1,775,443
Properties under development BREP Y 18 12,160,436 9,404,382
Trade receivables & W AR 5K 27 199,449 532,936
Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables TERIE -« 5] & R E A0 B RIE 28 1,353,642 907,571
Financial assets at fair value through FRBERBRAANEAEZSR
profit or loss BE 29 20,564 21,510
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRESEEY 30 6,245,463 6,434,237
Total current assets MEEEBE 22,481,513 19,139,283
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Interest-bearing bank loans T EIRITE R 31 9,615,482 3,262,263
Derivative financial instruments MESHTA 65,861 168,880
Trade payables JE 15 BR 3R 32 141,725 88,250
Other payables and accruals H A & FRIE R fE St B 33 4,249,817 4,487,476
Due to the ultimate holding company JE A B A E IR X B FRIA 42(b)(ii) 41,616 102,390
Tax payable FEST IR 1,447,667 1,148,643
Total current liabilities mBBEERRE 15,562,168 9,257,902
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 6,919,345 9,881,381
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES BEERABDAMR 18,808,839 21,818,770
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME
Interest-bearing bank loans FFRIRITER 31 3,173,527 7,704,433
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFHIEBE 34 935,515 702,659
Total non-current liabilities EME B EEE 4,109,042 8,407,092
Net assets BEFE 14,699,797 13,411,678
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e ISR &

31 December 2010
—T-ZF+-A=1+—H

2010 2009
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 55 FET FHET
EQUITY =
Total equity attributable to owners
of the parent BRAREEABLESARE
Issued capital B EITIRA 35 176,828 176,392
Reserves i 37(a) 13,050,515 11,966,669
Proposed final dividend ¥R R B AR 2 12 247,560 246,948
13,474,903 12,390,009
Non-controlling interests AR R = 1,224,894 1,021,669
Total equity AR 14,699,797 13,411,678
Guo Limin Xu Ruxin
BIR EE 1N
Director Director
EF EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 December 2010
HE_ZT—ZF+-_A=1T—HILHFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRTREARL
Available-
for-sale
Share Capital Share Asset  investment Exchange Non-
Issued ~ premium  redemption option Capital ~ revaluation ~revaluation  Statutory  fluctuation  Retained  Proposed controlling Total
capital ~ account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  dividends Total  interests equity
e
BEf Rkt RaEE RER REEff RKEf EX28 FER
B& BEE i BE  ERER i BE  iRER BE  REEA  RERE 4§ B RE4E
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Hi TEn FiEn T FEn TiEn T TEn TEn TR TER TiEn FiEn T TEn
At 1 January 2009 R-ZENF-A-R 160,665 4,278,677 2,036 43,942 59,019 60,748 461 909,047 1,793,243 3,126,974 257,064 10,691,876 866,735 11,558,611
Profit for the year ERgF - - - - - - - B - 987,65 - 987656 146,835 1134491
Other comprehensive income
for the year: EREBZ ARG
Changes in fair value
of available-for-sale AfLERE, AE
investments, net of tax 25 Bk - - - - - - 19,774 - - - - 1974 - 19,774
Changes in fair value of
propety, plant and 0% HERREL
equipment MEED - - - - - 1,867 - - - - - 1,867 - 1,867
Share of other comprehensive [ & AE £
income of associates 2ENE - - - - - (1,675) - - 3318 - - 1,643 - 1,643
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign AL
operations EfZE - - - - - - - - (3,459) - - (3,459) (5,390) (8,849)
Total comprehensive income
for the year ER2ENGNE - - - - - 192 19,774 - (141) 987,656 - 1007481 141445 1148926
Establishment of subsidiaries ~ H UM EAF - - - - - - - - - - - - 83,102 83,102
Adjustment to prior year's final WA EFERHRE 2
dividend L 12 - E - - B - - B - (56 15674 B - -
BER-FTNE
Final 2008 dividend declared KRS - - - - - - - - - - Q72,738 (272,738) - (272,738)
Issue of shares Bk 35 15,000 1,101,000 - - B - - B - - - 1,116,000 - 1,116,000
Share options exercised BiTEERE 35037 727 BATT = (5333) = = = = = = = 18,671 = 18,871
Share issue expenses RirgfR% 3537 - (1826 - - - - - - - - - (1828 - (1828
Share options lapsed BRUZBRE = = = (240) = = = - - M0 - - - -
Equity-setled share option ~~ ARAZ K2
expense BIRERY 36 - - - 4919 - - - - - - - 4919 - 4919
Transfer from asubsidiary o~ E-EHELTEEZE
a jointly-controlled entity —BARZHER - - - - - - - - - - - - (56000 (55,600
Share of reserves of associates  EfREE A EE - B - 2,923 B - - - B - - 2923 = 2,923
Dividends paid to non-
controlling shareholders TRFERRELRE = = = = = = = = = = = = (14013)  (14013)
Interim 2009 dividend “RENERHRE 12 = = = = = = = = = (161,041) = (161,041) - (161,041)
Proposed final 2009 dividend ~ BE-ZEAFREHRE 12 B - - - B - - B - (246948) 246,948 - - B
Transfer from retained profits & AREEF B B - - B = - 131609 - (131,619 = = = =
R-RRNE
At 31 December 2009 ZA=t-B 176,392 5,384,872* 2,036 46,211% 59,019% 60,940 20,235% 1,040,666 1,793,102*  3,559,588* 246,948 12,390,009 1,021,669 13,411,678
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GERREEXR

Year ended 31 December 2010

HE-T-FFT-A=T—ALEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRTREARE
Available-
Acquisition for-sale
Share of non- Capital Share Asset  investment Exchange Non-
Issued ~ premium  controlling ~ redemption option Capital ~ revaluation  revaluation ~ Statutory fluctuation  Retained  Proposed controlling Total
capital account  interests reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  dividends Total  interests equity
At
BEf Rt KEEER  BARE R REEfy REER Ex28
B R B i BE  ERER #E BfE  iRER B REEN  RERR A8 FEREX  RESE
Notes  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000
Lif:3 FEL TER TEn T TER TEn TR TERL TEn FEn FEL TER TEn T TER
At 1 January 2010 R-2-25-A-R 176392 5,384,872 - 2,036 46,211 59,019 60,940 20235 1,040666 1,793,102 3,559,588 246,948 12,390,009 1,021,669 13,411,678
Proft for the year  EEF = = = = - - E - - - 134780 S 134780 252087 1,576,867
Other comprehensive
income for the year: - FAEH2ENE
Changes in fair value
of availableforsale  ARHEREL
investments, netof tax AR EZE RE% - - - - - - - 14290 - - - - (1429 - (49
Share of other
comprehensive  EHEELTEL
income of associates Nz - - - - - - (1,768) - - b4 - - 658 - 6588
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign BEBIEH 2
operations BXER - - - - - - - - - #7616 - - 457616 282 500438
Total comprehensive
income for the year  FRZEREEE - - - - - - (1,768 (14291) - RN 1324780 -~ 1830693 294909 2,125,602
Adjustment to prior  WEFERHREZ
year's final dividend % 12 - - - - - - - - - - (612) 612 - - -
Final 2009 BER=-%1
dividend declared FHR - - - - - - - - - - - (247,560)  (247,560) - (247,560)
Acquisition of non-
controlling interests  SEFEHER = - (78,831) = = = = = = = = - (78,831) (35300 (282,361)
Share options exercised B/7{EE 1B 3537 436 13,335 - - (2,939) - - - - - - - 10,832 - 10,832
Share issue expenses  [RIETTFR 3537 - (10) - - - - - - - - - - (10) - (10)
Share options lapsed B %2 BlE = = = = (38,125) = = = = = 38,125 = = = =
Equity-settled share
option expense WRER Tz BRERS 36 - - B - 10,661 - - - - B - - 10,661 = 10,661
Share of reserves of
associates - - - - 6,669 - - - - - - - 6,669 - 6,669
Interim 2010 dividend 12 = = = = = = = = = = (247,560) = (247,560) = (247,560)
Proposed final 2010
dividend RE-T-TERERE 12 - - - - - - - - - - (475600 247,560 - - -
Dividends paid to
non-controlling
shareholders SREERREZRE > = = = = = = = = = = = = (88,154) (88,154)
Transfer from retained
profts ERERDEH - - - - - - - - 129383 - (129383) - - - -
RoF-%%
At31 December 2010 ~ TZA=F-H 176,828 5,398,197  (278,831)* 2,036* 0A477* 59,019 59,172% 5944 1,170,049 2,315,074 4297378% 247,560 13474903 1224894 14,699,797
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * EBEEABRGEAVBERIXRP 26 EE

HK$13,050,515,000 (2009: HK$11,966,669,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mERERER

Year ended 31 December 2010

HE_Z—ZTF+_A=+—HLEFE

2010 2009
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
iiks3 TET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES REREXBECRERE
Profit before tax: B Bt A1 g A - 2,460,914 1,685,607
Adjustments for: BT R I
Finance costs & Pk A 7 206,000 216,449
Interest income LB U A (161,176) (119,342)
Depreciation e 6 80,584 76,569
Increase in fair value of investment
properties BEWEZ R AREEN 19 (595,372) (213,773)
Dividend income from investments KEHREZRISBA (1,080) (3,382)
Share of profits and losses of associates — JE{GEf & A Al 8% (392,521) (348,108)
Amortisation of vehicle licences Y EE 8 AR g 6 7,102 5,948
Amortisation of prepaid land lease
payments TR A £ 3 78 € ¥ 55 6 294 =
Write-back of impairment of items of M BERZREERRZ
property, plant and equipment VEREEEAE 6 - (1,097)
Gains on disposal of items of property, — H&E¥E  KE &
plant and equipment RBIEE 2 W 6 2,177) (6,225)
Gains on disposal of investment HEREMEZ
properties & 5 (2,011) (10,509)
Gains on disposal of a subsidiary i — BT B A A) 2 Iz 38 (106,906) -
Gains on acquisition of an additional Ui — Bt & A A
interest in an associate BN 55 2 W s 5 - (13,740)
Impairment of an investment R—FHIEEBRMEBARZ
in a subsidiary in liquidation FERE - 9,867
Impairment of investment in an associate 7% — @& A Al 2 | E R (E 6 307,000 64,000
Net fair value losses/(gains) FRBEREANENEZ
on financial assets at fair value TREEZ A AFE
through profit or loss &8, (W) 954 (4,150)
Net fair value gains FERBERBRANEFELZ
on financial liabilities at fair value TRBEZAREE
through profit or loss e (103,019) (46,832)
Equity-settled share option expense VARR AR 32 1+ 2 R AR A e 2 36 10,661 4,919
1,709,247 1,296,201
Decrease in trade receivables JE W BR SRR 2> 333,487 172,195
Increase in prepayments, deposits and TR IR - R E R H At U
other receivables FRIFE N (442,094) (791,548)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEERL () 2,915 (6,906)
Increase in completed properties for sale B 7&K 2 55 & ¥ 3 12 (706,456) (902,069)
Decrease/(increase) in properties under %% & 4 %
development mA (3Ehn) (1,773,201) 612,345
Increase in trade payables B 5 R FIRE M 53,566 812
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and F i & {5 5/ T8 & FE 51 & A
accruals #an O ) (384,714) 2,483,846
Decrease in due to the ultimate holding  J& F& AR IFEAX A 7]
company TIBF D (60,774) (8,448)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations & & XM15, (FTA) 2R & (1,268,024) 2,856,428
Interest paid A5 (206,000) (216,449)
Mainland China taxes paid B 15 /B B A AR IR (496,341) (304,772)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating & & E&FAE (FTA) Z
activities BEeneE e (1,970,365) 2,335,207
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= L=
HmERERER
Year ended 31 December 2010
HE_ZT—ZF+-_A=1T—HILHFE

2010 2009
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt = FET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREEE 2
ACTIVITIES RERE
Interest received 24 A 153,007 118,488
Dividends received from investments B E RS 1,080 3,382
Dividends received from associates B B & A B AR B 168,448 204,771
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE MERZXEER
property, plant and equipment PR3 1A 3,773 26,020
Proceeds from disposal of investment HERE X
properties P 1S 5K 38 3,251 52,005
Purchases of items of property, BAYE - B
plant and equipment K& BIEE (68,175) (53,903)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Ui B FE 22 A 4 A (141,180) =
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary i & — P 8 2 B P 1S SRR 38 232,199 -
Additions to investment properties REYEL M - (1,223)
Loans to associates LTHENRZER (10,415) (3,019)
Repayment of loans from associates B & R A ER 7,022 177,609
Purchases of available-for-sale investments B A A & ) & & & 3,177) =
Additions to investments in associates B 28 R B & 3L AN (76) (192,738)
Decrease/(increase) in other long term HEWRBEEZ
assets B (3En) 226,727 (311,879)
Net cash flows from investing activities &R EEEFIE 2R &R EFE 572,484 19,513
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REBMEZTSH 2
ACTIVITIES RERE
Proceeds from issue of shares BT M PS8 35 10,832 1,140,204
Share issue expenses B fn BT 2 35 (10) (18,282)
Dividends paid Ef’RE (495,120) (433,779)
Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders B AT IR AR AR R AR B (88,154) (14,013)
Capital contribution from non-controlling
shareholders IR ITE - 32,597
New bank loans FLIRITE 5,534,920 9,782,276
Repayment of bank loans BRRITER (3,932,766) (10,955,597)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing ~ BEEEFTE (FTA) 2
activities REeMEFHE 1,029,702 (466,594)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH ReRELEEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS i, (R ) FE (368,179) 1,888,126
Cash and cash equivalents FzHe R
at beginning of year REEEBY 6,434,237 4,570,861
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, NS [E % &
net HEE 179,405 (24,750)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZEER
AT END OF YEAR ReZEEY 6,245,463 6,434,237
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRELEEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS A DA
Cash and bank balances B & RIRITHES 30 5,822,482 4,591,748
Non-pledged time deposits with original
maturity of less than three months RUERREI A LR =@A
when acquired 2 ER R E BE R 30 422,981 1,842,489
Cash and cash equivalents as stated HRESTRERZAER
in the statement of cash flows ReEEY 6,245,463 6,434,237
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Statement of Financial Position

B 7 AR 0 &
31 December 2010
—E-—T&E+—-A=+—8H

2010 2009
Notes HK$/000 HK$'000
B FHET FHT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB MR 14 2,240 1,712
Investments in subsidiaries WBARKE 20 5,934,130 6,039,318
Investments in associates Bt DRI E 22 935,532 935,532
Held-to-maturity investment REZIHEE 23 385,938 383,518
Available-for-sale investments AHEEHERE 24 1,720 1,720
Total non-current assets EREBEELE 7,259,560 7,361,800
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other FARNFIE Re R EM
receivables JE R IB 28 195,233 9,151
Amounts due from subsidiaries i NG E S 20 3,486,988 2,952,237
Financial assets at fair value through FERBHBANEFEZ
profit or loss CREE 29 18,381 20,424
Cash and cash equivalents HeRkBESEEY 30 1,085,605 1,406,803
Total current assets MBEEBTE 4,786,207 4,388,615
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Interest-bearing bank loans T EIRITE R 31 4,619,235 500,000
Derivative financial instruments MTESBMITEA 65,861 168,880
Other payables and accruals H At e FIE R e & A 33 139,982 118,085
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE A Ff B A Bl B 20 57,466 59,794
Total current liabilities MEBEEE 4,882,544 846,759
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) RBEE(BE)FE (96,337) 3,541,856
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT MEER
LIABILITIES REEE 7,163,223 10,903,656
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME
Interest-bearing bank loans SFEIRITER 31 1,078,003 4,705,204
Deferred tax liabilities FEERBEE 34 - 7,982
Total non-current liabilities FRBRERR 1,078,003 4,713,186
Net assets BEFE 6,085,220 6,190,470
EQUITY Ex
Issued capital B TR A 35 176,828 176,392
Reserves k] 37(b) 5,660,832 5,767,130
Proposed final dividend #R R HARR B 12 247,560 246,948
Total equity W5 48 6,085,220 6,190,470
Guo Limin Xu Ruxin
FIR £Z 90 N
Director Director
E E
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Notes to Financial Statements
BY #E R R BT &E

31 December 2010

—T-ZF+-A=1+—H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
Shenzhen Investment Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered office of the Company
is located at 8th Floor, New East Ocean Centre, 9 Science Museum
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following principal
activities:

—  Property development

—  Property investment

—  Property management

—  Provision of transportation services

- Manufacture and sale of industrial and commercial products

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company
of the Group is Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited (“Shum Yip
Holdings”, A3 (% E) AR A &), which is a private company
incorporated in Hong Kong. The ultimate holding company of the
Group is REEEBR AR (formerly JREZREFREHFR A A, which
is a private company established in Shenzhen, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC").

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations ) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties, certain buildings,
derivative financial instruments and equity investments, which have
been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

Basis of consolidation from 1 January 2010

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2010. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of
acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses
resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated
on consolidation in full.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation from 1 January 2010 (Continued)
Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling
interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of
control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value
of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate.

Basis of consolidation prior to 1 January 2010

Certain of the above-mentioned requirements have been applied on
a prospective basis. The following differences, however, are carried
forward in certain instance from the previous basis of consolidation:

e Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the non-
controlling interest until the balance was reduced to nil. Any
further excess losses were attributable to the parent, unless the
non-controlling interest had a binding obligation to cover these.
Losses prior to 1 January 2010 were not reallocated between
non-controlling interest and the parent shareholders.

e Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the investment
retained at its proportionate share of net asset value at the date
control was lost. The carrying amount of such investment at 1
January 2010 has not been restated.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for

the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 1
Amendments

HKFRS 2
Amendments

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 39
Amendment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17

HKFRS 5
Amendments
included in
Improvements to
HKFRSs issued in
October 2008

Improvements to
HKFRSs 2009

HK Interpretation 4
Amendment

HK Interpretation 5

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Additional
Exemptions for First-time Adopters

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment — Group Cash-settled Share-
based Payment Transactions

Business Combinations

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Eligible Hedged Items

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to
Owners

Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations — Plan to sell the controlling
interest in a subsidiary

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
issued in May 2009

Amendment to HK Interpretation 4 Leases
— Determination of the Length of Lease
Term in respect of Hong Kong Land
Leases

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of
HKFRS 3 (Revised), HKAS 27 (Revised), amendments to HKAS 7
and HKAS 17 included in /Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 and HK
Interpretation 4 (Revised in December 2009), the adoption of the

new and revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect on

these financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are
as follows:

(@) HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations and HKAS 27
(Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

HKFRS 3 (Revised) introduces a number of changes in the
accounting for business combinations that affect the initial
measurement of non-controlling interests, the accounting
for transaction costs, the initial recognition and subsequent
measurement of a contingent consideration and business
combinations achieved in stages. These changes will impact
the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the
period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported results.

HKAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary without loss of control is accounted for
as an equity transaction. Therefore, such a change will have
no impact on goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss.
Furthermore, the revised standard changes the accounting for
losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of
a subsidiary. Consequential amendments were made to various
standards, including, but not limited to HKAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows, HKAS 12 Income Taxes, HKAS 21 The Effects of
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, HKAS 28 Investments in
Associates and HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures.

The changes introduced by these revised standards are applied
prospectively and affect the accounting of acquisitions, loss of
control and transactions with non-controlling interests after 1
January 2010.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(b) Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 issued in May 2009 sets out

amendments to a number of HKFRSs. There are separate
transitional provisions for each standard. While the adoption
of some of the amendments results in changes in accounting
policies, none of these amendments has had a significant
financial impact on the Group. Details of the key amendments
most applicable to the Group are as follows:

e HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Requires that only
expenditures that result in a recognised asset in the
statement of financial position can be classified as a cash
flow from investing activities.

e HKAS 17 Leases: Removes the specific guidance on
classifying land as a lease. As a result, leases of land
should be classified as either operating or finance leases in
accordance with the general guidance in HKAS 17.

Amendment to HK Interpretation 4 Leases — Determination of
the Length of Lease Term in respect of Hong Kong Land Leases
is revised as a consequence of the amendment to HKAS 17
Leases included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2009. Following
this amendment, the scope of HK Interpretation 4 has been
expanded to cover all land leases, including those classified as
finance leases. As a result, this interpretation is applicable to all
leases of property accounted for in accordance with HKAS 16,
HKAS 17 and HKAS 40.

The Group has reassessed its leases in Mainland China,
previously classified as operating leases, upon the adoption of
the amendments. The classification of leases in Mainland China

remained as operating leases.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,

that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendment

HKFRST Amendment

HKFRS 7
Amendments

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 24 (Revised)

HKAS 12
Amendments

HKAS 32
Amendment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19

Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Limited
Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters?

Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Severe
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed
Dates for First-time Adopters*

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets*

Financial Instruments®

Related Party Disclosures®

Amendments to HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes —
Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
Assets®

Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation —
Classification of Rights Issues’

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
Requirement?

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments?
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)
Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued /mprovements to
HKFRSs 2070 which sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs
primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying
wording. The amendments to HKFRS 3 and HKAS 27 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010, whereas
the amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKAS 1, HKAS 34 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2011 although there are separate transitional
provisions for each standard.

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
‘ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011
° Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012
B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact
of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial application. So far, the
Group considers that these new and revised HKFRSs are unlikely to
have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and
financial position.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company, directly or
indirectly, controls more than half of its voting power or issued share
capital or controls the composition of its board of directors; or over
which the Company has a contractual right to exercise a dominant
influence with respect to that entity’s financial and operating
policies.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4T ESHBERZ2BE (£)

POLICIES (Continued)

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to
joint control, resulting in none of the participating parties having
unilateral control over the economic activity of the jointly-controlled
entity.

The Group’s investments in its jointly-controlled entities are
accounted for by the proportionate consolidation method, which
involves recognising its share of the jointly-controlled entities’
assets, liabilities, income and expenses with similar items in the
consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line basis. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its jointly-controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investments in the jointly-controlled entities, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or jointly-controlled
entity, in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not
less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a
position to exercise significant influence.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of
associates is included in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group's investments in the associates,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition
of associates is included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates and is not individually tested for impairment.

The results of associates are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in associates are treated as non-current
assets and are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations from 1 January 2010

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in
the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date
through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes
to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to
be an asset or liability will be recognised in accordance with HKAS
39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it shall
not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for
non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interests in the acquiree over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4T ESHBERZ2BE (£)

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Business combinations from 1 January 2010 (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of

the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative
values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010 but after 1 January
2005

In comparison to the above-mentioned requirements which were
applied on a prospective basis, the following differences applied to
business combinations prior to 1 January 2010:

Business combinations were accounted for using the purchase
method. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
formed part of the acquisition costs. The non-controlling interest was
measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010 but after 1 January
2005 (Continued)

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as
separate steps. Any additional acquired share of interest did not
affect previously recognised goodwill.

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives
separated from the host contract by the acquiree were not reassessed
on acquisition unless the business combination resulted in a change
in the terms of the contract that significantly modified the cash
flows that otherwise would have been required under the contract.
Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the Group
had a present obligation, the economic outflow was more likely
than not and a reliable estimate was determinable. Subsequent
adjustments to the contingent consideration were recognised as part
of goodwill.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment properties,
goodwill and disposal groups classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and
its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued
asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4T ESHBERZ2BE (£)

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued) FEMEERE (&)
An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as EFERERRGSFEAETNEAMRBEEHER

to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill and certain financial assets is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of an asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
the income statement in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment
is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group
classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting
policy for “Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale”.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses
on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of
property, plant and equipment. Expenditure incurred after items of
property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the income
statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)
Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair
value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying
amount. Changes in the values of property, plant and equipment are
dealt with as movements in the asset revaluation reserve. If the total
of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset
basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the income statement.
Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the income
statement to the extent of the deficit previously charged. On disposal
of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation
reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to
retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation of each item of property, plant and equipment is
calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost or valuation
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings Over the lease terms
Leasehold improvements 20%

10% to 25%

9% to 20%

10% to 25%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles
Plant and machinery

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction,
which are stated at cost less any impairment losses, and are not
depreciated. Cost comprises direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4T ESHBERZ2BE (£)

POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold interest under an operating lease for a property which
would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property)
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at
the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the income statement in the year in which
they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the income statement in the year of the

retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for
such property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property,
plant and equipment and depreciation” up to the date of change in
use, and any difference at that date between the carrying amount
and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and
equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from inventories
to investment properties, any difference between the fair value of the
property at that date and its previous carrying amount is recognised
in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4FTESHBERZ2BRE (£)

POLICIES (Continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale after
completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development
period.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless
the construction period of the relevant property development
project is expected to complete beyond normal operating cycle. On
completion, the properties are transferred to completed properties
held for sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of the
total land and buildings costs attributable to unsold properties. Net
realisable value is estimated by the directors based on the prevailing
market prices, on an individual property basis.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case
of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases are
charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease
payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a
finance lease in property, plant and equipment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4T ESHBERZ2BE (£)

POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at

each financial year end.

Vehicle licences acquired by the Group are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of 15 to 20 years.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale
financial investments, as appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit

or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or

convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and bank balances, trade
and other receivables, loans receivable, quoted and unquoted
financial instruments, and derivative financial instruments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of sale in the near term. This category includes derivative financial
instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by HKAS 39.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement.
These net fair value changes do not include any dividends on these
financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policy

set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent to sell them in
the near term is still appropriate. When the Group is unable to trade
these financial assets due to inactive markets and management’s
intent to sell them in the foreseeable future significantly changes,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets in rare
circumstances. The reclassification from financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss to loans and receivables, available-for-
sale financial assets or held-to-maturity investments depends on the
nature of the assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING Q4TESEHBERZBE (£)

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any other expense discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
income in the income statement. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in the income statement in other expenses.

Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturity are classified as held to maturity when the Group
has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-
maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost
less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost calculated by
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance income in
the income statement.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity and debt securities. Equity
investments classified as available for sale are those which are
neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value
through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those
which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response
to changes in the market conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses
recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the
income statement, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised
in the income statement. Interest and dividends earned are
reported as interest income and dividend income, respectively
and are recognised in the income statement as “Other income”
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the
probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such securities
are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial assets whether
the ability and intention to sell them in the near term are still
appropriate. When the Group is unable to trade these financial
assets due to inactive markets and management’s intent to do so
significantly changes in the foreseeable future, the Group may
elect to reclassify these financial assets in rare circumstances.
Reclassification to loans and receivables is permitted when the
financial assets meet the definition of loans and receivables and
the Group has the intent and ability to hold these assets for the
foreseeable future or to maturity. Reclassification to the held-to-
maturity category is permitted only when the entity has the ability
and intent to hold until the maturity date of the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-for-sale
category, any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining
life of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the expected cash flows is also
amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective
interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired,
then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the income
statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEEHBRZBE (£)

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control
of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset
is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement
in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss
event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses
individually whether objective evidence of impairment exists for
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included
in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash
flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring
any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEEHBRZBE (£)

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of loss is
recognised in the income statement. Interest income continues to be
accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together
with any associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If
a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the
income statement.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial

asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at the
end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that
an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale investment is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment
loss previously recognised in the income statement, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the income
statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of an investment below its cost. The determination
of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement.
“Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of the investment
and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been
below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment,
the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the income statement —
is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the
income statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified
as available for sale are not reversed through the income statement.
Increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale,
impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial
assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded
for impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference
between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the
income statement. Future interest income continues to be accrued
based on the reduced carrying amount of the asset and is accrued
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income
is recorded as part of finance income. Impairment losses on debt
instruments are reversed through the income statement if the
increase in fair value of the instruments can be objectively related to
an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the
income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHBRZBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, or loans and
borrowings, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification
of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the
case of loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction

costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
amount due to the ultimate holding company, derivative financial
instruments and interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
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Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include FEBERAABEIEYSREEOIERESS
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities e RMABRERIRARIE T A EBBREAR

designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or

loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. This category
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group
that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships
as defined by HKAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading
are recognised in the income statement. The net fair value gain
or loss recognised in the income statement does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

BFffEZmAafE-

REMAEERNMIHE2ERBERD BRI
ERZZeRAE - W BB mAKER B
FFIEEREIMEE (EX R BB G ERIFE395R)
ZERTAZITEEmIA - BUHRARITET
AMEDBERRHER S BRIFTMIREERE RN
HHPTE -FHEXZFEENBERRRRER R
WHERERNARERBFRTERELESHE
B2 ERIAE -

SHENZHEN INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010

91



92

Notes to Financial Statements
Br FE R R BT &E

31 December 2010

—EZF+-A=1+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate method amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the income statement.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEEHBRZBE (£)

POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices or
dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price
for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
For financial instruments where there is no active market, the fair
value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such
techniques include using recent arm'’s length market transactions;
reference to the current market value of another instrument which is
substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option
pricing models or other valuation models.
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Derivative financial instruments FTESRTE
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement WEEIREEEE

The Group uses derivative financial instrument interest rate swaps to
hedge its interest rate risk. Such derivative financial instruments are
initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive
and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of commodity contracts that meet the definition of a
derivative as defined by HKAS 39 but are entered into in accordance
with the Group’s expected purchase requirements is recognised in
the income statement in cost of sales.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives
are taken directly to the income statement, except for the effective
portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated and effective hedging
instruments are classified as current or non-current or separated into
a current or non-current portion based on an assessment of the facts
and circumstances (i.e., the underlying contracted cash flows).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments (Continued)

Current versus non-current classification (Continued)

e Where the Group will hold a derivative as an economic hedge
(and does not apply hedge accounting) for a period beyond 12
months after the end of the reporting period, the derivative is
classified as non-current (or separated into current and non-
current portions) consistently with the classification of the

underlying item.

e Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the host
contract are classified consistently with the cash flows of the

host contract.

e Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are effective
hedging instruments, are classified consistently with the
classification of the underlying hedged item. The derivative
instruments are separated into current portions and non-current
portions only if a reliable allocation can be made.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial

reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and a joint venture where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

e where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither

the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and a joint venture,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates ruling at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. All
differences are taken to the income statement. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was determined.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)
The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries, associates
and jointly-controlled entity are currencies other than the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at the end
of the reporting period and, their income statements are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year. The resulting exchange differences are included in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entity are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEEHBRZBE (£)

98

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@) income from the sale of properties and industrial and
commercial products, when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided that the
Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods and properties sold;

(b) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(c) income from the provision of transportation services, when the

transportation services have been rendered;

(d) services income, when the relevant services have been
rendered;

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(f) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the
statement of financial position, until they have been approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends have been
approved by the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a
liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under common
control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the Group that
gives it significant influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint
control over the Group;

the party is an associate;
the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

the party is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or its parent;

the party is a close member of the family of any individual
referred to in (a) or (d);

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by or for which significant voting power
in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (d) or (e); or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
the employees of the Group, or of any entity that is a related
party of the Group.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash

and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,

and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible

into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of

changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three

months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on

demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash

equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term

deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by the management using the Black-
Scholes model, further details of which are given in note 36 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the income statement for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period. If the share options granted vest immediately, the Group
recognises the fair value in the period in which the options are
granted.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition
is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification, that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEEHBRZBE (£)

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph. All cancellations of
equity-settled transaction awards are treated equally.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of HKFRS 2 in
respect of equity-settled awards and has applied HKFRS 2 only to
equity-settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not
vested by 1 January 2005 and to those granted on or after 1 January
2005.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme except for the Group’s employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

Each of the subsidiaries operating in Mainland China participates
in the central pension scheme (the “CPS”) operated by the local
municipal government for all of its staff. These subsidiaries are
required contribute 8% to 20% of their payroll costs to the CPS. The
contributions are charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the CPS.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of
the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event previously
causing the impairment no longer exists, the Group has to exercise
judgement in the area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred that may affect the asset value
or such event affecting the asset value has not been in existence;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset or derecognition; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow
projections including whether these cash flow projections are
discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
selected by management to determine the level of impairment,
including the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the
cash flow projections, could materially affect the net present value
used in the impairment test.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Income tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes. Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused
tax losses carried forward to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax
losses can be utilised, based on all available evidence. Recognition
primarily involves judgement regarding the future performance of the
particular legal entity or tax group in which the deferred tax asset
has been recognised. A variety of other factors are also evaluated in
considering whether there is convincing evidence that it is probable
that some portions or all of the deferred tax assets will ultimately
be realised, such as the existence of taxable temporary differences,
tax planning strategies and the periods in which estimated tax
losses can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets
and related financial models and budgets are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and to the extent that there is insufficient
convincing evidence that sufficient taxable profits will be available
within the utilisation periods to allow utilisation of the tax losses
carried forward, and that the asset balance will be reduced and
charged to the income statement.

Land appreciation tax

Under the Provisional Regulations on Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”)
implemented upon the issuance of the Provisional Regulations of
the Public on 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the transfer of
real estate properties in Mainland China with effect from 1 January
1994 are subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales
of properties less deductible expenditures including amortisation
of land use rights, borrowing costs and all property development
expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property development
business in Mainland China are subject to LAT, which has been
included in income tax. However, the implementation of these taxes
varies amongst various Mainland China cities and the Group has not
finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities. Accordingly,
significant judgement is required in determining the amount of land
appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
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amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and provisions of land appreciation taxes in the
period in which such determination is made.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined based on
an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangement that
it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these

properties which are leased out on operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other
assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or leased out
separately under finance leases, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the property
is an investment property only if an insignificant portion is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes.

Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not
qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 3. ERETHHBR MG (&)

ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued) Rtz FREEE (&)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties REWFE R EET

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market AREZREZBRARFABELOREME LR E R

for similar lease terms and other contracts. In the absence of M2 RITER - WMRBREBEELR BEEESRIE

such information, management determines the amount within a EBRAARERAEEETAREE -EELEAH

range of reasonable fair value estimates. In making its judgement, HER EREZRITMRER  )2ETRE

management considers information from (i) current prices in an TS ERTRIEE ﬂjiiﬁlif?%¥ﬁ<‘/§ﬁ&?ﬁfﬁ

active market for properties of a different nature, condition or ZBATER (VREMERRNERT IS ZRT

location by reference to available market information; (ii) recent B (ERBEER S UREERR 2 B LR

prices of similar properties in less active markets, with adjustments ) RGiNVBBEMBR A HOREAME K 2 HER

to reflect any changes in economic conditions since the date of AR (#narf7) SMEE SR (R RAOR AR 2[R

transactions that occurred at those prices; and (iii) discounted cash MEBRH2THEE) ERBRRRSREZA

flow projections, based on reliable estimates of future cash flows, ;‘=E1EE+1:A&}§B9&”**“Lﬁﬁ%mb%ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ% .z

supported by the terms of any existing lease and other contracts, BEM TS EBREEAEZRSRETEA -

and (where possible) by external evidence such as current market

rates for similar properties in the same location and condition, and

using discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the

uncertainty in the amount and timing of cash flows.

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of the fair AEEGBAFANEZEE E*ﬂ,l%)j/\)faﬂﬁg%&

value include those related to current market rents for similar AR T RBEEREZ mi5HEE ERERE I8

properties in the same location and condition, appropriate discount HERMSEE R BEREERA-

rates, expected future market rents and future maintenance costs.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 31 December REMFER = TEJF A=+—HZEEER

2010 was HK$4,902,151,000 (2009: HK$4,105,782,000). 4,902,1 51,000/%7’5 (ZZZ N9 :4,105,782,000
BIT) e

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BRETEER

For management purpose, the Group is organised into business HEEMS - $$.T§EI\F:1DL: a5 i%ﬁfl

units based on their products and services, and has six reportable EBELM UHEENEZMEENE FEMOT

operating segments as follows:

(a) the property development segment engages in the development @ DEZRIBUSHRET ITEXERBHXEZ
of residential, industrial and commercial properties; T

(b) the property investment segment invests in residential, industrial
and commercial properties for their rental income potential;

(c) the property management segment engages in the management
of both properties developed by the Group and external parties;

(b) MEZEDFERENEHISAS
RE¥EETF:

T I¥

(0 MEEBLENRETEREBRINDALE
BZEF:
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) the transportation services segment consists of the provision
of passenger and freight transportation services, automobile
maintenance and other related services;

(e) the manufacturing segment engages in the manufacture and sale
of industrial and commercial products; and

(f) the “others” segment comprises, principally, the manufacture
and sale of aluminum alloys and other businesses.

Management monitors the operating results of the Group’s business
units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest
income, finance costs, dividend income, fair value gains/(losses)
from the Group’s financial instruments as well as head office and
corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, pledged deposits, cash
and cash equivalents, equity investments at fair value through profit
or loss, derivative financial instruments and other unallocated head
office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group
basis.

Segment liabilities exclude derivative financial instruments, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, amount due to the ultimate
holding company, tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities
are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.

FIERERAE 2010FFR
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

4. BEDHER(#E)

HE-Z-ZF Property Property Property  Transportation
Year ended 31 December 2010 TZRA=t-HLEFE development investment  management services  Manufacturing Others Total
NEBR NERE NEER ERRE BE Hitr ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET FET TET TR THET
Segment revenue: AERE:
Sales to customers HEFEP 4,660,705 390,849 732,283 238,911 280,540 281,310 6,584,598
Intersegment sales AEREHEE - - 15,437 - - 43,772 59,209
4,660,705 390,849 747,720 238,911 280,540 325,082 6,643,807
Reconciliation H
Elimination of intersegment sales %3475 BRI & (59,209)
Revenue e 6,584,598
Segment results before increase
in fair value of investment RENEAAEEMAZ
properties AEEE 1,196,739 448,877 (7,250 35,159 10,548 115,422 1,799,495
Increase in fair value of
investment properties REMERAABEEM - 595,372 - - - - 595,372
Segment results after increase
in fair value of investment RENEDAEEMEZLE
properties £ 1,196,739 1,044,249 (7,250) 35,159 10,548 115,422 2,394,867
Reconciliation £33
Elimination of intersegment results 42 B %48 (3,718)
Interest income FEHA 161,176
Dividend income and
unallocated gains REMARKD B 19,238
Gains on disposal of a subsidiary & — M B2 A 2 W 106,906
Fair value gain of the financial
instruments, net SRIAZAABRETR 102,065
Corporate and other unallocated
expenses RAREBRDEER (113,620)
Finance costs BEKA (206,000)
Profit before tax BB AT R A 2,460,914
Segment assets PEEE 20,834,746 5,143,753 100,063 372,323 188,643 644,493 27,284,021
Reconciliation /3
Corporate and other unallocated
assets RAREMADREE 7,086,986
Total assets BEE 34,371,007
Segment liabilities SEEE 3,293,339 225,954 167,507 248,745 90,240 252,491 4,278,276
Reconciliation HE
Corporate and other unallocated
liabilities AR RAMAPEAE 15,392,934
Total liabilities BaE 19,671,210
Other segment information: At EER:
Depreciation 7E 11,128 8,981 7,444 33,523 7,247 12,261 80,584
Amortisation of vehicle licences ~ /E K2R #85 - - - 7,102 - - 7,102
Amortisation of prepaid land lease
payments Bt LRSS AR - - - - - 294 294
Impairment of investment in an
associate R—EBE AR 2 RERE 307,000 - - - - - 307,000
Share of profits and losses of
associates B E D AlaF REE 179,205 178,598 3,558 4,431 - 26,729 392,521
Investments in associates BANFRE 4,319,786 106,614 13,249 44,187 15,133 511,415 5,010,384
Capital expenditure AR 6,536,808 14,245 6,817 12,778 6,157 12,305 6,589,110
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

4. BEDWER(#F)

HE-ZZNF Property Property Property  Transportation
Year ended 31 December 2009 TZAZT-HILEE development investment  management services  Manufacturing Others Total
NEER MERE NEER EBRY g ity fat:]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THET T FHT FiHT TET
Segment revenue: AERE:
Sales to customers HETEF 3,684,217 365,831 629,270 231,460 230,585 245,577 5,386,940
Intersegment sales ARRAHE - - 7,567 - - 44,849 52,416
3,684,217 365,831 636,837 231,460 230,585 290,426 5,439,356
Reconciliation H
Elimination of intersegment sales %3475 BRI & (52,416)
Revenue W 5,386,940
Segment results before increase
in fair value of investment RENEAAEEMAZ
properties PREE 980,529 319,180 (12,208) 38,994 14,978 179,194 1,520,667
Increase in fair value of investment
properties BREMERAEEM = 213,773 = = = = 213,773
Segment results after increase
in fair value of investment RENEDABEMEZ
properties FEER 980,529 532,953 (12,208) 38,994 14,978 179,194 1,734,440
Reconciliation £33
Elimination of intersegment results 42 B %48 (2,984)
Interest income FEHA 119,342
Dividend income and unallocated
gains REMARRS ERE 76,025
Fair value gain of the financial
instruments, net SRIAZARENREFE 50,982
Corporate and other unallocated
expenses RAREBRIEER (75,749)
Finance costs BERKAK (216,449)
Profit before tax BBt A 1,685,607
Segment assets PEEE 17,905,065 4,473,558 103,252 395,997 192,169 785,803 23,855,844
Reconciliation £33
Corporate and other unallocated
assets RAREMADREE 7,220,828
Total assets BEE 31,076,672
Segment liabilities FEEE 3,441,642 294,606 291,702 225,699 06,437 202,270 4,522,356
Reconciliation £33
Corporate and other unallocated
liabilities AR REMASRAR 13,142,638
Total liabilities Bafk 17,664,994
Other segment information: HtbpBEH:
Depreciation & 8,515 12,343 7,131 33,751 7,067 7,762 76,569
Amortisation of vehicle licences ~ JTE IR # = = - 5,948 - = 5,948
Impairment of investment in an
associate R—RABER Rz RERE 64,000 - - - - - 64,000
Share of profits and losses of
associates [EfREE DR FI REE 175,898 66,967 2,568 4215 - 98,460 348,108
Investments in associates BERFARE 4,242,278 95,610 13,873 43,236 30,106 545,057 4,970,160
Capital expenditure AR 2,846,558 122,231 6,704 10,595 8,309 11,449 3,005,846
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. W@ HWARKE
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents proceeds W ISR AEE 2 S 55 ERAHEEWE
from the sale of properties, commercial and industrial goods, rental BERIFXERAERE BB BEEBR
income, management fee income, income from transportation and A BHRA R E KA -
others.
An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: REE 7 Was  HfRARKSE 2D :
2010 2009
Note HK$’000 HK$"000
liks3 THET THET
Revenue Wz
Sale of properties HEWE 4,660,705 3,684,217
Gross management fee income EERBW AL 732,283 629,270
Gross rental income from investment
properties REMEHRS WAL 390,849 365,831
Sale of commercial and industrial goods HERMERIXEm 280,540 230,585
Income from transportation EmlA 238,911 231,460
Others H Aty 281,310 245,577
6,584,598 5,386,940
Other income Heplr A
Gross rental income from property, plant RKEME BERZEZ
and equipment HEeWAEE 41,059 31,084
Bank interest income RITH S HRA 54,320 67,813
Interest income from a held-to-maturity FAEEIHKREZ
investment I EWA 48,014 47,611
Others Hit 81,622 65,774
225,015 212,282
Gains I &
Gains on disposal of investment properties 1 &1% & ¥ % 2 & 2,011 10,509
Gains on disposal of items of property, HEME - FE R
plant and equipment REBEE 2 W 2,177 6,225
Gains on acquisition of an additional Wb — B 2 R A
interest in an associate B IME 5 2 W e - 13,740
Gains on disposal of a subsidiary HE —EN B ARz W 38 106,906 -
Others Hit 151 2,313
111,245 32,787
Other income and gains H i YA B W 336,260 245,069
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. PBRBiAD R
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ (crediting): REBZBRBACRFI BB (FEA) FFI5ER
EE:
2010 2009
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
b FHBR FiBT
Cost of inventories sold HEGFERAK 3,063,053 2,561,286
Cost of services provided TR AR 75 AR AR 583,294 545,536
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B AN B & 6,919 6,769
Depreciation e 14 80,584 76,569
Impairment of trade receivables JE W BR OB E 27 14,110 14,939
Reversal of impairment of trade receivables & 4§ B R (B £ B 27 (2,861) (27,227)
Impairment of investment in an associate* P —fEHEE R AR E 2 FIE* 22 307,000 64,000
Direct operating expenses (including WHKREYMEZ
repairs and maintenance) arising on HELETH
rental-earning investment properties (BREERRE) 48,508 48,331
Write-back of impairment of items of YR BB RREEE Z
property, plant and equipment R E R 14 - (1,097)
Minimum lease payments under operating T RIEF 2 L& HE
leases in respect of land and buildings RIEHE SR 11,101 10,795
Amortisation of vehicle licences YUEE 8 AR 6 15 7,102 5,948
Amortisation of prepaid land lease
payments TAAT = 3t A & FRIE 51 16 294 -
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERARAX (TRHE
directors’ remuneration, note 8): EE SO ETE
Wages and salaries TERF 565,535 538,114
Equity-settled share option expense VA BR R 32 AT 2 B S el 2 8,371 4,919
Pension scheme contributions BIREFTEIHK 84,008 74,619
Less: Amount capitalised N = N e - | (26,468) (23,698)
Net: Pension scheme contributions BRNSFTEIHFFE 57,540 50,921
631,446 593,954
Foreign exchange differences, net HNPE 2= B FEE 16,789 (793)
Net rental income from investment
properties REWFEFHS WA (342,341) (317,500)
Net rental income from property, L ER ]
plant and equipment R A (28,998) (19,452)
Gains on disposal of investment properties HEREYE 2 W (2,011) (10,509)
Gains on disposal of items of property, HEWE BB R
plant and equipment REIEE 2 W 2,177) (6,225)
Gains on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RBHB AR 2 WS 38 (106,906) =

RN EBERRZEREZRERFTARERER [H
R Ae

*  The impairment of investment in an associate is included in “other

expenses” in the consolidated income statement.
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MERA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: REERKAZ AT
Group
rEE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Interest on: MELZH:
Bank loans wholly repayable BERAFABREEZ
within five years RITE KT L 341,516 399,224
Total interest expense on financial liabilities WIkBEBERRANETHEZ
not at fair value through profit or loss TRBEZMNEMXERE 341,516 399,224
Less: Interest capitalised BB AEF A (277,702) (301,616)
63,814 97,608
Other finance costs H {th & A 142,186 118,841
206,000 216,449

The average capitalisation rate for the year used to determine the

amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was 5.27%

(2009: 5.50%)

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors” remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the

Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance, is as follows:

FRARETAERETENMZEEXRASEZ
FHEARELE R B5.27% (ZFEZNF :5.50%) ©

ESMe
AEEREETRBREEDAEOIE 61152 E
EMEHBMT

Group

rEH
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Fees Be 1,500 1,243

Other emoluments: EME :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EUMEREYAN R 3,743 4,563
Equity-settled share option expense VARR 7R 32 A~ 2 B S 7 2 2,290 =
Pension scheme contributions RIS ET B 597 363
6,630 4,926
8,130 6,169
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. EEM< (£&)
(@) Independent non-executive directors @ BIAFHTEE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the REEENBUYIERNTERERSWT

year were as follows:

Employee
share option
Fees expense Total
(=
B
ik i3 R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fis FBT T
2010 =
Wong Po Yan =IRM 330 - 330
Wu Wai Chung, Michael RE5R 280 - 280
Li Wai Keung FE®R 330 - 330
940 - 940
2009 —BEhE
Wong Po Yan =IRM 330 - 330
Wu Wai Chung, Michael REEE 280 = 280
Li Wai Keung {58 330 - 330
940 = 940
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent REFWEAMENBLIFATES M
non-executive directors during the year (2009: Nil). —ETNF E) e
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors

8. EEME (&)
b) BAEERFUGTES

Salaries,
allowances Employee Pension
and benefits  share option scheme
Fees in kind expense contributions Total
He 2BE EEBRE Birg
we REVAR X T &S B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT TERT TERT
2010 —2-%F%
Executive directors: WIES:
Guo Limin HBIR - 1,105 710 148 1,963
Xu Ruxin Rz - 1,061 674 144 1,879
Liu Weijin* 2@ - 948 453 203 1,604
Mou Yong &5 - 629 453 102 1,184
Liu Chong** EIES - - - - -
- 3,743 2,290 597 6,630
Non-executive directors: FHITES
Wau Jiesi RS 280 - - - 280
Liu Biao 2R 280 - - - 280
560 - - - 560
560 3,743 2,290 597 7,190

* Resigned as director on 30 December 2010

**  Appointed as director on 30 December 2010

ok
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. EEM< (&)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (Continued) (b) BITEERIHTEE (£)
Salaries,
allowances Employee Pension
and benefits  share option scheme
Fees in kind expense  contributions Total
e El EEBERE EARE
we REMH = 53 HERS B
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHIT FHT FHAT
2009 ZEENE
Executive directors: HITES:
Guo Limin PR - 369 = 27 396
Xu Ruxin g - 107 = 12 119
Hu Aimin HER = 792 = 97 889
Zhang Yijun REH - 1,574 - 81 1,655
Zhao Gesheng HEE - 686 - 50 736
Liu Weijin SR = 932 = 88 1,020
Mou Yong £3 - 103 - 8 111
- 4,563 - 363 4,926
Non-executive directors: FHITES
Wu Jiesi RiER 280 - - - 280
Liu Biao 2z 23 - - - 23
303 - - - 303
303 4,563 - 363 5,229
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or RAFER  HEEMNEFRENRBREE
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year. ] B & 2 2 HE

114 RIZRERDE 2010FFH



Notes to Financial Statements
B 7% 3 3= Bt 5 E

31 December 2010
—TZF+-A=1+—H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included three
(2009: five) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining two
(2009: Nil) non-director, highest paid employees for the year are as

follows:

9. hEREHEE

FEEZAEBRHEERBE=2 (ZETNF:
hB)EE ZSEEZHEFIBEN LXES -
REERTME(ZZZNF B)FEERSH
BEZMEFBNT

Group
TEHE
2010
HK$'000
TER

FHE AN

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REMH R 2,015

Equity-settled share option expense
Pension scheme contributions

VARR A 32 5 2 Fi A HE B =2 533
RN E IR

384

2,932

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

MeBATHEZ FETRRIFEESHB AT

Number of
employees
EE®E
2010

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

1,000,001 7L =1,500,00078 7T 1
1,500,001 7 22,000,000/ 7T 1

During the year, share options were granted to a non-director,
highest paid employee in respect of his services to the Group, further
details of which are included in the disclosures in note 36 to the
financial statements. The fair value of such options, which has been
recognised in the income statement over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the
financial statements for the current year is included in the above
non-director, highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.

FN —RFEERSFEERALSAEE RSB
PR BB IHE - B R — P IS T B 7 R B
36 EEEMAN RFEREZARE (RER
FEHABNERRAER)ENXHBHEE M
AARFEMBEHRR 2 CHEEFTALXFESER
=HEEMEZHEERA-
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10. INCOME TAX
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2009:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been
made as the Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year (2009: Nil).

Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland China are calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the provinces in which the Group operates.

Major subsidiaries of the Group operate in Shenzhen, Mainland
China, which are subject to the corporate income tax rate of 22%
(2009: 20%). However, with the new PRC Enterprise Income Tax
Law becoming effective on 1 January 2008, the tax rate will increase
eventually to 25% in 2012.

PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sales
of properties less deductible expenditures including amortisation
of land use rights, borrowing costs and all property development
expenditures. LAT of HK$319,695,000 is charged to the consolidated
income statement for the year (2009: HK$275,047,000).

10. FR &8

EBFNEHERBEAREBEEZ G BRR
I AIE16.5% 2R (ZTTNF:16.5% ) 5tE -
FERN - AEBWEERBEETAERRTREN -
W EEESBFNEHBEE(ZSTNE &) -

o K B R Bt B 0 2 BURR I R B
BAGZRTHEHE

AEBZEEWNBARERBRARERIIEE A
BR%EMEEMER (ZEZTNEFE :20%) ° A
M HEEMEHEIR =T N\F—A—BER
MEIPHEER T —ZFIEINE25% °

B+ b 38 (E R IR £ 38 (B 2 30%E60% R i T
REU - T3 E B E Y ERTS FER 2 IE i
EAEENE BEXNARMADEZRI L ZA
MY - AFE B AMAA KR T MR+ i
{E#1319,695,0007% 7T ( ZZZ N4 : 275,047,000
PBIT) e

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHBT
Group: AREE

Current — Mainland China BVER — mp B9 K B 416,111 305,266
LAT in Mainland China AR B K B £ Hb 3B E R 319,695 275,047

Deferred Mainland China corporate iR AE B KB 1R AT IS A
income tax (note 34) (Ff=E34) 148,241 (29,197)
Total tax charge for the year RNEEHIEX 4 884,047 551,116
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
at the statutory income tax rate to the tax expense at the Group's

10. FREH (&)

11.

TSR # A DAY TE Bt R 5 E 2 58 A BR B A A
ZHBRAXEEAREAFEERRG R ZH

effective income tax rate for the year, and a reconciliation of the TH RS2 2 1 BR S A A 3 (H00A 8 B 3R ) B2 A5 B
applicable rate (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax rate, 7SR
are as follows:
2010 2009
HK$/000 % HK$'000 %
THET THET

Profit before tax B B1 A1 % A 2,460,914 1,685,607
Tax at the statutory tax rate REEBREAE 2 HE 406,051 16.5 278,068 16.5
Higher tax rates for specific SEEHHMFE RS Z

provinces or local authority & 171,490 7.0 79,337 4.7
Profits and losses attributable to B & /A &) & {5 & F1| &

associates B8 (81,412) (3.3) (63,823) (3.8)
Income not subject to tax BABAT R Z WA - - (26,169) (1.6)
Tax losses not recognised AER 2 IEEE 13,263 0.5 8,200 0.5
Tax loss utilised BERAHIEEE (28,769) (1.2) = =
Expenses not deductible for tax A Bt & B 40 2 52 98,160 4.0 82,203 4.9
Effect of withholding tax on

distributable profits of the HAEEZPEMERRZ

Group’s PRC subsidiaries Al ks F 2 RN 8

(note 34) (Pt 5£E34) 68,106 2.8 8,665 0.5
LAT T IR A 319,695 13.0 275,047 16.3
Tax effect of LAT THIEER BB (82,537) (3.4 (90,412) (5.4)
Tax charge at the Group's BRAEEA MR XN 2

effective rate B8 884,047 35.9 551,116 32.6

The share of tax attributable to associates of approximately
HK$505,805,000 (2009: HK$292,670,000) is included in “Share
of profits and losses of associates” on the face of the consolidated

income statement.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT 11.

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the parent for the
year ended 31 December 2010 includes a loss of HK$283,970,000
(2009: a loss of HK$159,163,000) which has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company.

i 2 N B) B 15 LB 4 A505,805,000/8 7T (= F
FLEE :292,670,0005 T) E%ﬂJ)\ﬁ*AuﬁuniEEP
[RGB & A alEF REE] -

BARBEAEBLEIE
BHE-Z—ZF+-_A=1+—HIEFEE AR
B AL RS % F £15283,970, oooﬂémgﬂa (=
TT N F : E1E159,163,000% 70) B NElZ
s mARPRE -
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12.

13.

DIVIDENDS 12. R B
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TAETT
Interim — HK 7 cents (2009: HK5 cents) FHIR S — &R & ER7 B
per ordinary share (ZZZAF:58l) 247,560 161,041
Adjustment to prior year’s final dividend NEFERIKRE Z AR 612 15,674
Proposed final dividend of HK 7 cents
(2009: final dividend of HK7 cents) Bk R HA RS B & I T @ AR 78 (L
per ordinary share (ZZZNF  REARS7EM) 247,560 246,948
495,732 423,663

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
3,535,689,759 (2009: 3,337,794,034) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been
issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

FIERERAE 2010FFR

13.

ARE KR RS AR AR R AR E IR R
BERE LHER HAER-

BAREERESSAEABRLERAEN

EREABFCBNIZREAFEERESEE
ABEFRZFRERFACET L BRMNETS
#3,535,689,7598% ( == ZT /1.4 : 3,337,794,034

B E -

SREBANCBENRERTHBBRMEEREA
M6 16375 PO P58 < FB R B AHEE 2 BB R O0E
FHAENERTERRYEE (AU ES
BEABFIE) AR BRAF A EE B ERRE
AT 8 30 B89 75 6 R ARES 4 47 0 B B IR0V
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 13.BRARIEERERBEEARLERERN
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (%)
(Continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share amounts are BREAREERNTIZTIISIAFE
based on:
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FTAT
Earnings 27

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent, used in the basic earnings per FBUAGEEFREREF 2 A F LR
share calculation: RS FFE ARG R T 1,324,780 987,656

Number of shares

RGEE
2010 2009

Shares gl
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ FMAGTESRELRREF 2

in issue during the year used in the basic FABEBETE AR

earnings per share calculation D4 F 15 21 3,535,689,759  3,337,794,034
Effect of dilution — weighted average number of —#5% % £

ordinary shares: — LB ANETE 8

Share options B R e 12,641,367 8,166,837

3,548,331,126  3,345,960,871
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. 9% BERSZHE
Group RE
Land and Land and
buildings in ~ buildings in
Hong Kong Mainland
under  China under Furniture,
medium medium Leasehold fixtures and Motor Plantand  Construction
term leases term leases  improvements equipment vehicles machinery in progress Total
SR A 4
DAY REEAE
RERBEZ HE2i# HE  BA-%E
THEEF REF VES:1 Rt RE  HERRE ERIR a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THRT TR TR THR TR TR TR TER
—2-%%
31 December 2010 +=A=+-H
RZZENE
At 31 December 2009 and +ZA=+-Ak
at 1 January 2010: RZZ-F4-f—-R:
Cost or valuation KA EE 2,837 288,922 51,278 69,078 263,708 146,795 117,121 939,739
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment ZHFERAE (98) (67,912) (27,455) (54,419) (129,348) (73,093) - (352,325)
Net carrying amount BEFE 2,739 221,010 23,823 14,659 134,360 73,702 17121 587,414
At 1 January 2010, net of
accumulated depreciation and  R=F—FF—F—H"
impairment R REE RO fE 2,739 221,010 23,823 14,659 134,360 73,702 117,121 587,414
Additions RE - 552 11,065 17,460 27,001 6,755 9,407 72,240
Reclassification 5NHE - 65,224 5,117 - - - (70,341) -
Disposals e - (6) - (483) (790) (317) - (1,596)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HHBAR - (2,072) - (16) - - - (2,088)
Transfer from properties under ~ BEAFERNE
development (note 18) (FizE18) - 63,759 - - - - - 63,759
Transfer to prepaid land lease BRERMNTHEENA
payments (note 16) (FzE16) - - - - - - (27,706) (27,706)
Depreciation provided
during the year TEERERE - (6,862) (13,278) (9,915) (40,015) (10,514) - (80,584)
Exchange realignment EHRE 98 5,501 952 1,659 4,365 2,072 4,029 18,676
At 31 December 2010, net of R-E-Zf&
accumulated depreciation and +-A=+-R"
impairment TR ZHNERAE 2,837 347,106 27,679 23,364 124,921 71,698 32,510 630,115
RZZ-%%
At 31 December 2010: +-A=+-A:
Cost or valuation KA EE 2,939 424,628 69,386 86,703 288,428 156,600 32,510 1,061,194
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment ZHTERRE (102) (77,522) (41,707) (63,339) (163,507) (84,902) - (431,079)
Net carrying amount BEFE 2,837 347,106 27,679 23,364 124,921 71,698 32,510 630,115
Analysis of cost or valuation: RAREEA
At cost R 1,221 258,770* 69,386 86,703 288,428 156,600 32,510 893,618
At 2006 valuation S N 1,718 165,858 - - - - - 167,576
2,939 424,628 69,386 86,703 288,428 156,600 32,510 1,061,194
* In the opinion of the directors, the carrying amount of these land and * O BERR RELHMREFZRESHEEN_T—

ZEFE+-_A=+—HZAAEBEHEE-

buildings approximated to their fair value as at 31 December 2010.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

14.9¥ BMELERE(Z)

Group (Continued) REE (&
Land and Land and
buildings in - buildings in
Hong Kong Mainland
under  China under Furniture,
medium medium Leasehold fixtures and Motor Plantand  Construction
term leases  term leases improvements  equipment vehicles ~ machinery ~in progress Total
SA BB 4
DofEs  RPEAR
REEREZ FHZLit BE BN%E
THEET kT ES 3 e AE BERR ERIR et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR THT TR TR THL
=t 2 Jik:3
31 December 2009 t=A=t-8
RZZENE
At 31 December 2008 and +ZA=+t-HEk

at 1 January 2009: RZEENE-A—R:

Cost or valuation A fhE 2,837 325,849 47,653 63,606 289,277 136,635 13,051 878,908

Accumulated depreciation and

impairment it ERAE (98) (67,008) (16,793) (47,869)  (119,426) (66,219) - (317,413)

Net carrying amount REFE 2,739 258,841 30,860 15,737 169,851 70,416 13,051 561,495
At 1 January 2009, net of

accumulated depreciation and R=FEAF—A—H"

impairment TNk RHTERAE 2,739 258,841 30,860 15,737 169,851 70,416 13,051 561,495
Additions RE - 6,081 3,625 8,694 15,147 10,417 12,163 56,127
Reclassification ENNE - - = = = 2,768 (2,768) =
Disposals hE = (6,486) = (633) (12,362) (314) - (19,795)
Transfer from properties under  BHBRTEFNZ

development (note 18) (Bi3E18) - - - - - - 94,675 94,675
Transfer to investment properties & ZE &M%

(note 19) (MzE19) - (29,616) - - - - - (29,616)
Write-back of impairment AR = = = = 1,097 = = 1,097
Depreciation provided during

the year TEENERE - (7,810) (10,662) (9,139) (39,373) (9,585) S (76,569)
At 31 December 2009, netof ~ R=ZENEF

accumulated depreciationand  TZA=T—8"

impairment ENRRFHTE RRE 2,739 221,010 23,823 14,659 134,360 73,702 117,121 587,414

RZZENE
At 31 December 2009: TZA=+-H:
Cost or valuation AR E 2,837 288,922 51,278 69,078 263,708 146,795 117,121 939,739
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment 2t & RO E (98) (67,912) (27,455) (544190 (129,349) (73,093) - (352,325)

Net carrying amount REFE 2,739 221,010 23,823 14,659 134,360 73,702 17,121 587,414
Analysis of cost or valuation: ~ FXAS{EEAT :

At cost KA 1,179 128,711 51,278 69,078 263,708 146,795 17,121 777,870

At 2006 valuation “EENEHE 1,658 160,211 - - - - - 161,869

2,837 288,922 51,278 69,078 263,708 146,795 17,121 939,739
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 14. 9% BERRKE(£)
The Group’s land and buildings were revalued at 31 December AEEZ T REFER-ZERFT_A=+—
2006 by Greater China Appraisal Ltd., an independent firm of FHBYEXSERMELEMEETIEARA
professionally qualified property valuers. These land and buildings AETER -RELHWEEFIREBEARHEER
were revalued at their open market values based on their existing EREBR 2 AR ETER-
use.
Had these land and buildings been carried at historical cost less RINZE L R FHRE LKA R &5 -
accumulated depreciation, their carrying amount would have been HEEHES# /472,659,000 T (ZEZNEF:
approximately HK$72,659,000 (2009: HK$74,121,000). 74,121,000/ 7T) ©
Leasehold Furniture Motor
Company FAH improvements and fixtures vehicles Total
HE
MELE  HBARKE AE BmE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TR TR FET
31 December 2010 —2-BEF+-A=1-H
At 1 January 2010, net of RZZE—ZF—F—H &1k
accumulated depreciation BN 119 222 1,371 1,712
Additions RE - 55 1,360 1,415
Depreciation provided
during the year REZHERB (119) (142) (626) (887)
At 31 December 2010, net of R-ZZE—ZEF+-_A=+—8"
accumulated depreciation R R E - 135 2,105 2,240
At 31 December 2010: RZF-FF+-A=t—H:
Cost B AR 593 1,240 4,324 6,157
Accumulated depreciation ZEtITE (593) (1,105) (2,219) (3,917)
Net carrying amount REFE - 135 2,105 2,240
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 14. 9% BERRKE (&)
Leasehold Furniture Motor
Company /N improvements and fixtures vehicles Total
HE
MEEE ERREE "= e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
31 December 2009 ZEEANFFTZA=T+—H
At 1 January 2009, net of RZZEZTNEF—HA—AR"
accumulated depreciation EIHB 2ETITE 238 414 1,129 1,781
Additions NE = 13 671 684
Depreciation provided
during the year REZHERB (119 (205) (429) (753)
At 31 December 2009, net of R-ZZEZNF+_A=+—8"
accumulated depreciation LR RETITE 119 222 1,371 1,712
At 31 December 2009: RZZEZAF+=A=+—H:
Cost B AR 593 1,185 2,964 4,742
Accumulated depreciation ZEtinE (474) (963) (1,593) (3,030)
Net carrying amount fREHE 119 222 1,371 1,712
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B EE
HK$'000
Group rEH THET
Vehicle licences VR R AR
31 December 2010 —E-ZH+ZHA=+-—H
Cost at 1 January 2010, net of RZZE—ZFTF—HA—BZHKA
accumulated amortisation KPR REt#ESH 88,092
Amortisation provided during the year NEE BEHE (7,102)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 & 3,315
At 31 December 2010 RZT—ZTF+-_A=+—H 84,305
At 31 December 2010: R-F-—FF+-A=+—H:
Cost AR 131,784
Accumulated amortisation 25T (47,479)
Net carrying amount FREFE 84,305
31 December 2009 —EENF+=—A=1+—H
Cost at 1 January 2009, net of —EENF—A—BZKRAK
accumulated amortisation %&?Df‘??@a‘f%iﬁ 96,596
Disposals HE (2,556)
Amortisation provided during the year RNEZHHEE (5,948)
At 31 December 2009 RZZEZANF+=A=+—H 88,092
R-IETZNFE+-_A=+—8Bx
At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010: —ET—FTF—H—H:
Cost B 7R 127,071
Accumulated amortisation BT (38,979)
Net carrying amount FREDFE 88,092
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16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. AN LA ERE
Group
rEH
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$"000
THET THET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZERHEE 4,214 4,214
Increase during the year (note 14) F R (FFEE14) 27,706 =
Recognised during the year FRNHER (294) -
Carrying amount at 31 December R+TZR=+—BZKRHEE 31,626 4,214
Current portion included in prepayments, SPATERNRIE  Re R
deposits and other receivables Ho A e W BR SR 2 BN ER B (888) (96)
Non-current portion FERNEAEE 53 30,738 4,118
The leasehold land is held under a medium term lease and is HE T AP BT AIER - AR R B R -

situated in Mainland China.
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17. GOODWILL 17. B8
HK$'000
Group rEH THET
Cost at 1 January 2009, net of R-ZETNF—H-BZRAK-
accumulated impairment KRR REHRE 322,600
Cost and carrying amount RZZEZAF+ZA=+—H2
at 31 December 2009 P 7S % B T B 322,600
At 31 December 2009: RZBEZNE+_A=+—8:
Cost B A 322,600
Accumulated impairment ZRE -
Net carrying amount FRmEFE 322,600
Cost at 1 January 2010, net of R-E—FTF—F—BHZHA
accumulated impairment KANER 2EORE 322,600
Exchange realignment [ H =X 25
Cost and carrying amount R-ZEBE-—ZF+-A=+—HZ
at 31 December 2010 BN K BRTEE 322,625
At 31 December 2010: R=-ZF-FF+=-A=+—-H:
Cost BN 322,625
Accumulated impairment ZERE -
Net carrying amount REDFE 322,625

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill arising from acquisition of non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries has been allocated to the following cash-generating

BERENE
RWEMB AR ZFERBEMELE ZHEE D
EETIReELSENM (BAHREDH)ETRE

units, which are reportable segments, for impairment testing: R

e Property development cash-generating unit; and

e  Property investment cash-generating unit.

The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units have been
determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow

s NMEREBERBATCELEM N
s MERBRASELEM-
ReELBM A NOBHECERESREEA

BitEr AEBBM SRS SRR RS RAT
B EAEEET - EREBEERERER

projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The key assumptions adopted on
growth rates and discount rates used in the value-in-use calculations
are based on management best estimates. The growth rate of 2%
(2009: 2%) is determined by considering both internal and external
factors relating to the relevant segment. The discount rate applied to
the cash flow projections is 12% (2009: 11%).

FIERERAE 2010FFR
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17. GOODWILL (Continued) 17. 88 (&)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key

assumptions on which the recoverable amounts of goodwill is based

BEBENE(F)
EEERGE EHET KOS EAKEZ T E
BREBEMSBAEES TS5 BEREE

would not cause the carrying amounts to exceed its recoverable 8 38 H AT U [B] B o
amounts.
18. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 18. BRERAPWE
Group
AEH
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Land in Mainland China held AR AR R BIRBER R 2 i
under medium term leases, at cost: B -
At beginning of year F1) 6,563,688 7,102,106
Additions NE 2,694,140 591,650
Transfer to completed properties
held for sale EREREGEZEEZRYME (1,209,447) (1,098,361)
Transfer to property, BREEYE HERRE
plant and equipment (note 14) (BFsE14) - (31,707)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 38) s —EE AR (MisE3s) (121,575) -
Exchange realignment DE 54, 78 2 244,030 =
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 8,170,836 6,563,688
Development expenditure, at cost: B EE S RO
At beginning of year F1 2,840,694 2,806,666
Additions RE 4,115,588 2,177,363
Transfer to completed properties
held for sale ERERIESEZEERYME (3,001,713) (2,080,367)
Transfer to property, BEENE KEMRE
plant and equipment (note 14) (HizE14) (63,759) (62,968)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 38) HE—FHHEBRQR (KE38) (1,896) -
Exchange realignment I 5 38 & 100,686 =
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8 3,989,600 2,840,694
12,160,436 9,404,382
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18. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (Continued) 18. BRPYE (&)

Group

rEE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Properties under development
expected to be recovered: TEER AT U (B B R R 4 2

Within one year —FA 4,146,115 3,589,865
After more than one year il —FE 8,014,321 5,814,517
12,160,436 9,404,382

As at 31 December 2010, there were no Group’s properties under
development pledged to secure bank loans granted to the Group
(2009: HK$58,872,000) (note 31(a)(i)).

As at 31 December 2010, the application for certificates of land
in Mainland China held under medium term leases with a net
book value of RMB1,912,396,400 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,249,934,365) was still in progress.

FIERERAE 2010FFR

R-_E—ZTFE+_A=+—H AEESE(_Z
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R=Z—ZTF+-_A=+—HB EEFEARE
1,912,396,4007T (4J 48 % 522,249,934,3657% 7T )
ZUAFREIEARABEARERA 2 T BFE BB
I TH -



Notes to Financial Statements
Br #E R R BT &E

31 December 2010

—TZF+-A=1+—H

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REY X
Group
rTEH
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TAETT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZERHEE 4,105,782 3,913,739
Transfer from property, plant and equipment HBEAME HELRE
(note 14) (HfaE14) - 29,616
Additions NE - 1,223
Net profit from a fair value adjustment N EFHEZAR 595,372 213,773
Reclassified from completed properties BREFEZEEXYE
held for sale BN 40,229 3,141
Disposals & (1,240) (41,496)
Transfer to completed properties held for sale — B EFIERFE 2 BB Y - (14,214)
Exchange realignment M 5 R B 162,009 -
Carrying amount at 31 December R+-ZA=+—RAZEEEAE 4,902,152 4,105,782

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Mainland China
and are held under a medium term lease.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31
December 2010 by Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent firm
of professionally qualified property valuers, at approximately
HK$4,902,152,000 on an open market, existing use basis. The
investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further summary details of which are included in note 39(i)
to the financial statements. The net surplus arising on the revaluation
has been credited to the consolidated income statement.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s investment property with
a net book value of approximately HK$504,518,000 (2009:
HK$395,926,000) was pledged to secure bank loans granted to the
Group (note 31(a) (ii)).

A S8 2 0 A R R A - 3 AR IR 4
HA-

RNEFBZREWEEN - T—TF+_HA=+—
HEBYEXSERMEGLEMEETERER
BRAREAMMBEAMRAZEESHAN
4,902,152,0007 T - L E W) E AL E A HAE T
E=F AEE—THEFBHR B RETME
39() c B AR FEE A AZANERF -

R-ZE—ZTFE+-_A=+—8 2£EEBEDF
{E#9504,518,000/8 75 ( ZZZ M4 : 395,926,000
BIL) ZIEMEEAAEBFERITERZER
(HMtEE31@)(i)) °
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

20. B QA RIKRE

Company
AN
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$"000
THET TET
Unlisted shares, at cost IEEMRRG AR 4,754,518 4,867,605
Due from subsidiaries * JE W B B8 2 A ZRIE 1,219,554 1,215,348
Capital contribution in respect of
employee share-based compensation 1& B CARR 19 7R B0 2 AR AR 3R 3,693 -
5,977,765 6,082,953
Impairment ** B ** (43,635) (43,635)
5,934,130 6,039,318
*  The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and have no & BHEHERARRERERR UEETEKXA M-

fixed terms of repayment. The amounts due from subsidiaries of
HK$1,055,905,000 (2009: HK$1,053,829,543) are interest-free, while
the remaining balance of HK$163,649,000 (2009: HK$161,517,590)
bears interest at rates ranging from 5% to 5.31% (2009: 5% to 5.75% )

per annum.

**  An impairment was recognised for certain unlisted investments and due **

from subsidiaries with carrying amounts of HK$5 million and HK$106

million (before deducting the impairment loss), respectively. There was

no change in the impairment during the current and prior years.

The amounts due from subsidiaries classified under current assets
are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand or within
one year. The carrying amounts of amounts due from subsidiaries

approximate to their fair values.

FIERERAE 2010FFR

JiE U 3 B8 /A &) 2 1,055,905,00078 7T ( =TT N4 :
1,053,829,543% 7T ) KIE AR E * #258163,649,000
BT (ZZEZTNAF:161,517,590/8 L) REFSEE
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Name of subsidiaries

Place of
registration
and operations

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Nominal value of
issued and fully
paid-up capital/

registered capital

20 fIBARKZE (

&)

TEMBARGFEAT:

Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Company

Principal activities

ERTR
i3 HERE/ FRFEEZ
WEARAME Sgw HAMEAREE BRARBEAL FEEHR
2010 2009

Shum Yip Southern Land (Holdings) Mainland China HK$1,702,500,000 100 100 Property development
Co., Ltd. (Note b)

AREEE (RE)BRAF (Kib) P EIAR 1,702,500,000% 7T EZ

Shum Yip Centre Development (Shenzhen) Mainland China HK$40,000,000 100 100  Property development
Co., Ltd. (Notes a & c)

AEFOER (RY)BRAF P EIARE 40,000,000 7T ES
(Bizrake)

Shum Yip Shumkang (Group) Co., Ltd. Mainland China RMB95,500,000 80 80  Provision of transportation
(Note d) services

AERB (RE)BRAF (MiEd) PELARE AR¥95,500,0007C R EH RS

Shum Yip Terra (Holdings) Co., Ltd. Mainland China RMB800,000,000 75.05 75.05  Property development
(Note d)

RERR (RE)RABRAF (MzEd) PR AR #800,000,0007T ES

Shenzhen Terra Aluminum Alloy Works Mainland China RMB10,000,000 75.05 75.05  Aluminum engineering
Co., Ltd. (Notes a & c)

AMERECEIRARAR PRI R AR¥10,000,0007C BAETR
(Bizrake)

Shenzhen Terra Property Management Mainland China RMB5,060,000 75.05 75.05  Property management
Service Co., Ltd. (Notes a & ¢)

RYHERANFERREERAF] B REE AR #5,060,0007 ESERE
(Bizrake)

Wuhan Shum Yip Terra Property Mainland China RMB137,000,000 75.05 75.05  Property development

Development Co., Ltd. (Notes a & c)
REMAZRAEHEREERAR
(Mizake)

AR

AE#137,000,0007C

NEZE
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries

Place of
registration
and operations

Nominal value of
issued and fully
paid-up capital/

registered capital

20 B ARKE (

&)

TEMBARGFEAT:

Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Company

Principal activities

BRTR
AL BRBRA ENEESGZ
WEAREM REEHH HAMEAREE RABEE AL TEER
2010 2009
Shum Yip TaiFu Logistics Group Holdings Mainland China RMB85,966,370 95.37 95.37  Operation of warehouses and
Co., Ltd. (Notes a & ¢) property development
AXZENARERNERAF FEAR AE85,966,3707C REERLMEER
(Mitztakc)
Shum Yip Pengji Holdings Co., Ltd. Mainland China RMB932,050,000 100 100 Property investment and
(Note b) development
REBE (RBE)AERAT (MiEb) AR AR #932,050,0007C NERERER
Shenzhen Pengji Property Management Mainland China RMB20,000,000 100 100 Property management
Services Limited (Notes a & ¢)
RITEENXEERBERDA REAR AE%20,000,0007C NEER
(Ptztakc)
Shenzhen Shum Yip Steel Centre Ltd. Mainland China RMB19,920,000 100 100 Manufacturing of steel products
(Notes a & ¢ )
RIFXIEERAT (MiFake) AR AE19,920,0007C HENSER
Shenzhen Wondershine Residence Mainland China RMB15,000,000 100 100 Property management
Company Limited (Notes a & )
RITEEREXERAT (MiFake) R AR AR 15,000,007 NEER
Shum Yip Investment (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Mainland China US$150,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
(Note b)
AEER (I BERAF (B D) PEARE 150,000,0005 70 RAER
Changsha Pengji Property Limited Mainland China RMB75,000,000 80 80  Property development

(Notes a & ¢)

Y BEBEFRAF (MEake)

FIERERAE 2010FFR

R AR

AEK#75,000,0007C
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Name of subsidiaries

Place of
registration
and operations

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Nominal value of
issued and fully
paid-up capital/

registered capital

20.iBRARKRE (&)

TEMBARGFEAT:

Percentage of equity
interest attributable

to the Company Principal activities

BRTR
AL BRBRA LG
WEAREM REEHH HAMEAREE RABEE AL TEER
2010 2009
Huizhou Pengji Investment Limited Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100 Property investment and
(Notes a & c) development
BMBEREBERAR (MiFake) REAR AE10,000,0007C NERARER
Shum Yip (Shenzhen) Property Management ~ Mainland China RMB30,000,000 100 100 Property management
Limited (Notes a & ¢)
RERE (R NEERBERAF REAR AE%30,000,0007C NEER
(Mztakc)
Dongguan Shum Yip Property Development ~ Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100 100  Property development
Limited (Notes a & ¢)
REMAZFHEBRAR (MiEake) B KR AE10,000,0007C NEER

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the

opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year

or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give

details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes:

a. Indirectly held by the Company

b.  Established in the PRC as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise

c.  Established in the PRC as a domestic enterprise with limited liability

d.  Established in the PRC as a Sino-foreign joint venture enterprise

FERHIEERAYAEELERREEYEY
ERAREEEFEL EEHH I ARANBA
L HERA WA MNER T HESER
ERBR TR -

f

a. HBMARAMEERE

b, REERTANEBER R

¢ REERYABNERELLE

d. RPEBEKZATINEERE
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21. INVESTMENT IN A JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITY 21.

Particulars of the jointly-controlled entity are as follows:

Percentage of

ﬁ}"‘e%ﬂ‘gﬁﬁiﬁﬁ
ERIEBFBENT

the nominal
Nominal value Place of value of ~ The Group’s  The Group’s
of registered registration and  registered  percentage of  percentage of
Name of jointly-controlled entity  capital operations capital ~ voting power  profit sharing Principal activities
fE N S AEH
ML R EXEE FEREE FEENSE
HEEHERER AMEAHE BEhE BA A ZAEDH TEXH
Taizhou Shum Yip Investment RMB100,000,000 Mainland China 51 50 51 land development

Development Limited
(“Taizhou Shum Yip”)

FMTREREEREARAF
(T=MAEE])

AR#100,000,0007T 5 EARE

The Group is entitled to share the operating results, assets and
liabilities of this jointly-controlled entity based on the Group’s
ownership interest.

I

%
BR=%E

B R E

T FE

LA RS A D
BENMBME-

bz KRS E

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s Zl-‘/i@ﬁﬁﬁtt B4R & 5K BRI R 18 2 7 3% [ 12
interest in the jointly-controlled entity which is accounted for using HEEREE M BEERBENT
proportionate consolidation with the line-by-line reporting format is
as follows:
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Share of the jointly-controlled entity’s assets HEEHEEY
and liabilities: é?&,ﬁéﬂa:
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,237 1,491
Current assets mBEE 2,091,872 441,491
Current liabilities mBAE (1,670,422) (329,690)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE (221,808) =
Net assets BEFE 200,879 113,292
Share of the jointly-controlled entity’s results: HEZEGIEE RS
Income uﬁz)\ 82,138 102,908
Expense 53 (673) (1,771)
Tax Bt I8 (20,387) (25,358)
Profit for the year F A A 61,078 75,779

FIERERAE 2010FFR
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 2. BHEATRE
Group Company
rEEH AAF
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET FET
Unlisted shares, at cost JE EMRRD - KA - = 15,133 15,133
Shares listed in Hong Kong,
at cost RER EmIRG - IR - = 920,399 920,399
Share of net assets EIEEEFE 5,136,565 4,799,756 - =
Goodwill on acquisition WEEL ZHE 126,917 126,917 - -
Loans to associates* ool N = & 117,902 107,487 - =
Provision for impairment
(note (a)) BEREE (@) (371,000) (64,000) - =
5,010,384 4,970,160 935,532 935,532
Market value of listed shares LR HE 1,742,002 1,605,042 315,546 384,967

Th
an
un

(a)

The loans to associates are unsecured and have no fixed terms
of repayment. The loans to associates of HK$45,985,000 (2009:
HK$107,487,000) are interest-free, while the remaining balance of
HK$71,917,000 (2009: Nil) bears interest at rates ranging from 5.31% to
6.75% (2009: nil ) per annum.

e loans from associates included in the Group’s other payables
d accruals totalling HK$50,828,000 (2009: HK$43,856,000) are
secured, interest-free and are payable on demand.

As a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment in an equity instrument below its cost is an objective
evidence of impairment. In consideration of the fluctuation in
the share price, management performed impairment testing
for its investments in associates. The recoverable amounts of
the investments in associates have been determined based
on a value-in-use calculation using the Group’s share of the
present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to
be generated by the associates. The cash flow projections of
the associates were made based on financial budgets covering
a five-year period. The key assumptions adopted on growth
rates and discount rates used in the value-in-use calculations
are based on management’s best estimates. Growth rates are
determined by considering both internal and external factors.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 14.5%.

L RTHERARZERAEER BEEEEEESN
PR o 45 T Bt & A 8] 2 B /45,985,000 T (= F
T4 :107,487,0008 70) AR B M TNEH A
71,917,000/ 7T (Z 2T NF : &) REFEN F5.31
EZE6.75E (ZZT NG &)TEAS -

& RRIFT4E T2 BERTIst AR S B 2 H fth fE
A K BT SRIEN » 4858 550,828,0008 T (=&
T N4 : 43,856,0008 ) - BEEH 28 Wik
ERERE -

(a) %ﬁsgﬁ B AnRBEELEEANRKSHE
BARRERA - B RREZ BT R - 57 &
REZKE  EEERENBEARZIREE
TRERH - REE R R ZIRE 2B K& 58
BB ERBERREELEZBRAEED G
fHat 2 A RREFEZREZFEAEER
BE -BEARZESREEABRIERFH
Mz EEEL - EABEEFERMER
ERUBERMNZEEBRIIBEEEREZ
BREGTMET - EREDNEERNIINAREE
FEoREMETEREA 2R ER14.5% ©
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows:

22 BENTRE (&)

TEMERNRFEAT:

Nominal value of

Place of issued and fully Percentage of
Business incorporation/ paid-up capital/  ownership interest attributable
Name of associates structure registration registered capital to the Group Principal activities
R/ BRARAERE/ FEEEELZ
BELARAH XBRE i EMEFEE FARERE DL IRER
2010 2009
Coastal Greenland Limited Corporate Bermuda HK$279,058,000 22,62 22,62 Property development and
(“Coastal Greenland")* investment
BEREZRERAR (THEREZE]): 2R BRE 279,058,000/ 70 NEEERK
Road King Infrastructure Ltd. Corporate Bermuda HK$74,193,000 27.27 27.38  Provision of investment and
(“Road King") ** management of toll roads,
and property development
RYRRARAR ([F)) = 1] BRE 74,193,000/ 7T REREAR I RER
ERURNERE
Shenzhen Tianan Cyber Park Co., Ltd. Corporate PRC US$18,000,000 37.53 37.53  Property investment and
development
AR ZHERARAF A Gl 18,000,000 7 NEBARER
Shenyang Wuai Shumkang Corporate PRC RMB400,000,000 46.925 46.925  Property development
Company Limited (“Wuai") and investment and
transportation station
management
ERAERBEEBUARAA 27l HE AE400,000,0007 NEERREEUR
([RE]) BRUER

None of the associates are audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or

other member firms of the Ernst & Young global network.

BUEE B E R RKEBERKEAMEBARE

KA EBAERE B RBIAERK-

k%

Coastal Greenland is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda and its ordinary shares with a nominal value of HK$0.10
each are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. The principal location of Coastal Greenland’s business is
Mainland China.

Road King is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda and its
ordinary shares with a nominal value of HK$0.10 each are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The principal

location of Road King's business is Mainland China.

FIERERAE 2010FFR
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BEGERERNARETMRIZEREERR]
HERHEEC.I0ETZ EARRBEHERSME
RARERET - ABRERE T ZEXMRE
B RRE -

KO DR AREAMRIZERAR  EEREAE
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22.

23.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other associates would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

All the above associates have been accounted for using the equity
method in these financial statements.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information

22, BMENTRE (£Z)
D rAEERANHATELEBR ISV ENA
A EEEEFEY B AR 2 A E B
LE-BEERA FIHEMBLEAAEEE
AR TR -

NE]

NS

2
i

L EME AREZXSMHERRANS EAER
REITII

TRMLEMBERER B2 ARERE QAR ZH

of the Group’s associates extracted from their financial statements. BEHHE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FH&T
Assets BE 53,742,731 41,607,914
Liabilities 81& 38,018,578 26,083,628
Revenues 1 7= 8,124,198 10,512,181
Profit i ) 962,642 973,763
HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENT 23. B EZEHMRE
Group Company
rEE ¥ N
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHIT
Held-to-maturity investment REZIHEKE
(note 43) (FT5E43) 385,938 383,518 385,938 383,518

On 18 December 2007, the Company purchased from the Hong
Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, an independent
third party, guaranteed senior notes of US$50,000,000 issued by
Coastal Greenland, at a consideration of US$47,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$361,000,000). The guaranteed senior notes
will be due on 8 November 2012 and bear interest at the rate
of 12% per annum. The senior notes are listed on the Singapore
Securities Trading Limited and the investment is classified as a held-
to-maturity investment and measured at amortised cost.

R=ZZZELF+=_A+N\B ARRABILE=
FEBLEELRTEARAANBELIZECRE
%% 17250,000,000 L 2 EIREBEZE KEA
47,000,000 7t (4948 %5 7361,000,0007% 7T.) °
REERBAZEBRER-_ZE——F+—ANEBEZ
H REB12EE - RFBAZBERIINSEES
REGEBRRAA LT MBEBRERSBEAIZTERE
F|H I B AR B SR AT = o
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24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 24, JHHHERE
Group Company
AEE ¥ NN
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FH&T THT FHBT
At fair value: BARE:
Listed equity investments in FEAR B AR RE 2
Mainland China EmERERE 29,657 42,479 - -
Club membership RetpesE 4,357 4,265 1,720 1,720
34,014 46,744 1,720 1,720

During the year, the net loss in respect of the Group’s available-
for-sale investments recognised in other comprehensive income
amounted to HK$14,291,000 (2009: gain of HK$19,774,000).

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted

market prices.

25. OTHER LONG TERM ASSETS
As at 31 December 2010, the balances mainly represented loans to
certain independent third parties and prepayments paid to certain
local government authorities for land acquisition. The carrying
amounts of the loans to independent third parties approximate to

their fair values.

25.

FRAEBREMEEESEPRERZAEEER
&7 EEEEE14,291,00006 T (ZEEHF &
25%%819,774,0005 7T ) °

trEaEREZ AARBENRETSRESE -

HttRMEE
R-Z—ZF+-A=+—B AHEBIER
BEEEMIATETBLE= A2 ERRE
TFHFBAREZBM R ABLE=FEH2
BRZEEERREALERE-

26. INVENTORIES 26. 7€

Group

rEE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FHBT
Raw materials JR A 29,067 22,633
Work in progress 2 dn 17,044 32,343
Finished goods BUEY 14,178 8,228
60,289 63,204

FIERERAE 2010FFR
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27. TRADE RECEIVABLES

27. EWBER K

Group

rEE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Trade receivables JE W BR 3K 237,615 558,716
Impairment B (38,166) (25,780)
199,449 532,936

Under normal circumstances, the Group does not grant any credit
terms to its customers. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables and to minimise credit risk. In
view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is
no significant concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the contract date and net of provision, is

EERBAT AEBETERETFPREEMEES
H o R B RROEE HORW [ 7 FEMGRIB IR F5 B AR 42
HEREEERR -EX ERREARAEEZE
WERRFRZETEZRZ TP MASE L &

BESEHZEERAR - BRERRA TSR -

R & R AS %) B 5 E W NER B8 2 et R
V)

R BRI DT AT -

as follows:

Group

rEE
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Within one year —FR 147,272 409,575
One to two years —FEMFER 16,947 118,986
Two to three years MEZ=FRX 35,230 4,375
199,449 532,936
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27. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 27. BUBRER (&)

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables
are as follows:

FEM RN 2 BB BB IT

Group

TEE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FH T
At 1 January ®—A—H 25,780 38,068
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) ERERZBEEE (HFe6) 14,110 14,939
Impairment losses reversed (note 6) BEE 2 REEE (HFe6) (2,861) (27,227)
Exchange realignment M 55 A B 1,137 =
38,166 25,780

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade receivables
is a provision for individually impaired trade receivables of
HK$38,166,000 (2009:25,780,000) with a carrying amount before
provision of HK$80,749,000 (2009:HK$43,078,000).

An aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered to
be impaired as follows:

ALMENERBREREERAENEREZ
JiE Us B 7K BB #838,166,000/8 7T ( —Z T E S1L4F ¢
25,780,000/ 7T ) * 7% FE W AR SR B B AT 2 AR T
{E7/480,749,000/ 70 ( ZZFZ .4 : 43,078,000/
JT) °

A IR ORUE 2 FE U AR SR BREe D AT 20 TS

Group

TEE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
Neither past due nor impaired AR 38 2R 7T AR OB (B 145,876 375,243
Less than one year past due BEAD R —F 10,990 140,395
156,866 515,638

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

FIERERAE 2010FFR

R EA TR AR B 2 FE W R R B8 e 2 B FT R 2 R
SEFPAM MKRFOBETRBRLE-

EBMERREZ EBRERERZIFEH TP
Bl ZERPEAEEREA RIFBELE KR
BELSR ARZSFERIERARTEBERE
BESNERE R 28URE AR B EETRRE
FEAREFERELBERB ARE R FTHER
WS A EMERmRELEMERET R -
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28.

29.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 28. A FIE &R HbEWRIE
Group Company
rEE A F]
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHET FHATT
Prepayments TE RIE 186,448 = 186,448 -
Deposits and other receivables %% K H b & W 508 496,575 681,068 8,785 9,151
Due from a jointly-controlled MY — ) Hk A 13 ) & 8
entity A 670,619 226,503 - =
1,353,642 907,571 195,233 9,151

Included in the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other receivables
are amounts due from the Group’s jointly-controlled entity of
HK$670,619,000 (2009: HK$226,053,000), which are unsecured
and have no fixed terms of repayment, and bear interest at rates
ranging from 4.37% to 6.39% per annum.

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial
assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which
there was no recent history of default.

RNEB 2 FEMNRIE 2 e R H A fEWHIEFR B 1E
JE W 7N 52 B 2 2[R 2= 1) B8 5K 1H /670,619,000
T (ZZFZTNF :226,053,000870) ' ZEREE
R R A E E R SR - RIEFF4.37EE6.39

B EF S

FREERABIABE A LARE L SB

BERIHESRBR ZEWERIER/-

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 2. ERBEREBEAABHEZSREE
PROFIT OR LOSS
Group Company
AEME ¥ NN
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$/000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FET FHETT
Listed equity investments, at iR ERE RTE
market value (note a): (H¥5Ea) :
Hong Kong BB 16,693 13,305 16,693 13,305
Mainland China A A i 2,183 1,086 - =
Investment in warrants of an Bt N R 2 RREBRE
associate (note b) (KtsEb ) 1,688 7,119 1,688 7,119
20,564 21,510 18,381 20,424
Notes: M5 :

(@) The above equity investments as at 31 December 2009 and 2010 were
classified as held for trading.

(b)  On 18 December 2007, the Company purchased from an independent
third party up to 37,207,500 warrant shares issued by Coastal Greenland
at a consideration of HK$27,000,000. According to HKAS 39, the
warrants were recorded as derivatives, which should be measured at
fair value at each period end. The revaluation loss of HK$5,431,000
(2009: gain of HK$4,743,000) was recorded in the consolidated income
statement in the current year.

(@ LtHRR-ZEZAER-_Z—ZTF+-_A=+—HZ

b R=ZZFEZFTLtFF+_A+NA AX2FURKRE
27,000,000/8 L ME Y B = H B ER SRR E %
12 %%37,207,5000 RBIEFRMD - RIFESE
FTZERISE395E  RREFEIIASTET R - WHNE
HERBRANERTE - NFEE(EE185,431,000
BT (ZETNE : URz54,743,0008 7T ) B ALRA W
K ©

SHENZHEN INVESTMENT LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010



142

Notes to Financial Statements
BY #E R R BT &E

31 December 2010

—T-ZF+-A=1+—H

30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 30 RERBREEEY

Group Company

AEE ¥ N
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET T FHEx FH&T
Cash and bank balances Re RRITEEER 5,822,482 4,591,748 1,080,712 98,780
Time deposits TE Bi7F 3K 422,981 1,842,489 4,893 1,308,023
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY 6,245,463 6,434,237 1,085,605 1,406,803

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to
HK$5,128,173,000 (2009: HK$5,006,596,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

FIERERAE 2010FFR
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS

31.EFERITER

2010 2009
Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest interest
Group rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
EBaH ERAH
AEE FE(E) Ep THER Fl=(E) Ealp i THL
Current ok
Secured BER 5.35 2011 29,749 5.35-5.841 2010 266,549
Unsecured B 3.9825-7.63, 2011 9,585,733 4.248-5.94, 2010 2,995,714
HIBOR+0.42- HIBOR+0.42-
HIBOR+0.8, HIBOR+0.8
LIBOR+0.48
FRBTRE BRRITAE
17 8.40.42- E+0.42-
EARITA%E BRRITAE
FE+0.8, F5+0.8
wBEBTRE
1754048
9,615,482 3,262,263
Non-current E35ik |
Secured BHER 5.35 2012-2017 168,576 =
Unsecured B 4.1301-5.6, 2012-2014 3,004,951 4.2-5.76, 2011-2014 7,704,433
HIBOR+0.7, LIBOR+0.48,
LIBOR+2 HIBOR+0.42-
HIBOR+0.7
FRETRE BBRITRE
FE+0.7, 84048,
wBEBTRE BRRITRAE
FE+2 #8+0.42-
BRRITAR
FE+0.7
3,173,527 7,704,433
12,789,009 10,966,696
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS (Continued)

3L RBRITER(#F)

2010 2009
Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest interest
Company rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BEREH EBRAN
YN FE(E) E) THER FE(E) 55 FAT
Current ok
Unsecured EER HIBOR+0.42- 2011 4,619,235  HIBOR+0.42- 2010 500,000
HIBOR+0.8, HIBOR+0.8
LIBOR+0.48
FRETRE BBRITAE
17 8.+0.42- 1 8+0.42-
ERBTRE BEHRTRE
E+0.8, #E+0.8
RARITEE
84048
Non-current 78
Unsecured EIH R HIBOR+0.7, 2012-2014 1,078,003  LIBOR+0.48, 2011-2013 4,705,204
LIBOR+2 HIBOR+0.42-
HIBOR+0.7
ERBTRE mEBTRE
FE+0.7, FE+0.48,
RARITEE BBRITAS
FE+2 #8+0.42-
BARITRZE
F5+0.7
5,697,238 5,205,204
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS (Continued)

GTERITER (E)

Group Company
rEE A H
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THET FTERT THET
Analysed into: DT
Bank loans repayable: JEEE 2 RITER
Within one year —FR" 9,615,482 3,262,263 4,619,235 500,000
In the second year A 1,260,172 6,109,396 - 4,406,075
From third to fifth years —FERER 1,863,774 1,595,037 1,078,003 299,129
Over five years RBENUE 49,581 - - -
12,789,009 10,966,696 5,697,238 5,205,204
(@ Bank loans amounting to HK$198,325,000 (2009: () ©%A198,325,0008 L (=N F:
HK$266,549,000) were secured by: 266,549,000 7T) Z RITERANU T EEE

(i) none of the Group’s properties under development (2009:
HK$58,872,000) (note 18); and

(ii) certain of the Group’s investment properties with a net
book value of approximately HK$504,518,000 (2009:
HK$395,926,000) (note 19).

Except for the bank loans equivalent to approximately
HK$4,547,237,359 (2009: HK$3,755,203,650) and HK$1,150,000,000
(2009: HK$1,450,000,000), which are denominated respectively
in United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars, all borrowings
of the Group are in RMB.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s
borrowings approximate to their fair values, which have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at the
prevailing interest rates.

A

(i) WEAAEBMZERDPE(ZZZ
L4 :58,872,000/8 7t (Ki=E18) ) 1K
&

(i) ANEEIRAF(EX504,518,000% 7T ( =
T F H, 4 :395,926,000/8 7T) 2 & T %
B (K19 -

B T A E R 44,547,237,3598 L (ZEZ A,
% :3,755,203,6507% 7t ) & 1,150,000,0007
7t (ZZZT A4 : 1,450,000,0008 78 ) Z BT

BERD BIAETT RATEEIN MERERZ
f%%i@LM\EM%JrE

AEERARRZEEZ RAEEERAE
1BE - TIERTME GBI RR S REET
BB ESH -
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32. TRADE PAYABLES 32. ENERRX
An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting ¥R E BAR RS E B B 5t & 2 BN R Z Rie
period, based on the payment due date, is as follows: DT
Group
rEH
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
Within one year —FR 88,548 39,684
One to two years —FEMER 8,638 5,872
Two to three years MEZ=FA 2,672 3,333
Over three years =FLAE 41,867 39,361
141,725 88,250
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing. JE T BR RN 5T BRI o
33. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 33.HMEAREBERESER
Group Company
rEH PN
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FHBT FET FHBT
Receipt in advance AW GRIE 1,979,594 2,362,626 - =
Other payables E i jE 5 3B 1,703,017 1,358,852 114,250 99,475
Accruals 45! 567,206 765,998 25,732 18,610
4,249,817 4,487,476 139,982 118,085
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34. DEFERRED TAX 34, IEEBL R
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year AEERERBEBEREEZEHWT

are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities: BEFHIARE
Group rE
2010
Fair value
adjustment
arising from  Accelerated
acquisition of tax
Withholding  Revaluation subsidiaries  depreciation
tax  of investment Revaluation Revaluation and  on investment
on dividend properties of assets  of investments associates properties Total
WERE
DARBE RENFZ
REM* AEAEER MEBE
RERNHK Efh BEEfR REEf AAERE i1 it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET TEL TET TR TET
At 1 January 2010 R-Z-2&-—f—A 51,387 484,721 12,845 10,550 40,218 102,938 702,659
Deferred tax charged to the
income statement REENREERMRZ
during the year (note 10) EIERHIA (FiE10) 46,390 148,843 = = = 12,424 207,657
Deferred tax charged to equity KEERERPARZ
during the year EEHE - - - (3,229) - - (3,229)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 38)  {H&E—FH B2 (Hi738) - - = = (5,056) = (5,056)
Exchange differences EXEE 2,426 25,044 418 331 175 5,090 33,484
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZB-BE+ZA=+-H
at 31 December 2010 ZEEHERELE 100,203 658,608 13,263 7,652 35,337 120,452 935,515
Company NN
Withholding tax
on dividend
R EFEHB
HK$’000
TET
At 1 January 2010 WZZ—-ZF—-H—H 7,982
Deferred tax charged to the income statement
during the year REZR W R N Z BT IR (7,982)

R=-ZE—ZF+-A=+—-H=2
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2010 EEHBEAEHAR =
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34. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 34 EEBIH (&
Deferred tax assets: RERRIEE E
Group RE
2010
Losses
available for
offsetting
against
future
taxable Tax effect
profits of LAT Others Total
A] A 85
RRERB LHEEHR
wmAZBE ZHRBERE Hft &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET THET THET FHET
At 1 January 2010 R-ZE-—ZF—f—H 28,502 209,570 24,570 262,642
Deferred tax credited/(charged)
to the income statement AEEFHA/ (Wa@EF M)
during the year (note 10) ZIEERITE (FizE10) (6,937) 62,568 3,785 59,416
Exchange differences BE 5 =% 848 9,073 369 10,290
R-B-2F
Gross deferred tax assets +=A=+-8%2
at 31 December 2010 EEHEEEHASE 22,413 281,211 28,724 332,348
Deferred tax liabilities: BERIEE G :
Group rE
2009
Fair value
adjustment
arising from  Accelerated
acquisition of tax
Withholding Revaluation subsidiaries  depreciation
tax  of investment Revaluation Revaluation and  on investment
on dividend properties of assets  of investments associates properties Total
B B R R
RARKE  REWEZ
REME RAEEZ MEHE
REEMH Bff BEEfR RESBMR  AAERE & At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL FHL FAEL FAL FAL FAL TERL
At 1 January 2009 RZZZNF—A—H 42,722 435,881 12,845 1,292 36,782 92,605 622,127
Deferred tax charged to
the income statement during AEEYHRTPARZ
the year (note 10) BREHA (H3E10) 8,665 48,840 - - 3,436 10,333 71,274
Deferred tax charged to equity REERETMRZ
during the year EEH A - - - 9,258 - - 9,258
Exchange differences ERER - - - - - - -
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZZEZAF+ZA=1—-H
at 31 December 2009 ZERBAAEAR 51,387 484,721 12,845 10,550 40,218 102,938 702,659
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34. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 34 EEBIE (£)
Company KA T

Withholding tax

on dividend
REFEMNBE
HK$000
FHET
At 1 January 2009 RZZTZAFE—-—HA—H 42,722
Deferred tax charged to the income statement
during the year REFE R TR Z R ER IR (34,740)
R=FBAF+-A=+—HZ
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2009 BEERIBEEERE 7,982
Deferred tax assets: BIETIAE EE -
Group rEH
2009
Losses
available for
Timing offsetting
differences against future
on sales taxable Tax effect
recognition profits of LAT Others Total
Al R 84
HEEWR  ARERD  LwEEHR
ZEE ENZER ZHBRE HA CH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET FET FET FTET
At 1 January 2009 R-ZZZNF—HA—H 12,275 10,899 119,071 19,926 162,171
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to ~ ANFFEFT AlzEER
the income statement during the (KamkPHR)Z
year (note 10) BIERIE (MiEE10) (12,275) 17,603 90,499 4,644 100,471
Exchange differences PE 5 =58 - - - - -
R=TEAE
Gross deferred tax assets +ZA=+—H2
at 31 December 2009 ERHIREERE - 28,502 209,570 24,570 262,642

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$220,291,000
(2009: HK$437,952,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose. The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
HK$105,088,000 (2009: HK$325,654,000). Accumulated losses
amounting to HK$3,736,000, HK$5,351,000, HK$18,818,000,
HK$26,512,000 and HK$50,671,000 as at 31 December 2010
will expire in 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015 respectively, for
offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen
in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for years and it is not
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised.

REBREB 2B IEEEA220,291,000% 7T
(ZZ TN :437,952,000/ 7T) » 0] F 11K 84
EEXBB AT ZRRERBGEN - NEERF
B oK BE 2 BB 18 A£105,088,0008 L (Z 2 F
JLEF 325,654,000 L) - R=_ZT—FTF+=A
=t+—H%% 43,736,000/ 7T * 5,351,000 7T *
18,818,000/ 7T ~26,512,00078 7T 550,671,000/
TZEAERED IR ——F T —=F-
TE T FER T -RFIE A
IR RIERF R - AR ZEBRIREEIES
FZHBAR  MAISEIE RN ] EE) AIAKERE
ARBE A MW ERZEERRRECRIBEEE -
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34. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 34 EEBE (£)

Distributions of dividends from subsidiaries established in Mainland
China to Hong Kong investors are subject to a 5% withholding tax
according to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law. The requirement
is effective from 1 January 2008. As at 31 December 2010, the
Group recognised a deferred tax liability of HK$100,203,000 (2009:
HK$51,387,000) in respect of the withholding tax on future dividend
distribution by these PRC subsidiaries.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

BRI REMERE  PREAMHEARIRET
BEBREEZRBABMN %2 BT L EB
—EEN\F—A—HRBRER - R=_ZT—ZF+=A
=+ —H AEEMRZETEKHB QA R®RKEK
B IRFT# 4,2 BT #EFR100,203,000% 7T (=
TZTNF 51,387,000 ) ZELEFBEE -

AR E) AT E R 2 BB B B A A R AT 1S R
‘'R

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. R A
Shares % 5 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Authorised: VERE ¢
5,000,000,000/% ( === 1.4 :
5,000,000,000 (2009: 5,000,000,000) 5,000,000,0000% )
ordinary shares of HK$0.05 (2009: F I EEO0.05/8 T
HK$0.05) each (ZEZNF:0.0587m) 2 EBEIR 250,000 250,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRARE
3,536,568,090/% (=T Z J1.4F :
3,536,568,090 (2009: 3,527,835,090) 3,527,835,0900% )
ordinary shares of HK$0.05 (2009: FAREE0.05% T
HK$0.05) each (ZEZNF:0.05870) 2 EBIR 176,828 176,392

During the year, the movements in share capital were as follows:

(@) The subscription rights attaching to 8,733,000 share options
were exercised at subscription prices ranging from HK$1.088
to HK$1.330 per share, resulting in the issue of 8,733,000
shares of HK$0.05 each for a total cash consideration, before
expenses, of HK$10,832,000. An amount of HK$2,939,000 was
transferred from the share option reserve to the share premium
account upon the exercise of the share options.

FIERERAE 2010FFR

FR-RAEBMT

(a) 8,733,000 FEAREFMM REEE ZER
1.088 BT EFIR1.330B T A E 2 ERITE
E L BEARINBRFA S 2 838 K 1E10,832,000
Y& 7T M #178,733,0000% B AR E1E0.058 70 2
A& 17 o & %8 42,939,000 7T 1A 17 {5 f& AR #E 14
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35. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 35. A& (&)
A summary of the transactions during the year with reference to 2Z P ARARBEBITRAZH 2 FARZH
the above movements in the Company’s issued share capital is as W
follows:
Number Issued Share
of shares share premium
in issue capital account Total
E®T
ROHE ERTRA B 12 5% B R et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2009 RZZZNE—HA—H 3,213,295,090 160,665 4,278,677 4,439,342
Issue of shares ELalh3n) 300,000,000 15,000 1,101,000 1,116,000
Share options exercised ?195 i iz 14,540,000 727 23,477 24,204
Share issue expenses B 17 2175 2 = = (18,282) (18,282)
At 31 December 2009 and RZZETNF+=ZA=+—H
1 January 2010 r—E—FT&—HA—H 3,527,835,090 176,392 5,384,872 5,561,264
Issue of shares BITR G 3,527,835,090 176,392 5,384,872 5,561,264
Share options exercised (a) TEBIRE @) 8,733,000 436 13,335 13,771
Share issue expenses R BETHX = = (10) (10)
At 31 December 2010 R-ZZE-ZF+-A=+—H 3,536,568,090 176,828 5,398,197 5,575,025
Share options BRE

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options
issued under the scheme are included in note 36 to the financial

statements.

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include any employee or director
(including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
director) of any member of the Group, or any employee, partner
or director of any business consultant, joint venture, financial
adviser and legal adviser of any member of the Group, as absolutely
determined by the board of directors. The Scheme became effective
on 5 June 2002 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, shall
be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from that date, after
which period no further options will be issued but in all other
respects the provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full force and
effect. The remaining life of the Scheme as at 31 December 2010

was one and a half years.

36.

ARARIERESE LR B ZA & E BT BE
GRS R KM 536

fB IR R Rt &

ARERAE —RBEREE ([%EH8]])  RER
SEEBRIIEHER G ER2EBE RHITE
LRzt B A ERSEEBEASEEM
KRERARZEERES (BERTT IFATRIBIL
FERMITESE) RAEKEEMAKE QB ZEMEE
B AR VBERRERERZER B
HREE OHEES2RART ZIER 2T
“ERNARRER kR IEWBUR K AEIERT - DAY
ZETEIHNE B THEAFR - ERBERMR
AN g B M ERERE  BEMAEMITHE %
FEMGERDAE TR - RZE-—ZF+ A
=t+—B BB TARMR—F+-
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of ordinary shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date of approval
of the Scheme unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from
its shareholders. Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating such
10% limit. Notwithstanding the above, the maximum number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30% of the
shares in issue from time to time. The 10% limit was refreshed by an
ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting held on 12 June 2006, which enabled the grant of further
options to subscribe for up to 250,271,396 shares, representing
10% of the shares in issue as at 12 June 2006. As at the date of this
annual report, the total number of shares available for issue under
the Scheme was 192,531,396 (including options for 98,778,000
shares (after refreshment) and 3,400,000 shares (before refreshment)
that have been granted but not yet lapsed or exercised) which
represented 5.44% of the issued share capital of the Company.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Scheme that
is the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the total number of shares in issue.

The period under which an option may be exercised will be
determined by the board of directors at their absolute discretion and
notified by the directors to each grantee as being the period during
which an option may be exercised, and shall expire no later than
the 10th anniversary of the date upon which the option is granted
and accepted in accordance with the Scheme. Unless otherwise
determined by the board and specified in the offer letter at the time
of offer, there is no minimum period for which an option must be
held before the option can be exercised.

An option is open for acceptance for a period of 28 days from the
date of offer. The amount payable on acceptance of an option is
HK$1. The full amount of exercise price for the subscription for
shares has to be paid upon the exercise of an option.

FIERERAE 2010FFR

36. BIRESTE (&)

BRIEAR R B R STt - BRI EBEITERE
ZaT 8 R AN A B A E At B AR AT B 2 BB AR
REMAgEE T2 EMmARE B ERABBBNILE
ZiTElE BB RITROBEZ10%  RIBZTE
RN B2 B AR 7% & Sh UL 5T A FZ 10%R 58 ©
iR ] BB EITER B XA 8 RARQ AMER
HL b B AR 42 51 B 3% T AS T M8 2 1 R AT M R AR A
AREBITZIRDEE LRABHBBTRD T
BRAD B2 30% ° 3% 10% EREIE—TT R F XA
+ToARTHRFEFAS ERERBHLRER
HERE R BNA] B R E250,271,396 8 AR (0
WERE HER-_ZEFA+-BHNE%
1TRR1D10% A 3R A 8 - ARIEZ AT 817 T 31T
Z R 1D 48 2192,531,3960% (BIEE HFH B R
KM TTE 2 AR E598,778,000/% 15 (FE #71%)
%3,400,000/% A% 17 (EE T AT) BEARAE) - (H AR A A
BTN 25.44% ©

BR2EEREZEAESO RN LR BRTT
EREM2EAREEFE2EEZ2EBRE (&2
BB AT M RAT(E Z P AR ) T 317 R i 31T
2R e TNEBEEBEITROBEZ1% -

BREZATEARMESTSE2RRE LHE
FRAMZARA MEBTEMRAREZE
REBRER L RERAE R R0BEFE B Al
Em-BIEEETSRERERDBRETNE T
Bt EE - BREITEBREAN TR UERE
BRENRERR -

BERETEERHEAEN - T ARANEZRE
BEMBRER A NRIENET - BBRO 2176
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise price shall be a price determined by the board of
directors and notified to a participant and shall be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s daily quotation sheet on the date
of offer of grant, which must be a business day, (ii) a price being
the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of offer of the grant,
and (iii) the nominal value of a share in the Company.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme
during the year:

36. BRRESTE ()
EEREEeEERBASEE (THEEASD
BATZH&SE: ORBELEER (KNEAARYEAR)
EEEBARSFARRAEBRERMAZBR
HRTE: (VR EEREE AN EALYERESS

E ZRARRRE B RERAE 2B KT

44 AN X
fE R

BF9E: RiARRRN ZHEHE-

VAT 72310 6 PR B8 %t 381 7 1) AR 7T 152 22 P A A

2010 2009

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price of options

per share per share

HK$ HK$

SR mEE Bz niE
FHYTEE BREHA FHTEE FEIRES R

BT BIT
At 1 January ®n—A—H 4.2072 70,713,000 3.6924 85,923,000
Granted during the year RERNE L 2.4074 97,878,000 - -
Exercised during the year RERTTHE 1.2404 (8,733,000) 1.2979  (14,540,000)
Lapsed during the year RERKR 4.7680  (57,680,000) 1.3300 (670,000)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 2.4201 102,178,000 4.2072 70,713,000

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share
options exercised during the year was HK$3.159 per share (2009:
HK$2.071 per share).

RERITE 2 BRHERTE B2 EFHRES
FRE31598 L (ZETNFE  BFR2.0718 ) °
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 36. BB ECHE (&)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options IR EHIR M ARTE 2 BB A 2 1T (R (B R T
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T :
2010 2010
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE 1TEE~ TREHE
HK$ per share
BRERT
3,400,000 2.1650 29-5-2006 to 28-5-2011
CEEARFRA-TABE=ZE——FHA=+N\H
900,000 4.7680 4-7-2007 to 3-7-2012
—EEtFtANBE=-2—=-5tA=H
93,862,000 2.3900 19-7-2012 to 18-7-2015
ZE--HFtA+HNBE=ZE-AFEtA+NH
4,016,000 2.8140 19-7-2012 to 18-7-2015

—E-—FtA+hAE-E-AFtA+NA

102,178,000
2009 2009
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
B RER R TEE" 175 HAA
HK$ per share
BRET
3,233,000 1.0880 18-5-2005 to 17-5-2010
—ETRFRA+NBE=ZE—ZTFRAA+tH
5,500,000 1.3300 9-3-2006 to 8-3-2011
—EERF=ANBE=ZE—F=ANH
3,400,000 2.1650 29-5-2006 to 28-5-2011
TEERFRA-TABE-ZE——FAA-T+/\H
19,393,333 4.7680 4-7-2007 to 3-7-2012
—EEtF+tAlNBE_E——FtA=H
19,593,333 4.7680 4-7-2008 to 3-7-2012
—EEN\FLtANBE=-ZE—=—FtHA=H
19,593,334 4.7680 4-7-2009 to 3-7-2012
—EENFLtANBE=ZE—=—FtA=H
70,713,000
*  The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of * BRETEEARBMHRSAIREITRARFRA
rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share Z H AR B (SR 2 o
capital.
The fair value of the share options granted during the year was & NPT % BB IR HE 2 A 70 1B /365,461,000 7T (&
HK$65,461,000 (HK$0.6688 each). The Group recognised a share 1%0.6688%TT) - AEERBEE—_ZT—ZTF+_HA
option expense of HK$10,661,000 (2009: 4,918,721) during the year =+—HIEFEEERERERRX10,661,000%
ended 31 December 2010. T (ZZZNF 1 4,91872187T) °
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36. BRRESTE ()
FERFREUABRAL A ZBRERAE REE
BEIR N E—SF AT R (s 8 R 5B
BRI R G TR 2 8

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year
was estimated as at the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

19 July 2010** 9 December 2010**
ZE-ZELRTAE" ZE-ZEtZARE"

Dividend yield (%) R B E % (%) 6.75 6.75 6.75 5.90 5.90 5.90
Expected volatility (%) TEHDR B8 (%) 61.02 61.02 61.02 60.08 60.08 60.08
Risk-free interest rate (%) /& 1 % (%) 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.47 1.47 1.47
Expected life of options

(year) HHBERESS (F) 5 5 5 5 5 5
Exercise price

(HK$ per share) 76 E (BRET) 239 239 2.39 2.81 2.81 2.81
Stock price on date of grant 1% {ti A & 2 ik (&

(HK$ per share) (BRET) 237 237 237 271 2.71 2.71

**  Options will be exercisable in the following manner:

Maximum proportion of options exercisable

AT ERE IR R & S LE I

* BBIRRERIR T AT

Exercise period

TEMME

For the batch granted on 19 July 2010
HR_Z-—ZFLATABERLZEHD

40% 2nd year from the date of grant of options to 3rd year from the date of
grant of options
BEREEREEIEAE _FEERUBRES BRFE=F
70% 3rd year from the date of grant of options to 4th year from the date of
grant of options
BRUBREZARAE=FEARLBREE QR ENF
100% 4th year from the date of grant of options to 5th year from the date of

For the batch granted on 9 December 2010
HR_Z-—ZF+_ANBRHZHED

grant of options

BRNBEREZAEAENFEAREBREE REAFSHSF

40% 1st year and 222 days from the date of grant of options to 2nd year
and 222 days from the date of grant of options
BREBEREEHREAE - FX22HZEREEREEHEFEZ
FX222R8
70% 2nd year and 222 days from the date of grant of options to 3rd year
and 222 days from the date of grant of options
BREBREEHEAE_FX202AZEREEREEBEFE=
FX222H
100% 3rd year and 222 days from the date of grant of options to 4th year

and 222 days from the date of grant of options
BERHEREE ARG E=FX222BZaREBERES BEFEN
FX222H
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36.

37.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data over
the past year and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns
that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that
the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also
not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

The 8,733,000 share options exercised during the year resulted in
the issue of 8,733,000 ordinary shares of the Company and new
share capital of HK$436,000 and share premium of HK$13,335,000
(before issue expenses), as further detailed in note 35 to the financial
statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 102,178,000
share options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full
of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 102,178,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of HK$5,109,000 and share premium of HK$242,175,000
(before issue expenses).

As at the date of this report, options carrying rights to subscribe for
102,178,000 shares remain outstanding and yet to be exercised,
which represented approximately 2.89% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.

RESERVES

(@) Group
The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 63 to 64 of the
financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for sino-foreign
joint venture enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries and associates in Mainland China has been

transferred to the statutory reserve which is restricted as to use.

FIERERAE 2010FFR

36.

37.

BRETE (F)

BIERAARAIRBE —FREHE AU
fERITIEER 2 1513 - FHDK 1B BB 1L R B ¥ K
KRB AIRBIEMOBR TRYREELE

TERARERITET ARLME R B BREN -

oy

AN BF S IR R N FE3SFTE — A A FERITE
8,733,00017 & iR # & B 3 17 A< A 718,733,000
B @ AR FTAR A 436,000 T & P& 10 i (B
13,335,000/ 70 ( RIOBREEITHZ) ©

R EBR - iREZE & AN 2 F1H102,178,000
MDERESRTE- BRERE 2 ARG BRAR
BRI ERMRTEZERES R FEETRE
4h102,178,0000% A8 2 7] 2 & i@ AR - 38 h0 AR X
5,109,000/ 7T & Bk 74 {E242,175,00074 7T (K30
BREEITRL) ©

EARE TIZ B E - AT 32 88102,178,0008% A% 17
(EARABRZBEBEITRMD#2.89% ) 2 BB % E
Ty ARREITE -

e

@@ F&£H
AREAEERBEFEZHBECBRAE
BIRBBRERFIEAR RSB E TR
I

RIBPING BB ZBRDED R AEE
A AP B K BE 2 B /88 28 B e Bt 8 8 ) 2 88 0 e
NEBE=BRERSE ZEERE-
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37. RESERVES (Continued)

37.%E (&)

(b) Company (b) AAF
Share Capital Share
premium  redemption option Retained
account reserve reserve profits Total
B BRE
IR 105 8 R i (1] REB R BE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
P £ TET TET TET TET THET
RZZENEF
At 1 January 2009 —A—H 4,278,677 2,036 43,942 182,233 4,506,888
Total comprehensive AEE2ENR
income for the year Fk] - - - 578,124 578,124
Issue of shares BITHRN 1,101,000 - - - 1,101,000
Share issue expenses B B1TH X 35 (18,282) - = (18,282)
Share options exercised I RE R 35 23,477 - (5,333) = 18,144
Share options lapsed B Rz Bk - - (240) 240 =
Equity-settled share option ~ BARRAZ .2
expense FBIRER X 36 - - 4,919 = 4,919
Interim 2009 dividend “ERNETHBRE 12 - - = (161,041)  (161,041)
Adjustment to prior year's  FFEREKREZ
final dividend i 12 - - - (15,674) (15,674)
Proposed final BE_ZTNEF
2009 dividend REGHR S 12 - = - (246,948)  (246,948)
RZZTNEF
At 31 December 2009 +-A=+—H 5,384,872 2,036 43,288 336,934 5,767,130
Total comprehensive AERE2ERE
income for the year k] - - 368,387 368,387
Share issue expenses R BAITR X 35 (10) - - - (10)
Share options exercised 1T AR 35 13,335 - (2,939) - 10,396
Share options lapsed BRM 2 BkE - = (38,125) 38,125 -
Equity-settled share option ~ PARRAZ 2
expense B RER 36 = = 10,661 = 10,661
Interim 2010 dividend —T-TERHRS 12 - - - (247,560)  (247,560)
Adjustment to prior year's FERBREZ
final dividend HE 12 - - - (612) (612)
Proposed final BE-_T—T4F
2010 dividend REBE 12 - - - (247,560)  (247,560)
R-Z2-2F
At 31 December 2010 +=ZA=+-H 5,398,197 2,036 12,885 247,714 5,660,832
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37. RESERVES (Continued)
(b) Company (Continued)
The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payment
transactions in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount
will either be transferred to the share premium account when
the related options are exercised, or be transferred to retained
profits when the related options lapsed.

38. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY
On 19 April 2010, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party incorporated in Mainland
China to dispose of its 100% equity interests in Huizhou Zhongkai
Venture Plaza Development Company Limited (2 {H1s 8] % E %
BEREAMRAA) (“Zhongkai”) for a cash consideration of RMB198

million. The disposal was completed in November 2010.

Net assets of Zhongkai on the disposal date were as follows:

37.f%E (&)

(b) AATR (&)
BRERELFBEERLEMRITEZ BRE
RAE E-FFEHRRPEIRERME2.450
BROINRZ Sz @ BEK - 22 BB N A EE
REETREEREERMNEERINEHE
PR R s R B R B A -

38. HE— KB AT

R=ZZ—ZTFMA+NH A& EER A R
R ZBYE =% EEHHE UEEEIMNMF
SRIEEBERARAR ([MH1E]) 2220 -
HELKEAARK198,000,0007T HER T —
TE+— A%

RHERMZMIEEEFEI TN

2010
Notes HK$'000
Bt TERT

Net assets disposed of: HEFEE
Property, plant and equipment E RV 14 2,088
Properties under development TRPYE 18 123,471

BNRE RER
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables H it JiE Y 5k 7,475
Cash and cash equivalents RERBECEEY 748
Trade payables JE 15 BR 3R 91)
Accruals and other payables FEEH B A & E Al FE N FR0A (5,211)
Deferred tax liabilities FEFIARE 34 (5,056)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 78 2 2,617
126,041
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — B A Az W 5 106,906
232,947
Satisfied by: XAAHR

Cash Be 232,947
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38. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect

3. HE—RKMBAR (&)

HE-—HNBRARAZRERREEBYRAFE

of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: Z AT
2010
HK$’000
THET
Cash consideration ReRE 232,947
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HEZRERREEEBY (748)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of ~FLHE—FNBARZE S K
the disposal of a subsidiary ReEEBYRAFER 232,199
39. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 39. WEMW =B
(i) As lessor (i) fEFAHBESE

The Group leases its investment properties (note 19 to the
financial statements) and property, plant and equipment under
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms
ranging from two to eighteen years. The terms of the leases
generally also require the tenants to pay security deposits and
provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then
prevailing market conditions.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with
its tenants falling due as follows:

BRELLBEOLHE AEEREETREY
¥ (M BMRIE19) RWE - BERRE
HBMEERMEE T N\FETE - LGS —
REREPAEGBNREERBTRFERT
BIREMBERERERSE -

R-ZB—ZTF+-_A=1+—B KEBRIUT
HEERZ T BUEKESAOERKRZHED
FEM R 4B T :

Group

rEE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FH&T
Within one year —FA 345,751 303,309
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_FEFRF (BREEEME) 544,463 473,047
After five years B h F 288,867 285,217
1,179,081 1,061,573
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39. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (Continued) 39. REMNRH ()
(i) As lessee (i) #ERMAPL
The Group leases certain of its properties under operating lease AEBRBLCLHEERPFEANETYE W%
arrangements. Leases for the properties are negotiated for terms HRBEBER=ZFETNFIE-

ranging from three to nineteen years.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group and the Company had RZZE-—ZF+-A=+—0 AEERAR
total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable AR AT B JE i 2 1 AT BUH & 2 O E R
operating leases falling due as follows: 2B b ENABL AEATENT
Group Company
REE RAF
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
FHB FBT FBR FET
Within one year —F A 7,095 6,581 1,825 1,825
In the second to fifth years, F_FEFERF
inclusive (BEEREME) 12,721 7,554 2,434 4,260
19,816 14,135 4,259 6,085
40. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 40. EX AR
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note M B RE39()FE il 7 & & FH AR IEIN  RIRE
39(ii) above, the Group and the Company had the following HR AEBRARRZAEDT :
commitments at the end of the reporting period:
Group Company
REE RAF
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
FET FIBT FBR FiET
Commitments in respect of
acquisition of land and
buildings, and development
costs attributable PLULHE T3 R F
to properties under AR R E
development: BRAAN 2 AHE
Contracted, but not provided for 2 5] 471 i A HE A 7,765,002 5,148,123 - =
Authorised, but not
contracted for EREERARETN 405,268 94,808 337,552 -
8,170,270 5,242,931 337,552 =
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41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided

41. RAREE
RBEBMR TERMBREPRE I XAGE

for in the financial statements were as follows: R
Group Company
rEE ¥ YN
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FET FET FET
(i) Guarantees given to banks
for credit facilities Gy ABEAREREER
granted to subsidiaries MERITIEL Z B R - - 1,117,675 1,590,120

(ii)

(iii)

The guarantees given to banks for credit facilities granted to the
subsidiaries by the Company will expire on 29 November 2011.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group has given guarantees to
a maximum extent of approximately HK$962,473,000 (2009:
HK$676,101,000) to banks for housing loans extended by the
banks to the purchasers of the Group’s properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is default
of the mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group
is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage loans
together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by the
defaulted purchasers to banks. The Group is then entitled to
take over the legal title of the related properties. The Group's
guarantee period commences from the date of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends after the buyer obtained the
individual property ownership certificate or up to a maximum of
two years after the full repayment of the mortgaged loans by the
purchasers of the Group’s properties.

The directors consider that in case of default in payments, the
net realisable value of the related properties can cover the
repayment of the outstanding mortgage loans together with any
accrued interest and penalty and therefore no provision has
been made in connection with the guarantees.

A statement of claim dated 27 August 2002 was issued by
Fancheng Property Development Co., Limited (the “Plaintiff”)
as the plaintiff against Shum Yip Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
(“Shum Yip Shenzhen”, renamed as Shum Yip Southern Land
(Holdings) Co., Ltd. in the year of 2007), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company as the first defendant and Yaoheng
Development Co., Ltd. as the second defendant in a civil claim
at the court in Mainland China.

(ii)

(iii)

ARRBHEAREREEMRRITELZ
ERER _ZFT——F+—A=-thHIH-

MR_B—ZTE+-_F=+—B KAEEHRR
THRTAEEMEBERZERERRRITR
TR ZR#962,473,0008 7L (Z T T N5 :
676,101,000/ 70 ) FYHELR o

RIBERGT  MZFERERIZBIE A
SEA RN RS EOREE A K3 R K
1B 2 BER RN RITH) A EF A S R E K e
AEFEBERAUZREEBMENAIZMARE -
AEENERPBBELERREERE B
RBEERMEESNMEAEREEIRAE
EMEEZBI N REERRRZMER
IEp

EEZRR MERFA  GRYEA 237 %
18 B VA ST AN 1wl K (B 28 3238 B 3 (R A 5T
MBRER B ERZFERELEE-

ERBEXREERN —RRERET - RELK
MEBRRARRA ([RENDR_FT_FN\
AT EtERARAZEZEMBARIREE
BRI BERAR(RERI] - R_FFT
tESERRFMANE (EB)BRAF)
(F—KE) LREERARAA (F-HKE)
RHERE-
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41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)
(iii) (Continued)

The Plaintiff claimed against Shum Yip Shenzhen for, inter alia,
damages suffered by the Plaintiff as a result of the breach by
Shum Yip Shenzhen of the terms of a cooperation agreement
entered into between the Plaintiff and Shum Yip Shenzhen dated
8 July 1991, which include (i) Shum Yip Shenzhen’s deliberate
register of the properties named Shenfa Garden under the name
of Shum Yip Shenzhen and its refusal to give the properties to
the Plaintiff and (ii) Shum Yip Shenzhen’s appropriation of the
Plaintiff's sales proceeds to compensate the individual owners
and the construction party of Shenfa Garden while keeping the
income in relation to certain car parks and the kindergarten
situated within the area of Shenfa Garden. The Plaintiff claimed
a total compensation of approximately RMB170 million against
Shum Yip Shenzhen. Shum Yip Shenzhen lodged a defence and
a counter-claim for compensation of RMB1.3 million against the
Plaintiff on 22 October 2002. This case was heard in court on
26 March 2003 and 5 November 2004, the arbitration process
is complicated and time-consuming.

On 4 January 2008, the Plaintiff and Shum Yip Shenzhen
entered into an amicable settlement agreement, pursuant
to which the Plaintiff agreed to partially waive the claim
mentioned above, and the remaining claim was RMB40,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$45,432,000). On 4 August
2009, the High Court of Guangdong province arbitrated the
partial waiver of the claim.

On 23 December 2009, the High Court of Guangdong province
(“Guangdong High Court”) arbitrated to overrule both the
claims of the Plaintiff and the counter-claim of Shum Yip
Shenzhen. On 2 February 2010, the Plaintiff appealed to the
Supreme People’s Court of the PRC, in which the Plaintiff
claimed for revocation of the judgement of the Guangdong
High Court and affirmed part of their original claims of
RMB26,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$29,530,800).
On 9 September 2010, the Supreme People’s Court of the PRC
opened a court session on the issue. On 11 February 2011,
the Supreme People’s Court of PRC arbitrated to overrule
the judgement of Guangdong High Court and the case was
remanded to Guangdong High Court for a new trial. As at the
date of this report, the case was still subject to final judgement
of Guangdong High Court.

As advised by Hong Kong lawyers, pursuant to a deed (the
“Deed”) entered into on 12 February 1997 by Shum Yip
Holdings as covenanter in favour of the Company as covenantee
in connection with the listing of the Company, the Company
could be able to claim indemnity from Shum Yip Holdings if the
Plaintiff and/or the applicant is successful in its claim against
Shum Yip Shenzhen on the grounds that Shum Yip Shenzhen
had materially breached the cooperation agreement, and the
circumstances which gave rise to the above litigation were
already in existence at the time of execution of the Deed.

FIERERAE 2010FFR

4. REE(E)

(iii)

(%)

REHREFIIRERE  BREE (K4
B)EAERFERNERETR—NAAL—F
+tANBRINZ A ER@EZ GRMERZZE
K ZEERPE: ()VWERERMEB—ES
ARBICEZYEESTAERT  WIERER
EXHEME: R)VFERIPBAREHE
MEFTS 2 58 BAMEER 2 3 E kxR
TEEZZER  WRBEMNRZEIEEARNET
EESRHHEERERZ WA - RERRER
JIREA L4 ARE170,000,0007T ° /% % F
IR —ZEE—F+A -+t HRSREEH
BRHFiM HRERREARBIIEE L.
WERR-_EE=F=ZA_+BEK_ZZFNQ
F+—ARBRA - (PHBREREIEH B B

R N\FE—AMAB @ REEREEFRIEEK
MEEWE @ B RER B E LA 2 35
PRERBTREARE40,000,0007T (448
E145,432,00087T) cRZZTETNFNANE
B BEREASHERGRBEZTIDRE-

RoBENE+—A=+=H BEEES&E
R(TERSR])PRBEEREZRERRE
FlzRRE-R=ZT—ZFF_A=H R&E
HFREESARERREEFR RS EZREE
BRERELZHR THIZFREERERE
A R #26,000,0007T (4748 & 129,530,800
BIL) RZE—ZTFNANB FEESA
RAERBRUHEBEEARESZE - R_ZT—F_A
+—B FEEsARERFPEHEKEERSH
2R M RO ER S EE - RN
SHE RDEREERSRIEL ZSRKH
SREATT

BRBRIRERZER RERXEE (EAH
RAABEANR—ANEF_AT=_BAA
RE (ERFZmZmA) 2N Mal 22 R
((IZ2E] - TEEARF ETmis T 2R
) WMEREARARFAERERNZ
REPBEF ARAARLAREEESRR
fE BEAREFRIREZRAGIERBZE M
SR EMFARAZBEANRRI A RERREER
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(a)

42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS N.BHAERS
The Group had the following material transactions with the (@ FA - ANEBEETIEETETATERR
following related parties during the year: 2
Group
TEE
2010 2009
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
liks3 THET THET
Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited, E#ERATRE (£H)
the immediate holding company: BRAE
Rental expenses paid ENESHS (i) 4,978 4,975
Associates: A= WNCTE
Interest income B U A (i) 18,840 =
A jointly-controlled entity: — ek E T
Interest income FEHA (i) 16,851
Notes: k=3
(i)  The rentals were determined by the directors with reference to the () METNHERLL2ERNPRHZMEREE-

market prices of similar transactions.

(ii)  The interest income from associates and a jointly-controlled entity
was determined by the directors with reference to the market prices
of similar transactions.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

(i) Details of the Group’s loans to/from its associates as at the
end of the reporting period are included in note 22 to the
financial statements.

(ii) As disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial

position, the Group had payable amounting to
HK$41,616,000 (2009: HK$102,389,918) to R¥%H
AR AF], the ultimate holding company. The payable

is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of

repayment.

(iii

Details of the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other
receivables with its jointly-controlled entity as at 31
December 2010 is disclosed in note 28 to the financial
statements.

(i) REBERR R —FXRZEEHER 2 SEA
THEEK2ERMPRH 2 TERERE

(i) NMEARLEE LG THERRZERK
/BN T B R 1R U B R R B R
22 -

(ii) ﬂﬁmi*Aﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ@Zl&%lﬁéé
o & 4 AE iR rEEEBRARZ
mlﬁ%m,m@ooo%m(f? TNF -
102,389,918 7T ) ° fE {4 FTH A& & K
B oETERTEEREH-

AEER-—ZF-FTF+-_HA=+—HH
HAHFE %‘JE%?Z?EHE B ReREM
JRE M5B R B B T B T SRR M RE28 o

(iii)
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Q2.BHERS (&)
FEBIEERABZME

42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: (c)

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET FET

Short term employee benefits EHEERF 7,312 6,664

Post-employment benefits RARAEF 1,217 540

Equity-settled share option expense VARR 7R 32 A+ 22 B s 42 el 2 3,277 =
Total compensation paid to key

management personnel ENFEERBAEMeEE 11,806 7,204

EEMEE - PHBERNFERERMES

Further details of directors’” emoluments are included in note 8
to the financial statements.

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 3. RERRBA2EMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REEPR BEEERN 2 om T A ZRHAE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: LU
2010 BB
Group
r5E
Financial
assets
at fair value
through Available-
profit or Held-to- for-sale
loss-held maturity Loans and financial
Financial assets EREE for trading  investments  receivables assets Total
BARE
FEZ
TREE BEE EXRk AHfHEZ
-BEXZ IBRE FE W BR X THEE st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR FET THERT THER FTET
e THERAZ
Loans to associates (note 22) B (KizE22) - - 71,917 - 71,917
Held-to-maturity investment FEZEHEE
(note 23) (ffE23) - 385,938 - - 385,938
Available-for-sale investments AHBERE - - - 34,014 34,014
Trade receivables FEUER K - - 199,449 - 199,449
Financial assets included in FABRMRIE - Re R
prepayments, deposits and other Bt RUIAZ £/
receivables BE - - 1,167,194 - 1,167,194
Financial assets at fair value BREREAAENE
through profit or loss ZEREE 20,564 - - - 20,564
Cash and cash equivalents BekBEE&EED - - 6,245,463 - 6,245,463
20,564 385,938 7,684,023 34,014 8,124,539
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

(Continued)

43. ZEEER 2SI A (

REBEMR ZXBRIF R TAZEREE

W (&)

Financial
liabilities
at fair value

through profit

Group
EHE

Financial
liabilities

)

or loss-held at amortised
Financial liabilities TRAE for trading cost Total
EBBE®
RARE
EZ 8§14
cEAE TEH
—-BERS A= st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET FHET
Trade payables JE 5 BR R - 141,725 141,725
Financial liabilities included in FT A EL M B 5 B &
other payables and accruals EERzeRAE - 1,366,330 1,366,330
Derivative financial instruments MTEEFIA 65,861 - 65,861
Interest-bearing bank loans FFEIRITE R - 12,789,009 12,789,009
Due to the ultimate holding
company FE BRI BR A B R TE - 41,616 41,616
Loans from associates (note 22) BN A B (K sE22) - 50,828 50,828
65,861 14,389,508 14,455,369
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

43. BREEZSNzEMIE (&

RBEMR ZXBRIF R TAZERE

(&)

(Continued)
2009 —ZTNF
Group
REE
Financial
assets
at fair value
through Available-
profit or Held-to- for-sale
loss-held maturity Loans and financial
Financial assets TREE for trading  investments  receivables assets Total
FiBER
BRANE
TEZ
TREE BEE EXEk A#HEEZ
—RERS BRI & i B 3K TREE BEr
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FATT FHAT FHAIT FAT FAT
RTBERRIZER
Loans to associates (note 22) (Fff5E22) = = 67,108 = 67,108
Held-to-maturity investment HEZIHKRE
(note 23) (Bt #E23) - 383,518 - - 383,518
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE - - - 46,744 46,744
Trade receivables & W AR R - - 532,936 - 532,936
Financial assets included in SAABENRE -Rek
prepayments, deposits and other Hip WK 2/l
receivables BE - - 907,571 = 907,571
Financial assets at fair value BREREBANENE
through profit or loss ZeMEE 21,510 - - - 21,510
Cash and cash equivalents BeEMBEEEY = = 6,434,237 = 6,434,237
21,510 383,518 7,941,852 46,744 8,393,624
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 43. REEHEB2EMTA (&)
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial R|ERAR - BEBEHEAFN ZERTAZREE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: W ()
(Continued)
Group
rEE
Financial
liabilities
at fair value Financial
through profit liabilities
or loss-held at amortised
Financial liabilities TRIBME for trading cost Total
BEiRBH
BARME
HTEZ AR S8 Bk 7R
G =L B
—FER S ERARE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FET FTET
Trade payables J& T BR R = 88,250 88,250
Financial liabilities included in other SPAEMENRIEREFTERZ
payables and accruals CRMAE - 1,058,741 1,058,741
Derivative financial instruments TEeRMITAE 168,880 - 168,880
Interest-bearing bank loans ERITER = 10,966,696 10,966,696
Due to the ultimate holding company — JEfT & &R 2 BIFIE - 102,390 102,390
Loans from associates (note 22) e N R B (MiaE22) - 43,856 43,856
168,880 12,259,933 12,428,813
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 43. BEERBI2EMIA (£)
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBERAR - ZEEFEAN ZERTAZREE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: W ()
(Continued)
Company
L
2010 2009
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
fair value fair value
through Available- through Available-
profit or Held-to- for-sale profit or Held-to- for-sale
loss-held maturity  Loans and financial loss-held maturity  Loans and financial
Financial assets SREE for trading  investments  receivahles assets Total  fortrading investments  receivables assets Total
EBR® BBRE
BANE BARE
dEZ CIS EZ G
SHEE BRE ERE HEZ ERAE BEE ERR HEZ

-RERE MERR  MMRE  SRRE AN -BfRS  HERA  BMAE  sREE 4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THn  FAn TR TEn TR TAT  Ter TR TEr  TAR

Financial assets included in &t AMIB AR Z BHER

investments in subsidiaries £ B EE - - 163,649 - 163,649 - - 161,518 - 161,518
Held-to-maturity investment #5523/ §#& 4

(note 23) (HizE23) - 385,938 - - 385,938 - 383,518 = = 383,518
Available-for-sale

investments AHEHERE - - - 1,720 1,720 - - = 1,720 1,720
Financial assets at fair value EBBEHEEALETE

through profit or loss LEBEE 18,381 - - - 18,381 20,424 = = = 20,424
Financial assets included in st ABNFUE & R
prepayments, deposits and ~ E BN £ 7

other receivables EE - - 499 - 499 - - 8,601 - 8,601

Amounts due from
subsidiaries fE el B A RIFE - - 3,486,988 - 3,486,988 = - 2,952,237 - 2,952,237
Cash and cash equivalents ~ H& RAEZEN - - 1,085,605 - 1,085,605 - - 1,406,803 - 1,406,803
18,381 385938 4,736,741 1,720 5,142,780 20,424 383,518 4,529,159 1720 4,934,821
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

3. REERAIZ2EMTA (&

REBEMR ZXBRIF R TAZEREE

W (&)

(Continued)
Company
LN
2010 2009
Financial Financial
liabilities liabilities
at fair value at fair value
through profit Financial through profit Financial
or loss-held liabilities at or loss-held liabilities at
Financial liabilities SREE for trading  amortised cost Total for trading ~ amortised cost Total
EBBEH BRBH
ERAAE BANE
AHEZ A8 R A itE2 ISR A
SREE HEM SRARE AHER)
-BERS tHEE EoH —#ERS eHAMRE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TE R TER TART FET TAT
Financial liabilities
included in other SAEMERFER
payables and accruals Bt ERZEREE - 83,094 83,094 = 64,303 64,303
Derivative financial
instruments fTEeRIA 65,861 - 65,861 168,880 - 168,880
Interest-bearing bank loans & £ TEH - 5,697,238 5,697,238 - 5,205,204 5,205,204
Amounts due to
subsidiaries JERHIEARIE - 57,466 57,466 = 59,794 59,794
65,861 5,837,798 5,903,659 168,880 5,329,301 5,498,181
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44. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY M. ARERAARESRES
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the AEBEAARZ M IAZRAER R AEN
Company’s financial instruments are as follows: Ik
Group AEHE
Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE ARE
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHExT FHEIT
Financial assets EMEE
Cash and cash equivalents ReMBEEEED 6,245,463 6,434,237 6,245,463 6,434,237
Loans to associates BTHBERRIZER 71,917 67,108 71,917 67,108
Trade receivables JE W BR 3K 199,449 532,936 199,449 532,936
Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and SEATRN IR - R RHE M
other receivables WHIE S MEE 1,167,194 907,571 1,167,194 907,571
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 34,014 46,744 34,014 46,744
Equity investments at fair value ZEBE=ZALBEFTERN
through profit or loss ERERE 20,564 21,510 20,564 21,510
Held-to-maturity investment BEEIHKRE 385,938 383,518 421,865 428,552
8,124,539 8,393,624 8,160,466 8,438,658
Financial liabilities cHEE
Trade payables FET AR SR 141,725 88,250 141,725 88,250
Financial liabilities included in &t A E fth &~ 7008 K &+ &
other payables and accruals RAzemats 1,366,330 1,058,741 1,366,330 1,058,741
Derivative financial instruments $T4£ &g T & 65,861 168,880 65,861 168,880
Interest-bearing bank loans STERITER 12,789,009 10,966,696 12,789,009 10,966,696
Due to the ultimate holding
company FEAT AR AR A B 5RE 41,616 102,390 41,616 102,390
Loans from associates EENEIN=E 50,828 43,856 50,828 43,856
14,455,369 12,428,813 14,455,369 12,428,813
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44. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY M. DRERAABESEHREE (£)
(Continued)
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the AEEEAARZ M IAZRAERRAEN
Company’s financial instruments are as follows: (Continued) T: (%)
Company AN
Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE ARE
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHExT FHEIT
Financial assets SREE
Investments in subsidiaries WEBARIKE 163,649 161,518 163,649 161,518
Held-to-maturity investment REZINHEKRE 385,938 383,518 421,865 428,552
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY 1,085,605 1,406,803 1,085,605 1,406,803
Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and FTATERFRIE - e RHMFE
other receivables WHIBz &R EE 499 8,601 499 8,601
Financial assets at fair value FERBREAANESE S
through profit or loss BE = 18,381 20,424 18,381 20,424
Due from subsidiaries J&E Wt B B A B FR 1B 3,486,988 2,952,237 3,486,988 2,952,237
Available-for-sale investments AL ERE 1,720 1,720 1,720 1,720
5,142,780 4,934,821 5,178,707 4,979,855
Financial liabilities ==
Due to subsidiaries JE 1~ B B8 A B3R IE 57,466 59,794 57,466 59,794
Financial liabilities included in =t A E b &~ 5018 & fEET &
other payables and accruals RAzeraE 83,094 64,303 83,094 64,303
Interest-bearing bank loans STERITER 5,697,238 5,205,204 5,697,238 5,205,204
Derivative financial instruments T4 &@THE 65,861 168,880 65,861 168,880

5,903,659 5,498,181 5,903,659 5,498,181
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44. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

(Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, amounts due from/to subsidiaries, due to the ultimate
holding company, loans from associates and investments in
subsidiaries approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of loans to associates, interest-bearing bank loans and
held-to-maturity investments have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments on similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices.

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with various
counterparties, principally financial institutions with AAA credit
ratings. Derivative financial instruments, mainly interest rate
swaps, are measured using valuation techniques similar to swap
models, using present value calculations. The models incorporate
various market observable inputs including the credit quality of
counterparties and interest rate curves. The carrying amounts of
interest rate swaps are the same as their fair values.

Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2:  fair values measured based on valuation techniques for
which all inputs which have a significant effect on the
recorded fair value are observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for
which any inputs which have a significant effect on the
recorded fair value are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs)

FIERERAE 2010FFR

44.
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44. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
(Continued)

RRABEERER (&)

As at 31 December 2010, the Group held the following financial R-ZE-—ZF+-_RA=+—B AKEHAAT
instruments measured at fair value: BEARBEFECERIA
Assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 2010: RZZE—ZEF+-_A=+—HRAABEFEZE
=
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—fF £=E E=E Wt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FExT FET
Available-for-sale investments AHfHERE 34,014 - - 34,014
Financial assets at fair value BREBERBRAAETEZ
through profit or loss EREE 18,876 1,688 - 20,564
52,890 1,688 - 54,578
Liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2010: RZE—ZTF+_A=F+—HEQAABIENE
f&:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Ed=| =] E3= E=E st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
FHET FET FExT TE T
Derivative financial instruments $7T4£ &g T & - 65,861 - 65,861
As at 31 December 2010, the Company held the following financial RZTE—ZF+_A=+—B XRAFEUT
instruments measured at fair value: BARBEfE @I A:
Assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 2010: R-E—ZFF+_A=1+—HEQAABHEZE
B
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—fF £=E =B st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FExT FET
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 1,720 - - 1,720
Financial assets at fair value LR EALEINERZ
through profit or loss M5 & E 16,693 1,688 - 18,381
18,413 1,688 - 20,101
Liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2010: RZE—ZTF+ A=+ —HEAABIENE
f&:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
=] £ E=E st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FERT FHET FH&E T
Derivative financial instruments $T4£ &g T & - 65,861 - 65,861
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivative
financial instruments, comprise interest-bearing bank loans, cash
and cash equivalents, equity investments and an investment in senior
notes. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including
principally interest rate swaps. The purpose is to manage the interest
rate and currency risks arising from the Group’s operations and its
sources of finance. On 31 December 2010, the carrying amount
of these swaps amounted to approximately HK$65,861,000 (2009:
HK$168,880,000). The Group mainly performs its risk management
through adjustments in its borrowing portfolios which comprise fixed
interest rate borrowings and floating interest rate borrowings.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The interest rate risk of the Group is mainly due to the interest
rate fluctuations of its bank borrowings. Interest on these bank
borrowings is computed based on market rates. In the prior year, the
Group entered into interest rate swaps, in which the Group agreed
to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and
variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-
upon notional principal amount. These swaps are designated to
hedge underlying debt obligations.

The Group will constantly assess the interest rate risk it encounters
to decide whether it is required to hedge against the possible interest
rate risk that may arise.

On 31 December 2010, assuming the interest rate of bank
borrowings was increased/decreased by 0.5% and all other factors
remained unchanged, then profit after tax for the year of the Group
and the Company should decrease/increase by approximately
HK$32,717,728 (2009: HK$26,393,529) and HK$30,302,837 (2009:
HK$25,089,032), respectively.

FIERERAE 2010FFR
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AEEZIZERMTA(TEFETESRTR)E
FEARRTER R RBRLZEY BaURE
REEAZEERE - UWEEMTAZIERENR
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BERBE PINMERKRBEERZ BEERRR
& BR K -

AEENTUTETERS 2 EMNREHE
4 REEBEASEEERENRREENFE
kEERBR N_Z—ZTF+=-_A=+—80 %%
RH 2 BRE B4 565,861,0008 T (ZEZT N4 :
168,880,000 L) - ASE X ZBBALEEE
HERETERER MEEHAEGBERT X
BEREF BB
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 45. B EREE 2BEMRBEK (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

Most of the operating income of the Group’s business is in RMB
and assets held and all of the committed borrowings of the Group
are mainly denominated in RMB and US$. During the year, RMB
appreciated compared to US$ and HK$. Management believes such
an appreciation will not have any negative effect on the Group.
Hence, the Group has not adopted any financial instruments for
hedging purposes. However, the Group will constantly assess the
foreign exchange risk it encounters so as to immediately decide
the hedging policy required to hedge against the possible foreign
exchange risk that may arise.

On 31 December 2010, assuming that against US$/HK$, RMB
appreciated by 5% and all other factors remained unchanged, then
the profit after tax for the year of the Group and the Company should
have increased by HK$176,745,857 (2009: HK$168,493,386), and
HK$53,806,560 (2009: HK$70,104,781), respectively. The change
is mainly the net value of that comes from the exchange gains in
US$-denominated bank borrowings and RMB-denominated cash and
cash equivalents, after being offset by the exchange loss in RMB-
denominated trade payables.

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group’s financial assets, which comprise
cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial assets, trade
and other receivables, arises from default of the counterparty,
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments. The Group is also exposed to credit risk through
the granting of financial guarantees, further details of which are
disclosed in note 41(ii) to the financial statements.

To manage the risk, deposits are mainly placed with licensing
banks which are all high credit quality financial institutions. The
Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties
except for the sales of properties. The Group has policies in place to
ensure that sales are made to purchasers with appropriate financial
strength and appropriate percentage of down payments. The Group
would not release the property ownership certificates to the buyers
before the buyers finally settle the selling price. It also has other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews regularly the
recoverable amount of each individual trade receivable to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

S E mL IR
REEEXBHOABOLLERARARE  RAE
B EERMAEARERIZANARER
EnHE-FAN ARBEETRBLAE EE
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i 7N ER B 45 4B AT 1k L P& B 0 S BE L B A MR
SZBIR TE BT 75 19 5 0 B 5K DA S0 AT BE EE AR MO SN B
[ B o
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 27 to the

financial statements.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Group is unable to meet its current
liabilities that fall due. The Group’s objective is to maintain a
balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the
use of short and long term bank loans. Through maintaining a
reasonable proportion in its asset and liability structure, the Group is
able to meet its ongoing financial needs.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period is as follows:

45

BEREECBENREE (£)

EERR (&)
FERBUEEFRMEENAREEERRNEME
FEE B 75 3R R B 527 ©

BEAKETREZEEINHANRDBERNEL
MENERE o AR B S B RERE R R EHR
TER #KESRFEHBREREZFE B8
HEBEEE BRI EREKRT  AEBE R H
REFKBEZHBHRE-

AEEZEMBERNREPRZIBBEROT :

Group rE
2010
Within One to Two to Over
On demand one year two years three years three years Total
REX —£0R -E2% ZEZF =ENE Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000
TERT TR TR TERL TR TERT
Interest-bearing bank loans &8 #R1T E 5K 108,000 10,001,718 1,492,600 759,032 1,418,818 13,780,168
Trade payables & 11 BR 3K - 141,725 - - - 141,725
Financial liabilities included & A i & 15 3038 K
in other payables and EstERZ
accruals TRBE - 1,366,330 - - - 1,366,330
Derivative financial
instruments TESBMIA - 65,861 - - - 65,861
Due to the ultimate holding
company P B AR RR I A 41,616 - - - - 41,616
Loans from associates B AR BN - 50,828 - - - 50,828
Total @5 149,616 11,626,462 1,492,600 759,032 1,418,818 15,446,528
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 45. B EBEEZBENRBEK (£)
POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REN R (F)
Group (Continued) REE (&)
2009
Within One to Two to Over
one year two years  three years three years Total
—FR —= —E=fF =FLALE ?@§+
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHT
Interest-bearing bank loans HRRITER 3,444,297 6,791,205 1,262,863 627,823 12,126,188
Trade payables & £ BR 3K 88,250 = = = 88,250
Financial liabilities included in HAHMENZER
other payables and accruals R ERzEHEE 1,058,741 = = = 1,058,741
Derivative financial instruments TESBMT A 168,880 = = = 168,880
Due to the ultimate holding
company T B AR A R 102,390 - - - 102,390
Loans from associates iR /NI N= 43,856 = = = 43,856
Total fEt 4,906,414 6,791,205 1,262,863 627,823 13,588,305

The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as at the

end of the reporting period is as follows:

ARBzeBBERRS PR ZBBERNT

Company AAF
2010
Within One to Two to Over
one year two years  three years  three years Total
—F0R —E=F —E=f =ZFNE @zt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
F# FH FHL F#L FH
Interest-bearing bank loans SFRRITER 4,676,975 - 321,070 852,427 5,850,472
Financial liabilities included in = AE M EN R E R
other payables and accruals ErtERAZzeRARE 83,094 - - - 83,094
Derivative financial instruments TEEMTA 65,861 - - - 65,861
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAT BT 2 5] 308 57,466 - - - 57,466
Total BT 4,883,396 - 321,070 852,427 6,056,893
Guarantees given to banks for AMBAREREE
credit facilities granted to AR ITIEL Z &R
subsidiaries (note 41(i)) (PREE41(i) ) 1,117,675 - - - 1,117,675
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

45. MBEMERE BN RBER (&)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REN R (F)
Company (Continued) RATF (&)
2009
Within One to Two to Over
one year two years  three years three years Total
—F A —FE 4 —E=4 =FE BEr
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHT FET FHET
Interest-bearing bank loans HRBRITER 527,900 4,897,793 — 365,895 5,791,588
Financial liabilities included in & A £ ftb f& 15 5038 &
other payables and accruals EBRzeRBE 64,303 - - - 64,303
Derivative financial instruments $T4 &g T & 168,880 = = = 168,880
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEASH BT B 2 B FRE 59,794 = = = 59,794
Total Bt 820,877 4,897,793 - 365,895 6,084,565
Guarantees given to banks for ~ AMBRARERZEE
credit facilities granted to i RISRAT 1 I 2 4R
subsidiaries (note 41(i)) (B EE416)) 1,590,120 - - - 1,590,120
Equity price risk R 18 =

The equity price risk of the Group mainly comes from the changes
in market prices for held-for-trading equity investments. The book
value of this type of financial assets held by the Group is recognised
according to market quotes as at the end of the reporting period.

On 31 December 2010, assuming that the price of listed equity
securities held by the Group increased/decreased by 10%, and
all other factors remained unchanged and excluding tax items,
the book values of the listed equity securities of the Group and
the Company should have increased/decreased by HK$2,056,398
(2009: HK$2,151,031) and HK$1,838,113 (2009: HK$2,042,352),
respectively.

FIERERAE 2010FFR

AEEZRERREZRERZAUESEREL
MEZS HEHAEESFEREEZREE
TREREHRR TS MER-ER

RZFE—ZTF+A=+—H BREEEFF
ZEMBRABSHZEREF TE10% MHE
thERGRFTE (TREHE)  AAEEEAR
AR Z ETRARES 2 BRE EE D B, A
2,056,398 C (=TT NF 12,151,031 L) &
1,838,113 7L (=TT L4 : 2,042,352 7T ) °
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45.

46.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management

The objectives of the Group’s capital management policy are to
ensure the financing capabilities of the Company in running its
operation on a going concern basis, to maintain an optimised
capital structure, to reduce capital cost and to maximise the value of
shareholders.

The Group manages and adjusts its capital structure appropriately
according to the specific features of the risks of its assets and the
changes in various economic conditions. Through adjustments
in dividend distribution, injections and repayments of capital
by shareholders or issuance of new shares, the Group is able to
maintain an optimised capital structure of the Company.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debts
divided by equity attributable to owners of the parent. The Group’s
policy is to maintain the gearing ratio less than or equal 70%. Net
debts are interest-bearing bank loans less cash and cash equivalents.
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods are as follows:

45. MBEMERE BN RBER (&)

EXEHE
AEEEAEEBRRZBRNREAREZER
BE N ARE IR R B IS B B AR MRS B

M ERRRE R EARRARERREERAL -

NEBREAGEEZBRIFEREBLEMRR
THRZEHEEHEEAREETEERAR -
BRAEREDIK BERTE REEEARNRET
Pk NEBMEMEARRZERNRBHSEE
{EIKFE o

AEEERERABELE (BFEERNUT A
BEAEGER) BRHEER - REEZ BRI
BABBLRBERFET0%IIAT < FEERTEIR
TEFRRAEESRACEEY RBSHRZER
BELLEMT:

Group AEE

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FHBT
Interest-bearing bank loans (note 31) T ERITE R (MFIEE31) 12,789,009 10,966,696
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 30) R ERREEEY (KEE30) (6,245,463) (6,434,237)
Net debts FAE 6,543,546 4,532,459
Equity attributable to owners of the parent ERAHEA AEGER 13,474,903 12,390,009
Gearing ratio BEARBELX 48.6% 36.6%

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 46. Ht BT R =

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 30 March 2011.

MBBRRENR T ——F=_HA=tHEE=SH

o N R T o
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Five-Year Financial Summary

EEMBREE

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHET FHT FHBT FHET
RESULTS £ |
REVENUE FROM BEQEER
CONTINUING OPERATIONS pAE: 6,584,598 5,386,940 4,080,821 3,342,802 1,812,597
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R B AR F
(Including profit from (BRI R
discontinued operations) BEEHF) 2,460,914 1,685,607 1,700,585 2,658,933 1,335,561
Tax BiIE (884,047) (551,116) (677,100) (725,530) (197,185)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F R F 1,576,867 1,134,491 1,023,485 1,933,403 1,138,376
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: T3 pEL
Owners of the parent [SYNGIEZZSPN 1,324,780 987,656 873,016 1,714,821 803,606
Non-controlling interests TR S 252,087 146,835 150,469 218,582 334,770
1,576,867 1,134,491 1,023,485 1,933,403 1,138,376
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON- ¥E- -8R
CONTROLLING INTERESTS FERER
Total assets BEE 34,371,007 31,076,672 27,719,073 25,526,228 18,133,942
Total liabilities BEE (19,671,210)  (17,664,994)  (16,160,462)  (14,301,280)  (10,337,166)
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR i (1,224,894) (1,021,669) (866,735) (1,376,144) (1,354,260)
13,474,903 12,390,009 10,691,876 9,848,804 6,442,516
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Property List
Y S

Group | - Property interest held by the Group for sales
F-E-FARESRFEHEZEXER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
BEEBER

ES i3k k= EN-S VL £ (F7XK) %k A

1. Snow Pine Building Shenzhen, Guangdong Ind. 75% 35,294.00 2010
ENKE BRA R I%

2. Tianan Gaoerfu Longyuan Futian, Shenzhen Res. 37.5% 42,672.40 2008
AEBRRER IR A & T

3. Noah Mountain Forest Phase | Changsha City, Hunan ~ Com & Res. 80% 3,761.39 2008
#h oo [ Ak — MEARDT BEREE

4. Noah Mountain Forest Phase I Changsha City, Hunan ~ Com & Res. 80% 3,867.83 2009
wh oo AR — 5 MEARDT BEREE

5. Noah Mountain Forest Phase IlI Changsha City, Hunan ~ Com & Res. 80% 36,965.16 2010
wh o AR =4 MEARDT BEREE

6. Huizhou Wanlin Lake Phase | Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 585.62 2008
BB — BRABMMT T

7. Huizhou Wanlin Lake Phase Il Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 15,279.00 2009
BB = BRABMMT FE

8. Huizhou Wanlin Lake Phase Il Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 5,535.00 2010
BB = BRABMMT T

9. Garden Hill Phase 1 Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 14,101.00 2010
FiliHE—H BRABMMT T

10. Tian’an Panyu Phase IV Panyu, Guangdong Ind. 37.5% 18,697.54 2008-2009
ARBENH EREER I

11. Tian’an Longgang New Cyber-City Shenzhen, Guangdong  Ind. 37.5% 56,621.00 2010
Phase Il
PN kS BRA R I%
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Property List
Y S

Group | - Property interest held by the Group for sales
F-E-FARESRFEHEZEXER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
RBREER
IES i34k Jiik=s BN LRy £ (F7XK) % A8
12. Tian'an Nanhai New Cyber-City Nanhai, Guangdong Ind. 33.8% 11,034.00 2007-2010
RL a8 B HT EREME I%
13. Tian’an Changzhou Project Phase | Changzhou, Jiangsu Ind. 37.5% 35,503.78 2010
AREMER—H L&A BN I%
14. Purple Kylin Hill Phase | Shenzhen, Guangdong ~ Res. 100% 8,852.04 2009
SRR —H BRE R F=E
15. Royal Spring Villas Dongguan, Guangdong  Res. 100% 38,208.34 2010
R L ERERRED ==
16. Nanhu Rose Bay Phase | Wuhan, Hubei Res. 75% 2,012.00 2008
EAHE — MILARET F=E
17. Nanhu Rose Bay Phase |l Wuhan, Hubei Res. 75% 971.00 2009
HMBORE — LA R ED ==
18. Nanhu Rose Bay Phase Il Wuhan, Hubei Res. 75% 34,115.00 2010
HMBRE =1 LA R ED ==
Sub-total /]>5F: 364,076.10
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Property List
Y S

Group Il - Property interest held by the Group under development
F_E-FAREFAREPZYEER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
BEEBER

ES i3k k= EN-S VL £ (F7XK) %k A

19. Noah Mountain Forest Changsha, Hunan Res. 80% 33,570.00 2011
#h o LI Af HMEARDT FE

20. Huizhou Wanlin Lake Phase V Huizhou, Guangdong Com & Res. 100% 28,870.00 2011
BEMEMHH RS BRABMMT BEREE

21. Huizhou Wanlin Lake Phase VI Huizhou, Guangdong Com & Res. 100% 64,867.00 2012
BB BRABMM® BEREE

22. Euro-view Garden Dongguan, Guangdong  Res. 100% 182,173.00 2012-2013
BSRER BRAREM FE

23. Nanhu Rose Bay Phase Il Wuhan, Hubei Res. 75% 81,404.00 2011
HMBRE =1 MILABUET FE

24. Terra Building Shenzhen, Guangdong Ind. 75% 111,079.00 2012
FAKE BRAE R I%

25. Terra Chengdu Yihu Project Chengdu, Sichuan Res. and Com. 52.5% 92,033.14 2012
FAKHRHEE mJI& R EEREE

26. Tian'an Changzhou Project Changzhou, Jiangsu Ind. & Res. 37.5% 126,568.55 2011-2012
AREMER TEE BN TEREE

27. Tian'an Jiangyin Cyber-City Jiangyin, Jiangsu Ind. 37.5% 79,201.80 2012
RRITREEHR TIHATRT I%

28. Tian'an Tianjin Xiging District Project Xiging, Tianjin Ind. 37.5% 119,600.00 2012
ARRERFRAR RETAER I%

29. Tian'an Longgang New Cyber-City Shenzhen, Guangdong  Ind. 37.5% 76,970.00 2012
Phase 1l
ALEEIBHRR=H BRA R I%

30. Tian'an Panyu Phase V Panyu, Guangdong Ind. 37.5% 90,050.00 2011
AREBLH EREER I%

31. Tian’an Dongguan New Cyber-City Dongguan, Guangdong  Ind. 29.3% 98,343.00 2012
R RSB HT BRAR=M I%

32. Tian’an Nanhai New Cyber-City Phase Il Nanhai, Guangdong Ind. 33.8% 109,994.00 2011-2012
KR8 B i — BRA®E I%
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Property List
Y S

Group Il - Property interest held by the Group under development
F_E-FAREFAREPZYEER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
RBREER

ES i3k Jiik=s AR RS (F7XK) % A8

33. Longgang Kengzi Yuyuan Shenzhen, Guangdong  Res. 100% 66,065.00 2012
B R E BRE R F=E

34. Purple Kylin Hill Phase Il Shenzhen, Guangdong  Res. 100% 104,525.64 2011
KL — BRE R F=E

35. Longgang Pingshan Dongsheng Shidai Shenzhen, Guangdong  Res. 100% 107,749.00 2011
BERETLRRER BRA R F=E

36. Chaohu Villas Project Chaohu, Anhui Res. 80% 103,019.00 2012
EMRIEREA ZHEEMT F=E

37. Chaohu Hotel Project Chaohu, Anhui Com 80% 47,000.00 2011
EMBERR ZHEEMT [GES

38. Jinxiu Jiangcheng Phase | Taizhou, Jiangsu Res. 100% 116,980.00 2011-2012
REEN— 4 TEEZMN T F=E

39. Shunde Shum Yip City Shunde District, Foshan  Res. 100% 527,657.00 2011

City, Guangdong

JIE R 2 0 BRABLTIEER T

40. Shenyang Wuai Project Shenyang, Liaoning Com./Res. 46.9% 120,767.00 2011
EELEER BEABGT BE

41. Garden Hill Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 20,830.34 2011
FiliA5 BRABMT F=E

42. Foshan Yundonghai Foshan, Guangdong Res. and Com 100% 109,721.00 2011
FILERE BRA LT AfE

Sub-total /]>5F: 2,619,037.47
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Y S

Group III - Property interest held by the Group for future development
F=B-AKESEFARBREZURER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
HREREER
LIES ik k= AEE GRS (FHHK) % A8
44, Noah Mountain Forest Changsha, Hunan Res. 80% 500,355.00 2015
#h o LI AF MEARDT F=E
45. Wuhan Nanhu Development Site Wuhan, Hubei Res. 75% 203,302.44 2012-2014
HREmM R LA EET T
46. Tian’an Panyu New Cyber-City Panyu, Guangdong Ind. 37.5% 421,536.68 2014
RE# B B 3T EREER I%
47. Tian’an Longgang New Cyber-City Shenzhen, Guangdong  Ind. 37.5% 105,574.77 2014
R BE e BB 2T 3 BR&E R I
48. Tian’an Dongguan New Cyber-City Dongguan, Guangdong  Ind. 29.3% 365,132.00 2014
AL R HE A ERERET I
49. Tian’an Tianjin Xiqing District Project Xiqing, Tianjin Ind. 37.5%  1,026,139.00 2014
ARREFERIER RETAER I%
50. Tian'an Jiangyin Cyber-City Jiangyin, Jiangsu Ind. 37.5% 260,997.00 2014
RLITEHRm TEREILR™ I%
51. Tian'an Chongging Cyber-City Chongging, Sichuan Res. and Com. 37.5% 888,000.00 2014
RLBREETH m)I| & EE T HE
52. Terra Chengdu Yihu Project Chengdu, Sichuan Res. and Com. 52.5% 331,091.00 2013-2015
FAKARHIER iRyl [G)E
53. Terra Chengdu Northern New Town Chengdu, Sichuan Res. and Com. 52.5% 461,384.00 2015-2018
Project
RN HEE R iRyl HE
54. Huizhou Project Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 500,000.00 2015
BMEE BRABMM F=
55. Kashi Project Kashi, Xinjiang Res. 100% 245,786.00 2012
®tEE HEBR T EE
56. Guangzhou Jinshawan Project Guangzhou, Guangdong  Res. 100% 271,028.00 2014
EMeY2RA EREEMT E=E
57. Heyuan Land Heyuan, Guangdong Res. 100% 501,000.00 2012
AR £ 3 BRA R TF=E
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Property List
Y S

Group III - Property interest held by the Group for future development
F=B-AKESEFARBREZURER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
RBREER
ES i3k Jiik=s AR RS (F7XK) % A8
58. Foshan Yundonghai Foshan, Guangdong Res. 100% 773,800.00 2013
FILERE BRA LT F=E
59. Qiqu Land Shenzhen, Guangdong  Ind. 95.4% 409,100.00 2013
TRt BRE R I%
60. Qingshuihe Land Shenzhen, Guangdong Ind. 95.4% 258,000.00 2015
A L3 BRA R I%
61. Huizhou Wanlin Lake Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 313,000.00 2014-2016
BB BRABMT ==
62. Jiangsu Jiangyan Project Jiangyan, Jiangsu Res. 100% 298,809.00 2012
L#EIRIE A TEEZED ==
63. Huizhou Daya Bay Project Huizhou, Guangdong Res. and Off. 80% 42,240.000 2014
EMARZERAE BRABMMT EERBPAZE
64. Shen Gang Xin Cun Luohu, Shenzhen Res. 80% 15,622.00 2015
RIS A A EHE ==
65. Tian’an (Nanhai) New Cyber-City Nanhai, Guangdong Ind. 33.8% 119,473.00 2014
AL B EE R EREEE T
66. Tian'an Changzhou Project Changzhou, Jiangsu Res. 37.5% 648,216.00 2014
AREMER T EAE BN E=E
67. Garden Hill Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 53,301.32 2012
FiliA5 BRABM %
68. Banshan International Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 100% 236,943.20 2014
+ 1L R BREBMNT F=
69. Shumyip Taifu City Garden Maanshan, Anhui Res., Com., and Off. 97%  1,103,671.00 2011

REZELE

186 FIERERAT 2010F F#

ZEEFELT

B¥ BAZE, EE

Sub-total /Nt

10,353,501.41



Property List
Y S

Group IV - Property interest held by the Group for investment
FME-FAEESFREREZXER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
HEEEE
/S 131k A% rEEfEER (EF7K) B A 5
70. Shun Hing Square Shennan Zhong Road, Com., Off., Res. 100% 18,367.11 1996
Jiefang Road and Baoan  and Carpark
Road, Luohu, Shenzhen
3 AImBERRRETE BE BAE EE
BHRRETERA RiFES
71. Shum Yip Centre Shennan Zhong Road, Com. and Off. 100% 7,422.84 1997
Luohu, Shenzhen
RER L RITERRRERE HERFAE
72. Hua Min Building Renmin Nan Road, Com./Res., Com. 50% 5,853.09 1993
Luohu, Shenzhen and Carpark
ZERANE AMITERRAREE &/ 9EKEE
%
73. Hua Min Building Renmin Nan Road, Com./Res. 100% 1,376.98 1993
Luohu, Shenzhen
ERAE FImEREAREE B/
74. Shum Yip Building Wenjin Zhong Road, Off 100% 3,931.39 1991
Luohu, Shenzhen
RERE I 7R X R R B WRE
75. Shen Gang Garden Shennan Dong Road, Com. and Res. 80% 3,380.14 1994
Luohu, Shenzhen
B FImMBERRFERE HEREE
76. Che Gong Miao Ind. Zone Futian, Shenzhen Com., Off., Com./ 75% 126,605.92 1994-2010
Res., Ind., Res. and
Carpark
HRBIXR wYITiEE = GESE VN4
T I% fFxkiE
Bi5
77. No.10 Fuxing Nan Road Futian, Shenzhen Res. 75% 96.66 1990
REMKI05 IR = F=x
78. Shenhua Science & Technology Park Meilin Road, Futian, Ind. 75% 15,341.58 1994
Shenzhen
RERE RYIT AR = MR T
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Property List
Y S

Group IV - Property interest held by the Group for investment
FME-FAEESFREREZXER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
RBREER
ES i3k Jitked AR RS (F7XK) % A8
79. Shop in No.117 Fuxing Road Futian, Shenzhen Com. 100% 50.49 1993
REKIN7REE R R [GES
80. Shen Gang Xin Cun Luohu, Shenzhen Ind. and Carpark 80% 8,913.43 1992
R AN IXREES
81. Fuxing Building No.9 Fuxing Road, Com., Off. and 100% 1,593.20 1993
Futian, Shenzhen Carpark
REXNE RTRABRERSE BE BAZEREE
5
82. Tianan Che Gong Miao Ind. Zone Futian, Shenzhen Off., Ind., Res. and 37.5% 55,280.91 2000-2005
Carpark
REBEABIER AT A & WA ITH %
LEES
83. Tian'an Nanhai New Cyber-City Phase Il Nanhai, Guangdong Ind. and Carpark 33.8% 12,016.10 2010
PNdcaes L | BRAHE IXREES
84. Tian'an Panyu New Cyber-City Panyu, Guangdong Ind. and Res. 37.5% 9,143.47 2010
AR EBHBHM EREER TEREE
85. Tian'an Longgang New Cyber-City Shenzhen, Guangdong ~ Com. and Ind. 37.5% 9,529.02 2010
R BE i BUHS #T BRA R HERI%
86. Shenrong Building Futian, Shenzhen Com. and Res. 40% 6,883.78 2000
RERE wRITiE A E BEREE
87. Huagang Xin Cun Futian, Shenzhen Res. 80% 2,198.73 1995
EBH AR A R F=
88. Yitai Centre Luohu, Shenzhen Com. 100% 627.48 1995
fRZEH D o ek 3] [GES
89. Qing Shui He Warehouse Zone Luohu, Shenzhen Ind., Res. and Off. 95.4% 40,841.68 1985-1989
B R ER AR 7 I¥ EERPAE
90. Shum Yip Garden Futian, Shenzhen Com. 100% 2,646.43 2002
REEE AR A & [EES
91. Sungang Warehouse Zone Baoan Bei Road, Luohu, Ind. and Com. 95.4% 102,658.00 1990-2002
Shenzhen
HERER AIMBEHRERILE BERTE
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Group IV - Property interest held by the Group for investment
FME-FAEESFREREZXER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
RBREER
ES i3k Jiik=s AR RS (F7XK) % A8
92. Compostie Building on Taoyuan Road Baoan Bei Road, Luohu, Com./Res. 95.4% 4,812.73 1991
Shenzhen
HRR A2 AImE SR ERILRE BE
93. Dormitory Building on Taoyuan Road Baoan Bei Road, Luohu, Com./Res. 95.4% 4,835.28 1988
Shenzhen
R ESE AImE SR ERILRE BE
94. Zijing Yuan Futian, Shenzhen Carpark 100% 7,257.00 1997
ESap Y| R FE5
95. Jinze Bldg. Tianhe District, Res. 80% 240.91 1997
Guangzhou
2ERE BT R & F=E
96. Guangzhou Fuxing Com. & Trading Bldg. Huangpu Da Road, Off 80% 150.55 1997
Tianhe District,
Guangzhou
EMEEBERE EMNTRIRBERARE HBAZE
97. S.Z. Int'l. Trust and Investment Corp. Junction of Zhenxin Off 75% 1,316.54 1990
Building Road and Shangbu
Zhong Road, Futian,
Shenzhen
RYEREERELRRARE AlmEARRERE  BAE
EHRBRR
98. Shenyang Wuai Shenyang, Liaoning Com. and Ind. 46.9% 32,674.80 1994-1996
BHELE BEABGT HERIE
99. Pengji Properties Shenzhen, Guangdong ~ Com., Res., Ind. 100% 258,116.18 1983-2001
and Carpark
ESES BRA R HEEE IER
FES
Sub-total /]>5F: 744,162.42
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Y S

Group V - Property interest held by the Group for self-occupation
FRE-FAEESRFERZXER

190

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
HREER
ES it 3k Jick AEE LR (£HXK) -3 =R
100. Shum Yip Centre Shennan Zhong Road, Off. 100% 1,880.50 1997
Luohu, Shenzhen
RER L RITERRRETRE BHAE
101.  Shum Yip Building Wenjin Zhong Road, Com. and Off. 100% 2,060.20 1991
Luohu, Shenzhen
RERE RYITENREXHFE HERBAE
102. Shenrong Building Futian, Shenzhen Com., Res. and 40% 3,846.54 2000
Carpark
RERE AYN TR A ¥ FEREES
103.  No.4 Tengfei Street Shenyang, Liaoning Res. and Carpark 80% 153.93 1992
B AR ATA5E HEAEGT FTEREES
104. Land in Shawan Shawan, Shenzhen Carpark 80% 1,480.00 2002
DL R E R ()
105.  Elaine Court Nos.211-215 Tong Choi  Res. 40% 43.01 1986
Street, Hong Kong
REH BERENERBIEMMNE EX
215%
106. Forum Court No0.9-9B Peace Ave., Res. 40% 49.24 1979
Homantin, Hong Kong
=ERE EBNEMXAATE {E
9-9B4
107. Tian Yuan Xin Cun Futian, Shenzhen Res. 100% 103.23 1997
78 3T A AYN TR A F=x
108.  Sungang Warehouse Futian, Shenzhen Off. and Res. 95.4% 10,502.41 1988-1991
MR E AYN TR A WRAEREE
109. Che Gong Miao Ind. Zone Futian, Shenzhen Com. and Res. 75% 4,270.08 1994-2005
HABIXRE wYITiEE R HEREE
110. Block 1, Liantang Aidewei Industrial Luohu, Shenzhen Ind. 100% 337.08 1990’s
Area
ERERRIEREIR RN A I
111. Block 709, Liantang Industrial Area Luohu, Shenzhen Ind. 80% 4,941.49 1994
BEIXRE7091R RN A I%
112. Lian Nan Garden Luohu, Shenzhen Res. 80% 744.28 1993
ERitE I = F=x

FIERERAE 2010FFR



Property List
Y S

Group V - Property interest held by the Group for self-occupation
FRE-FAEESRFERZXER

Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
AREER
L/ES i3t ik BN LRy £ (F73K) ERAH
113.  Business Space-Time Centre Futian, Shenzhen Off. 100% 296.00 2006
ELsLES AT EE FUNES
114.  Shenyang Dongfang Weinisi Shenyang, Liaoning Res. 46.9% 160.48 2005
& R B EBEELT E=E
115.  Shenyang Wuai Logistic Building Shenyang, Liaoning Off. 46.9% 1,831.20 1994-1996
EERERER EELEGT VNS
116.  Building on Xinghe Road Huizhou, Guangdong Res. 40% 1,358.24 2002
BMKKETRET BEREZMNT EEE
117. Buildings and Land in Taihe County Jian, Jiangxi, Ind. 40.8% 13,574.32 1978-2004
FMFLwRERE TIRETLM I%
118.  Pengji Properties Shenzhen, Guangzhou,  Com., Off. Res. and 100% 24,177.10 1983-1998
Zhuhai and Nanjing Ind.
BENZE AT BT HE - WMAE EE
WemRkERT RI%
Sub-total /}\gt: 71,809.33
Group VI - Property interest held by the Group under agreement
EARE-FREZGESEZUE
Interest to TGFA Completion
Property Address Use the Group (sq.m.) Date
REEER
M i3k A& A& @i ER (F7K) ER A
119. Jintian Garden Nanshan, Shenzhen Res. 80% 90.12 1991
S HEE AYI T L F=E
120.  Lian Tang Ind. Zone Da Gu Ling, Lian Tang,  Res. 100% 2,767.00 1994
Luohu, Shenzhen
EETXRE AT EREERE EEE
8%
121.  Dong Bin Res. Area Nanyou Oil Res. 45% 106.73 1992
Development Region,
Nanshan, Shenzhen
REEZRE AR T R L e F=E
FER
Sub-total /)&t 2,963.85

Grand-total 425

14,155,550.58
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
BREBFERSES

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of
Shenzhen Investment Limited (“the Company”) will be held at Garden
Room, 2nd Floor, Hotel Nikko Hong Kong, 72 Mody Road, Tsimshatsui
East, Kowloon, Hong Kong on Friday, 10 June 2011 at 10:30 a.m. for the
following purposes:-

1. To receive and consider the audited financial statements, the report
of the directors and the independent auditors’ report for the year
ended 31 December 2010.

2. To declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2010.

3. To re-elect directors and to authorise the board of directors to fix the
directors’ fees.

4. To re-appoint auditors and to authorise the board of directors to fix
their remuneration.

As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or
without modifications the following resolutions:—

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
5. “THAT:

(a) subject to paragraph (b) of this resolution, the exercise by
the directors of the Company during the Relevant Period (as
hereinafter defined) of all powers of the Company to repurchase
shares in the capital of the Company on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) or on any other
stock exchange on which the securities of the Company may
be listed and is recognised by the Securities and Futures
Commission and the Stock Exchange for this purpose, subject
to and in accordance with all applicable laws and/or the
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange or of any other stock exchange as
amended from time to time, be and is hereby generally and
unconditionally approved;

(b) the aggregate nominal amount of shares to be repurchased
by the Company pursuant to the approval of paragraph (a) of
this resolution shall not exceed 10 per cent. of the aggregate
nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue
as at the date of the passing of this resolution and the authority
pursuant to paragraph (a) of this resolution shall be limited
accordingly; and

FIERERAE 2010FFR
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BREFRZESE

6.

()

for the purposes of this resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this
resolution until whichever is the earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual
general meeting of the Company is required by law to be

held; and

(iii

the passing of an ordinary resolution by shareholders of
the Company in general meeting revoking or varying the
authority given to the directors of the Company by this
resolution.”

“THAT:

(a)

subject to paragraph (c) of this resolution and pursuant to
Section 57B of the Companies Ordinance, the exercise by
the directors of the Company during the Relevant Period (as
hereinafter defined) of all powers of the Company to allot, issue
and deal with additional shares in the capital of the Company
and to make and grant offers, agreements and options (including
warrants, bonds, debentures, notes and other securities which
carry rights to subscribe for or are convertible into shares of the
Company) which would or might require shares to be allotted
be and is hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

the approval in paragraph (a) of this resolution shall authorise
the directors of the Company during the Relevant Period to
make and grant offers, agreements and options (including
warrants, bonds, debentures, notes and other securities which
carry rights to subscribe for or are convertible into shares of the
Company) which would or might require shares to be allotted

after the end of the Relevant Period;

()

MARERM S

[BERME] DEARBRERBZRHLEET
FIEM RS 2 B Iz 8

(i) ARATEBRRBFERNSERE:

(i) EOIREARRARRBIT TEERBEFAK

SHREMZ B &

(i) RARBRRAEBRRAES LBBEBRA
EHHEREERNRERETARAES
ZKEN -]

6. [B)&&:

(a)

EARRBROBRZART RARE R ARG H
57BifF —MRREMSERHILERRATES=S
REBBE (B TXHAAE) RITEAR R
B AREHE BOTREEARRBRARZ
BINAD - WA IR T RFBELE B 2 B
- e R (BREMARNRERTE
BAARARD 2 REER B GEEE
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()

the aggregate nominal amount of share capital allotted or
agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted (whether
pursuant to an option or otherwise) by the directors of the
Company pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a) of this
resolution, otherwise than pursuant to (i) a Rights Issue (as
hereinafter defined); or (ii) the exercise of rights of subscription
or conversion under the terms of any existing warrants, bonds,
debentures, notes or other securities issued by the Company
which carry rights to subscribe for or are convertible into shares
of the Company; or (iii) the exercise of options granted under
any option scheme or similar arrangement for the time being
adopted for the grant or issue of shares or rights to acquire
shares in the Company; or (iv) any scrip dividend or similar
arrangement providing for the allotment of shares in lieu of
the whole or part of a dividend on shares of the Company in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company,
shall not exceed 20 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount
of the share capital of the Company in issue as at the date of the
passing of this resolution and the said approval shall be limited
accordingly; and

for the purposes of this resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this
resolution until whichever is the earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual
general meeting of the Company is required by law to be

held; and

(iii

the passing of an ordinary resolution by shareholders of
the Company in general meeting revoking or varying the
authority given to the directors of the Company by this
resolution; and

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares or issue of options,
warrants or other securities giving the right to subscribe for
shares of the Company open for a period fixed by the directors
of the Company to holders of shares whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company (and, where
appropriate, to holders of other securities of the Company
entitled to the offer) on a fixed record date in proportion
to their then holdings of such shares of the Company (or,
where appropriate such other securities) (subject in all cases
to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors of
the Company may deem necessary or expedient in relation
to fractional entitlements or having regard to any restrictions
or obligations under the laws of, or the requirements of any
recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in, any
territory applicable to the Company).”
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“THAT subject to the passing of resolution nos. 5 and 6 set out in the
notice convening this meeting, the general mandate granted to the
directors of the Company to exercise the powers of the Company to
allot, issue and deal with additional shares in the Company pursuant
to resolution no. 6 set out in the notice convening this meeting
be and is hereby extended by the addition thereto of an amount
representing the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital
of the Company repurchased by the Company under the authority
granted pursuant to resolution no. 5 set out in the notice convening
this meeting, provided that such extended amount shall not exceed
10 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of
the Company in issue as at the date of the passing of this resolution.”

[BRGERARNEGBEMTH 2 E RFFRAR
ERBER BAARAREZEREAFRARE R
ERAEC BORBRTEART ZRENBLH - 3
ﬂ&ﬁﬁ$ T%W%WZ-&W%’%R§K
REARBEAFRARNGBEMBZESHRARK T
ZENBO 2 AR Thﬁ@%#ﬁﬂk%ﬁ—h
D HEZBAZEEISEBRARARER
BEAARARBAEERBEZAD Z T ]

By order of the Board
Shenzhen Investment Limited
GUO Limin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 April 2011

Registered Office:

8th Floor, New East Ocean Centre,

9 Science Museum Road,
Tsimshatsui,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong.
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Notes:

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is
entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on a poll, vote instead

of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

To be valid, a form of proxy, together with the power of attorney or other
authority, if any, under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy of that
power or authority must be deposited at the registered office of the Company
at 8th Floor, New East Ocean Centre, 9 Science Museum Road, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the
meeting or any adjournment thereof.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 3 June
2011 to Friday, 10 June 2011, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed final
dividend and to determine the identity of the shareholders who are entitled to
attend and vote at the meeting, all duly completed transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Registrars, Tricor Standard Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 2
June 2011.

Pursuant to rule 13.39(4) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), any vote of the shareholders at the
meeting shall be taken by poll and the Company will announce the results of
the poll in the manner prescribed under Rule 13.39(5) of the Listing Rules.

With regard to items 3 and 5 to 7 of this notice, a circular giving details of the
general mandates to repurchase shares and to issue shares of the Company and
details of directors seeking re-election will be despatched to the shareholders
together with the Annual Report 2010 of the Company on 21 April 2011.

This notice is also available for viewing on the website of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited at www.hkexnews.hk and the website of the
Company at www.shenzheninvestment.com from 21 April 2011.

As at the date of this notice, the Board comprises 9 directors, of which Mr.
GUOQO Limin, Mr. XU Ruxin, Mr. MOU Yong and Mr. LIU Chong are executive
directors of the Company, Dr. WU Jiesi and Mr. LIU Biao are non-executive
directors of the Company and Mr. WONG Po Yan, Mr. LI Wai Keung and Mr.
WU Wai Chung, Michael are independent non-executive directors of the
Company.
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